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10
MY FATHER

Whose life has been devoted to the upbuilding
of Lewls County.



“The annals, and records, and life, of quiet neigh-
borhoods are historically important by their vital con-
nection with the progress and science of the nation and
of the world.”

—JAMES MORTON CALLAHAN.



PREFACE.

The purpose of this volume is to trace the economic,
social and political life of the people of Lewis County
from the time the first settlers came to the Hacker’s
creek valley to the present. Believing that the group is
more important than any of its component parts, it has
been my aim to deal with the development of institu-
tions rather than with family history, ta present as
fully as possible a record of the whole county rather than
tales of illustrious pioneers and their descendants. In
order to accomplish this purpose I have selected from
a great mass of material those incidents which I thought
would best depict the life of the county, and I have tried
to arrange them in order so as to show cause and effect,
advance and retardation, of development. -

It is hoped that this volume will fill a long felt want.
It is a rather remarkable fact, in view of the importance
of Lewis County and its influence on the life of Virginia
and West Virginia, that a history of the county has
never been published in permanent form. There have
been published at various times important works relating
to certain periods, and to certain matters affecting the
history of the county. The first of these was “Chron-
icles of Border Warfare,” by Alexander Scott Withers,
which treats of the history of the frontier to the Treaty
of Greenville, 1795. The same period has been treated
lately by Lucullus Virgil McWhorter, in his volume en-
titled “Border Settlers of Northwestern Virginia.” Both
works are extremely valuable for a study of the early
history of the county. About 1884, Hardesty’s “Political
and Geographical Survey of Lewis County” was pub-
lished, which contains a historical sketch of the county
very hastily and carelessly written.

Many writers have contributed sketches and recol-



lections to the county papers at different times. Under
the pseudonym of “Ancient”, John Strange Hall wrote
a series of articles for the Weston Independent depict-
ing customs, personages and institutions of the ’thirties.
George F. Oliver contributed to the Weston Democrat
a series of articles in which the author makes a compre-
hensive survey of conditions in Weston and Lewis Coun-
ty as they were in 1844. In 1917, John R. King wrote
a series of articles for the Weston Independent which
throw considerable light on the manners and customs of
western Virginia in the period just before the Civil war.
Within the past few years, Roy B. Cook, a native of
the county, has made valuable contributions to the same
paper in an extended “Pioneer History of Lewis County,”
and a collection of documents, annotated, on “Lewis
County in the Civil War.”

I first began a systematic collection of materials on
Lewis County history in 1915. Though the work has
been greatly interrupted at times, I never quite lost sight
of my original intention to write the story of develop-
ment of Lewis County.

Every effort has been made to guard against errors
in statement, but I am conscious that some errors may
have escaped detection. The necessity for depending
upon traditional accounts in the absence of records for
a part of the early period has made the task of sifting
evidence somewhat uncertain. In all possible cases I
have attempted to verify the traditional accounts by the
records.

I have drawn the materials for this volume from
many different sources—from old letters and account
books, from public documents, from old newspapers
and from personal interviews with participants in the
affairs of the county, as well as from books and pamph-
lets of earlier investigators.

It would be impossible to mention here the names
of all those who have assisted in various ways in the
preparation of this work. Cordial thanks are due to the
publishers of the Weston Independent and of the Wes-



ton Democrat for free access to their files; to Mr. Roy
R. Hale for lending his file of the Lewis County Record;
to officials of Lewis, Harrison and Monongalia counties
for valuable assistance in my search for records; to Miss
Mary Strange Hall for a scrap-book containing the
writings of her father; to Mr. Stark A. White for an ar-
ticle on the Baptists of Lewis County; and to all those
who have accorded me personal interviews. Mr. E. G.
Davisson has ‘made valuable ‘suggestions concerning'
the. subject matter and has given such valuable ma-
terial. Miss Edna Arnold has criticised portions of the
manuscript.

EDWARD C. SMITH.
Weston, West Virginia,
January 1, 1920.
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CHAPTER I.

THE PHYSICAL BASIS FOR DEVELOPMENT

Lewis county is a homogeneous geographical divis-
ion lying in central West Virginia. Save for a narrow
strip along its western border which is naturally so like
the remainder in soil, climate and natural productions
that it may almost be said to be a part of it, and for a
small district in the extreme south, the county occupies
the upper valley of the West Fork river. On the east is
Upshur County, including the more elevated valley of
the Buckhannon river, on the south and west are Web-
ster, Braxton and Gilmer counties with the more rugged
hills and the narrower valleys of the head streams of
the Little Kanawha; and on the north is Harrison Coun-
ty alone geographically united with Lewis County but
politically distinct because the whole region is too large
to form one county. The area of Lewis County is 391
square miles.

With the exception of a negligible strip on the east
the county includes the whole upper valley of the West
Fork river and its tributaries. The main stream is
formed by the junction of two forks of the river at Walk-
ersville. From there the course of the river is generally
north, and that of the tributaries generally ncrtheast or
northwest according to whether they empty from the
west or east. The river is not navigable except for float-
ing logs, although declared a navigable waterway by
Secretary of the Treasury Gallatin as early as 1805.
The principal left hand tributaries in Lewis County are
Hacker’s creek, Stone Coal creek, Skin creek, Sand fork
and the Left fork. The principal right hand tributaries
are Kincheloe creek, Freeman’s creek, Polk Creek, Rush
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run and Right fork. Among the principal streams lead-
ing into the Little Kanawha or its tributaries are Fink
creek, Leading creek, Sand fork, Indian fork and Clover
fork and both forks of the Little Kanawha river. As a
rule the smaller streams have a rather rapid fall. In
nearly all cases they have V-shaped valleys with flood
plains of varying width depending more upon the char-
acter of the geological formation than upon the size of
the stream.

In general the surface is rough and broken. Steep
slopes and low mountains, winding ridges and bold spurs,
low-gaps and winding valleys abound throughout the
county. Below Weston the river valley broadens con-
siderably and the terrace formation becomes one of the
conspicuous features of the topography of the country.
The elevation of the bottom lands is about 1,000 to 1,100
feet above sea-level, and that of the hill-tops is from four
hundred to six hundred feet higher. The lowest point in
the county is on Leading creek just above Linn, where
the elevation is about 775 feet and the highest point is
near Cleveland where one of the hills reaches 2,000 feet.

The climate is mild and healthful. The winters are
rather long but not so cold as in the higher altitudes to-
ward the east and south. Extremes of very hot and very
cold weather, though not uncommon, rarely continue for
a long period. The average active growing season for
crops is five and one-half months between the last killing
frost in the spring and the first in the fall. The precipi-
tation is 46.85 inches, well distributed throughout the
year, but heaviest in spring and summer when most
needed for growing crops.

The soils of the county have been, for the most part,
developed from the decomposition of shale and the thin
beds of sandstone in the upper coal measures., Clay and
clay loam are the principal kinds of soils found. As a
general rule they are fertile or respond readily to treat-
ment. On account of the character of the bed rocks and
the sluggishness of the West Fork river the contour of
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the county is smoother than that of surrounding regions
and the soil is more favorable for stock raising. For that
reason, Lewis County is regarded as one of the three or
four leading grazing counties of West Virginia.
Millions of years ago Central West Virginia was the

bed of a great sea which scientists have called the Appa-
lachian sea. The bed of the sea was some ten thousand
feet below the present level of the valley at Weston.
Streams flowing into this sea from a range of mountains
which lay on the east toward the present Atlantic coast
brought sediment into it and gradually filled it with sand
and clay. Tiny animals like the corals lived on the bot-
tom of the sea and their shells became built up layer by
layer, until the deposit was several feet in thickness; then
another layer of sand and silt was deposited in the sea
covering the shells, which were cemented together by
pressure. The sea became filled up until it was a swamp.
Then giant ferns and other plants, growing a hundred
fold more luxuriantly than any of the terrestrial plants in
existence today filled the swamp with verdure. The
dead plants covered the surface, raising its level many
feet. A sudden subsidence of the soil—one of the inex-
plicable cataclysms of nature—made the layer of vege-
tation the bottom of the sea, and other layers of silt were
deposited upon it, until the sea was filled and again be-
came a swamp. Again the giant ferns of the carbonifer-
ous age grew, and flourished, and decayed. Then at long
intervals there were alternate subsidences and fillings,
alternate deposits of silt from the rivers and decaying
vegetable matter from the carboniferous forests. As
layer followed layer the heat of the earth and the press-
ure of the deposits below changed the silt into solid rock,
and the vegetable deposits into coal, or oil, or gas accord-
ing to the amount of heat present in the earth. Then
came a mighty upheaval of the earth and the whole sur-
face underwent a violent change. The bottom of the
sea became a great mountain range. In the small sec-
tion whieh is now Lewis County was a plateau several
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hundred feet above our valleys. The water which fell
upon the surface was carried off. Rivers were formed
which bore silt with them into other seas. After thou-
sands of years the rivers accomplished the tasks set by
nature for them. The surface was reduced almost to the
level of the sea, and made almost as smooth as the top
of a table. The streams coursed their sluggish way to
the ocean by many a meander. Not much silt was car-
ried because the rapidity of the flow was insufficient to
hold it in suspension. There came finally another up-
heaval. Again the water courses had to descend a great
distance in order to reach the sea, and again they be-
came swift enough to carry silt in great quantities. They
have now cut down several hundred feet below their
original level, and the process is still going on and will
continue many centuries before it is again completed.
The streams, in cutting down to the new levels hold to
some of their old meanders, and the valleys have serpen-
tine curves much as we may imagine the streams were
curved in long past ages.

The principal mineral wealth of the county is the re-
sult of the growths of the carboniferous ages. The coal
is found in layers or strata in practically all sections of
the county. The strata do not run perfectly level but
rise and fall, and are bent downward into synclines and
upward into anticlines. The erosive action of the
streams has exposed many of the veins so that it is pos-
sible to mine coal on the surface. Others lie at varying
depths below the floors of the valleys. The beds of veg-
etable matter which have been changed into liquid and
gaseous forms through having been subjected to extreme
heat and pressure are found near anticlines as oil and
natural gas. These deposits have been stored in porous
rocks, or “sands”, far beneath the surface. It is reasona-
ble to suppose that deposits existed nearer the surface,
which have been gradually exposed by erosion and have
escaped. Gas is found at a depth of about 2,000 feet,
near Weston, and oil has been discovered in the extreme
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western part of the county at a somewhat lower depth.
Some of the rocks of the county contain iron, but not in
a form suitable for working. Limestone is also found in
some sections in discontinuous bheds or veins. There are
traditions in nearly every part of the county that lead
once existed in the vicinity. As evidence it is said that
old pioneers used to go away from their homes, and
after following a path unknown to other residents of the
community and impossible to trail successfully, they re-
turned with lead to replenish their stores. All trace of
these mines died with their pioneer discoverers. There
are stories of how some of the aged men have given di-
rections for finding the mines to their sons, but they have
been unable to discover any trace of the lead. The lead
mine traditions may be set down as a myth. No geolog-
ical formation can account for the presence of lead in this
section. The traditions are probably pure invention or
they rest upon the fact that some of the early settlers in
their trips to Winchester returned with lead which they
did not care to divide with their neighbors.

Long before the advent of settlers into this region
the surface was covered with ‘dense forests. In all but
the wilder portions of the county the trees were decid-
uous, but beginning at Duffy and extending through the
“shoestring” section conifers are found, with under-
growth consisting of dense thickets of laurel and holly.
This type of forest growth is found also in some of the
rougher land of the county—land which is stony and oth-
erwise unfit for clearing. White oak and tulip poplar
are the species of trees of greatest commercial import-
ance. Other trees of more or less value are oaks, maples,
beeches, hickory, chestnuts, walnut, elm and ash. The
shell bark hickory, the chestnut, the black and the white
walnut and the beech were valuable sources of food,
which could easily be stored. Acorns were also valuable
in fattening hogs. Practically all the valuable timber
which once covered the slopes of the hills and valleys of
Lewis County has been either felled by the lumberman
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or deadened and then burned to make way for agricul-
tural operations.

The first settlements were made in clearings in this
primeval wilderness. All the disadvantages of clearing
land from which the larger growth had not been removed
were felt by the pioneers. Wild animals which threaten-
ed the lives of the settlers’ families or their livestock
roamed through the forests. The fierce panther prowled
in the thickets ready to spring without notice upon the
luckless settler who passed in his way. Another of the
denizens of the forest which impeded the march of civ-
ilization is commemorated in the name given to Wild
Cat run. The wildcats had no hesitancy in attacking the
livestock of the settlers or even man himself when they
were defending their young. Wolf Fork commemorates
another undesirable inhabitant. The gaunt gray wolves
haunted the hills and valleys in packs, and woe to the
pioneer who became lost after nightfall, or to the pion-
eer’s live-stock which strayed too far from the humble
cabin from which the owner guarded his property with
jealous care. Underfoot glided noiselessly the deadly
rattlesnake which gave notice of his presence only at
the last minute and the still more deadly copperhead
which struck without any notice at all. Both reptiles
were man’s implacable enemies; and the settler made
unrelenting war upon them. Most of Lewis County
youths of the twentieth century have never seen a live
rattlesnake because of the utter extinction of the spe-
cies. The copperhead still persists in all parts of the
county and is a source of danger on every rocky bit ot
farm land. Into the vast expanse of primeval forest
which covered the slopes of all the hills in western Vir-
ginia the hardy pioneers made their first settlements, af-
ter the last of the wars with the French.

The wilderness was not inhospitable. The Indians
were able to live and thrive without any of the comforts
of civilization, and the rugged race of Virginia back-
woodsmen had been steeled to endure hardships in their
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ceaseless battle with the forest. They had quickly
learned the ways of the savages in conquering the wil-
derness dangers. Some indeed became the superiors ot
the Indians in woodcraft. The forests of Lewis County
were capable of supporting a considerable population.
On every hand there are abundant evidences of the num-
ber of wild animals from which could be derived an
abundant supply of meat. The Indians every fall came
all the way from central Ohio to hunt. The supply was
so great that the white men, who killed without thought
for the future, did not exhaust the supply for nearly 2
century. The names which the early settlers gave to the
natural features of the county show how great the supply
was and how much importance it was in the lives of the
pioneers. Buffalo lick, Buffalo stamping ground, Bull
run, Calf run and perhaps others prove the presence in
the county of small droves of buffalo or individuals met
with by the hunters in their first incursions into the un-
known wilds. Traditional accounts state that buffaloes
destroyed the first corn crops planted on Hacker’s creek.
Bear run commemorates probably a hunt in which one
or more of the tribe of Bruin went down before the rifle
of some early hunter. Two streams by the name of Elk
lick prove the existence of that noblest of all big game
animals of the North American continent. Local place
names telling of the presence of deer, an animal which
furnished the most important part of the subsistence
of every pioneer family, are legion. Deer run, Deer
camp, Doe lick and Buck run are some of the larger
streams. Every locality has its “lick”, a spring where
the deer went to drink. Skin creek was named from an
enormous number of deer skins which were obtained by
four huaters in a single day; and Carrion run is said to
have derived its name from the stench arising from the
carcasses of deer killed in a great hunt, which had been
skinned and left where they fell. Goosepen run, Turkey-
pen run, Turkey Scratch run and Pigeon Roost run com-
memorate the presence of wild geese, wild turkeys, and
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wild pigeons, the last named of which formerly existed
in the county in such enormous flocks that the sky was
darkened for hours. Raccoon run and 'Possum hollow
were named for two humbler beasts of the chase which
have not yet become extinct. Beaver and otter, though
never numerous, furnished employment for the earliest
trappers.’

All the larger streams abound in fish of superior size
and flavor—pike, bass, catfish and many smaller and less
important varieties which were caught easily by gigging.
Turtles were then plentiful, and the pioneer learned from
the Indians the trick of digging them out of their winter
retreats in the swamps. Frogs were also plentiful, and
were much sought after. Mussels would have proved an
important source of food, but the settler evidently did
not relish them.

From early summer until late in the fall there were
always luscious wild fruits to tempt the settler. Wild
strawberries, glistening white in the dew, grew on the
hill tops early in June. Before they were gone the red
service-berries ripened on bushes standing everywhere
through the woods, the sticky-sweet mulberries beckon-
ed from a thousand trees, and wild raspberries grew
wherever a little rotting wood gave the ground extra fer-
tility. Next came blackberries and huckleberries and
elderberries and wild gooseberries and wild cherries. All
varieties of wild grapes ripened in the autumn; and in
the thickets about the bases of the hills pawpaws grew in
abundance. Persimmons ripened after the first frost and
hung on the trees until midwinter.

Chestnuts, hickory nuts, black walnuts, butternuts
and hazelnuts ripened in the fall and furnished a never-
failing food which could be stored and used through the
winter. Acorns furnished abundant food for the fatten-
ing of hogs.

The pioneer’s medicine chest could be filled from the
products of the woods. Ginseng, yellowroot and snake-
root were specifics for a great variety of diseases. Skull-
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cap and bone-set, when gathered and steeped properly,
proved efficacious in preventing or checking colds. The
fat of the skunk was considered a cure for rheumatism
when it was rendered under the proper conditions and
phases of the moon. The smoking of “field balsam” and
jimson weed was said to relieve asthma. Peppermint,
wintergreen, pennyroyal and pinnikinnick leaves, sassa-
fras roots and the branches of the spicewood bush were
used in steeping teas.



CHAPTER II.
BEFORE THE WHITE MEN CAME

Unlike most other portions of the American conti-
nent Lewis County and West Virginia were not occu-
pied by the Indians at the time the first explorers tra-
versed the region. The whole expanse east of the Ohio
river, rich as it was in game, held not a single permanent
human habitation. There were Indians to be found in
West Virginia during the summer and autumn months
when they came from their camps and villages in the
Scioto valley and elsewhere for the purpose of hunting,
but at the approach of winter they always returned to
their permanent homes.

Indications in many parts of the county point to a
large aboriginal population of more or less permanence.
Village sites, artificial mounds, burial places and other
evidences of habitation are the reward of the antiquarian
in almost any part of the county where he undertakes
his investigations. On the present site of Cleveland just
across the right fork of the Little Kanawha river in Web-
ster County there were ten or twelve earth mounds, five
feet in height and about twenty feet in diameter. They
were thought to have been of Indian origin, but what
part the mounds played in the social, industrial or relig-
ious life of the Indian is unknown. Excavation has failed
to reveal any trace of their use as burial mounds. Just
across the river from Jacksonville, in Collins Settlement
district, there is an old field which, tradition says, is the
site of an Indian village. There are to be found even
now many arrow heads and broken pieces of flint which
have been only partly worked into proper shape, indi-
cating that a maker of arrow heads lived there in the days
before the white men came: Near Round Knob school
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house on Big Skin creek there is a similar village or
camping site. The remains of an important village were
found at Arnold, and nearby another mound. Near the
mouth of Canoe run there was also a mound.

It is on Hacker’s creek, however, that the most im-
portant archaeological discoveries have been made.
Seven Indian village sites have been found in the main
valley of the stream, besides one on McKinney’s run and
another on Jesse’s run. Temporary camping sites and
scattered Indian graves have been unearthed all through
the valley. On practically every elevated knoll or con-
siderable tract of high bottom land the first explorers
found a space which had been cleared for a village and
nearby a burial ground where the dead had been laid to
rest, from immemorial centuries. The locations which
have been identified are Minor Hall’s residence within
the corporate limits of the town of Jane Lew, a second
bottom at the mouth of Jesse’s run, two locations within
a short distance of each other on the farm of the late
John Alkire, the original John Hacker settlement about
one mile below Berlin, the old Cozad farm in the same
vicinity, and two sites in Upshur County, one at the
mouth of Rover’s run and the other several miles further
up the stream.

At the last named location there was a trace of
Indian habitation of great interest to the antiquarian,
When cleared in 1821 the site was covered with a growth
of young sugar trees about twelve inches in diameter
indicating that the place had in very recent times been
occupied by Indians. The remains of a great ash-circle
one hundred eighty feet in diameter are to be seen at the
present time. It consists of a clear space sixty feet
across surrounded by a heavy deposit of ashes in a belt
sixty feet wide. The inside circle is thickly strewn with
fragments of bone, mussel shells, pieces of broken pot-
tery, flint more or less broken, and stone implements and
ornaments. When first cleared the field is said to have
been literally covered with fragments of shell and bones,

.
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evidently the votive offerings of a tribe which had either
been exterminated or driven away.

In a mound close by the ash circle were found a flint
spear head, a broken arrow point, a small piece of stea-
tite paint-stone and a single bit of charcoal. A finely
carved stone pipe made from brown sandstone has been
picked up nearby. A perforated steatite “banner stone”
in almost perfect condition was plowed up near the same
place many years ago. An effigy-like figure of Indian
origin was found on the crest of a hill adjacent to Bear
knob. Three stone heaps each about three feet high by
eight feet in diameter and surrounded by a curbing are
located near the Lewis-Upshur line. One of them was
removed some years ago revealing a small bed of ashes
about one foot below the original surface. Nothing else
was there save a small flint spear head, which showed
traces of having heen subjected to heat. It is claimed
that a fragment of an engraved sandstone tablet was
picked up near the site of Berlin, together with a fine
“chungky” stone, and a small copper pendant. Grooved
stone relics were seldom found, though mysteriously
pitted cup-stones have been picked up in every glen in
the valley. A grave opened in 1890 near one of the vil-
lage sites below Berlin contained a fine stone bird-head
pipe and a polished slate gorget; in another, was a well-
made celt, slightly damaged at the poll; and in still an-
other, a clay pipe and a broken clay vessel containing
part of the shell of a turtle. Not all the relics found in
graves, in mounds or scattered singly throughout the
valley were of aboriginal make. Besides the copper ves-
sel mentioned above there was found in one of the
graves below Berlin a small fragment of bright blue
home-spun woolen cloth. Iron and steel tomahawks and
a clay pipe stem of undoubtedly European manufacture
have been discovered in other Indian remains in various
parts of the valley. These trinkets must have been taken
as booty in wars with the English settlers of Virginia
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.or else have been secured in trade either from the Eng
lish settlers in Virginia or from the French in Canada
‘who reached the region of Lake Huron as early as 1615.
Probably they were obtained from the latter source.
It is hardly supposed that the mounds, burial places, etc.,
were built by the later tribes who were merely hunters
in the valley and who therefore would hardly undertake
-any considerable works. They must have been con-
structed within comparatively recent dates by a tribe
who made their permanent homes in West Virginia. It
may have been shortly after the first permanent English
.and French settlements in America, or it may have been
at a considerably later time.

The Iroquois, or Five Nations, of New York (who
became the Six Nations by the accession of the Tusca-
roras of North Carolina in 1713) began a series of wars
against the surrounding Indians about 1650, and within
a century they conquered the mighty tribe of Hurons
living to the west of them and had overrun all the terri-
tory as far west as the Illinois and Mississippi rivers
and as far south as Alabama and Mississippi. West Vir-
ginia was included in the early conquests of the New
York tribe. There were traditions among the Indians of
long and bloody wars fought between different tribes.
Several battles were fought among the West Virginia
hills during which the streams are said to have run as
with blood. It is possible that the Iroquois found a .
strong tribe occupying West Virginia whom they had
to exterminate because they could not drive them out.
The ash circle found on Hacker’s creek is said to be very
uncommon among the American Indians, and it may be
that it was built by a tribe different in civilization from
most of the othex tribes found east of the Mississippi.
All attempts to solve the riddle have been futile. The
-permanent aboriginal inhabitants of West Virginia will
probably remain undetermined.

Very different is the case of the Indians who made
their hunting trips to West Virginia in historic times.
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According to Indian tradition the Iroquois in 1713, leased
to the Shawnees and the Delawares the rights to hunt
and fish in the district now embraced in West Virginia.
These two tribes had left their settlements along the
upper courses of the Delaware and Susquehanna rivers
in Pennsylvania upon the approach of the whites and
had taken up their residence in Ohio with their principal
seat at Old Chillicothe. From there it was a journey of’
only a few days to the magnificent hunting grounds of
West Virginia. The Shawnees often came in considera-
ble bodies bringing their women and children with them
and remaining from early fall until the near approach
oi winter compelled them to return to their villages.
While the tribe was on one of these annual hunts it is
claimed that Tecumseh, the greatest Indian military ge-
nius who lived within historic times, was born on Hack-
er’'s creek. The date of his birth is supposed to have
been 1768, one year before the first exploration of the
valley by the whites. The place is unknown, but it is
said that the chieftain declared it to be one of the village
sites of the valley, either about one mile below the pres-
ent site of Berlin or at the mouth of Jesse’s run. Both
these sites were occupied as camping grounds by the In--
dians within a few years before the first settlement by
the whites, as is attested by the finding of brass but-
tons and other perishable objects of European manufac-
ture among the rubbish heaps left by the earlier occu--
pants.

The Indians came to the Hacker’s creek hunting
ground and to others farther east by way of trails leading
up the Little Kanawha river from its mouth, and thence-
across the divide to the waters of the West Fork. The
principal trail in Lewis County followed Leading creek
from its mouth to its source and then crossed over to
Polk creek, down that stream to its mouth, up Stone Coal
creek, thence across Buckhannon mountain and down
Saul’'s run to the Buckhannon. Many years after the
coming of the whites the Staunton and Parkersburg tum--
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pike followed this trail except where the course was
changed for political or industrial reasons. The Indians
also reached Lewis County by coming up Sand fork and
crossing to Rush run, and by crossing from the head of
Oil creek to Indian Carrying run whence it is only a
few hundred yards to the West Fork river. This is the
only spot where the Indians, within historic times, por-
taged from the watershed of the Little Kanawha to the
West Fork. The streams navigable for canoes are not
more than three or four miles apart and the’ watershed is
low. The old portage is now used by the Baltimore and
Ohio railroad. At the Indian Carrying place there prob-
ably stood an Indian house of poles and bark or other
light construction, mentioned in some of the older land
office records. An Indian canoe which probably was
brought over the carrying place was found moored to
some willows near the mouth of Canoe run by some of
the first white men to visit that section, and this circum-
stance gave the name to the stream. Settlers on Canoe
run and Carrion run have a tradition that these streams
were also used by the Indians in crossing from Sand fork
to the watershed of the West Fork, and the name of the
latter stream is declared by some to be a corruption of
“carrying run”. Freeman’s creek was a short cut used by
the Indians on their way to the Hacker’s creek settle-
ment. During the later years of the Indian wars it be-
came necessary to station a body of men at the mouth
of the creek to intercept them. Down Kincheloe creek
came Indians who had come up Hughes river and crossed
the divide. The Indians never came to the region by
canoes during historic times, on account of the dan-
ger that their retreat might be cut off by a small body of
men near the mouth of the Little Kanawha. During
their war with the whites they never followed the streams
in the vicinity of the settlements, but made their way
along the ridges and benches from which they could ob-
serve the country and be comparatively safe from am-
bush.
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The so-called “Seneca trail” by which the Indians
reached the settlements on the upper reaches of the Ty-
gart’s Valley, Shaver’s Fork, the upper course of the
Greenbrier and the South Branch of the Potomac, passed
through the southern part of the county. Sometimes the
Indians followed the Little Kanawha through the “Shoe-
string” and at other times they came down the Left fork
of the West Fork river, crossed to Abram’s run and
thence to Knawl’s creek, a tributary of the Little Ka-
nawha. The Buckhannon and Bulltown turnpike follow-
ed the course in later years.

Persistent traditions exist in several sections affirm-
ing the presence of white men in Lewis county before
the coming of the permanent settlers. Several trees in
the Lost creek valley were found by the first explorers
to bear the letters “T. G.” cut into their bark. The ex-
plorers believed that the man who carved the initials had
been lost; or rather by a method of reasoning, which an
tedated the teachings of present day philosophy by a cen-
tury and a half, they concluded it was not the man who
was lost but the region through which he wandered; and
the stream has borne the name of Lost creek ever since.
The letter “G” was found carved on a beech tree beside
a spring on what is now Gee Lick run. The identity of
the person who did the carving has remained a mystery,
and the spring and the stream has been called G (or
Gee) Lick from that time. It is quite possible that cap-
tives may have been brought here by the Indians while
on their hunting trips, but why they should have carved
their names on trees is another question. At any rate
no impetus to settlement or advancement in geographi-
cal knowledge has ever been made by the mysterious
“G” and “T. G.”

There are legends also of buried treasure in two dif-
ferent sections of the county. In a cave at or near the
head of Stone Coal creek a Buckhannon dentist found,
in 1867, a group of strange inscriptions which are sup-
posed to relate to a rich mine near Indian camp in Up-
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shur County near which buried treasure might be found.
The inscription had been revealed to him by one Calvin
Smith, a squirrel hunter, previous to setting out for the
west. The inscription reads: “Was fought for the rich
minds swartus cnancu 1555 riten snath done while the
batel.” The legend in explanation of the story is that
an Indian wearing arm bracelets of silver arrived at
Jamestown shortly after the first settlement. He offered
to pilot a party to the place where he found the silver
for his jewelry. A large group ranged about “Swartus
Cnancu” (who, by the way, is not mentioned in Virginia
history as being an immigrant) and they proceeded to
the wilds of what is now Upshur County. After digging
1555 pounds of treasure they were set upon by the sav-
ages, and a great battle was fought, during which the
white men blasted great stones to cover the opening, and
Snath escaped to write inscriptions to guide them to the
place in case of a return. It is said that much digging
after buried treasure has been done by citizens of the
vicinity, but needless to say, none of it has ever been
unearthed.

Near the head of Canoe rtin there is a stone bearing
a turkey’s claw which, when looked at in a certain way,
points to the spur jutting out from the low ridge oppo-
site the mouth of the run. A legend in the community
says that the marker indicates buried treasure. On the
slopes of the knob a great deal of digging has been done
in search of this treasure at various times.

NOTE—Most of the important archaeological discoveries on Hacker's
creek were made by L. V. McWhorter and are more fully described in
bis ‘“‘Border Settlers of Northwestern Virginia.” The McWhorter collec-
ton of relics occupies a notable place in the State Museum at Charleston.



CHAPTER III.
THE BEGINNING OF SETTLEMENTS

The western frontier of Virginia from its earliest set-
tlement by the whites was constantly changing, con-
stantly pressing forward. The Virginians moved west-
ward as immigration increased the need for new land.
The early Scotch-Irish settlers in Pennsylvania were dis-
appointed with the system of land tenure there, and they
moved southwestward into the valleys which lie between
the Blue Ridge and the Alleghanies and made new set-
tlements for themselves in the wilderness. One of these
settlements was in the Shenandoah; another and a more
important one for the history of central West Virginia
is on the South Branch of the Potomac. All along this
stream and its tributaries by 1750 there was a thriving
settlement composed of frontiersmen who, inured to
hardship and privation and scorning the perils of the wil-
derness, had laid the foundations for a new common-
wealth west of the mountains. The total population in
1754 was estimated at 10,000 whites and 400 blacks.

Soon the more daring residents of the South Branch
began to make new settlements west of the divide. By
1753 pioneers had reached the upper valley of the Ty-
gart’s Valley river; the next year the Echarlys built
their homes on the Cheat river; and by 1758, a party of
settlers had located on the present site of Morgantown.
The Indian forays following Braddock’s defeat in the
French and Indian war broke up all these settlements,
and even endangered the pioneers in the valley of the
South Branch. There were many bloody massacres in
that outpost of English civilization in America during
the years that followed.

The treaty of 1763 brought peace with the French
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and their Indian allies; but the peace was not followed
by the immediate reoccupation of the hills and valleys
west of the Alleghanies. His Majesty, King George III,
desiring to close the lands of the west to settlement until
the Indian title could be extinguished by purchase, is-
'sued a proclamation, 7 October 1763, which forbade any
of the colonial governments to grant the lands west of
the mountains to settlers. The daring frontiersmen, fear-
ing neither the displeasure of the distant king nor the
-dangers of the primeval forest, prepared to press farther
into the wilderness. Their western progress was de-
layed for a small space by the conspiracy of Pontiac, who
fell upon the exposed settlements of the Trans-Alleghany
section with fire and tomahawk. For two years the
frontier was ravaged by bands of Indians, until finally
they were subdued by an invasion of their own country.

It is one of the vagaries of fortune that the white
man’s civilization should have been brought to the bor-
ders of Lewis County by deserters from the troops fight-
ing against the Indians. Two of the soldiers who had
enlisted for service in the western wilderness against the
French and their savage allies were John and Samuel
Pringle, brothers. While stationed at Fort Pitt, in the
year 1761, they deserted the service, and with two com-
panions fled to the wilds of the lower Monongahela.
Subsequently they went to the upper glades of the
Youghiogheny where they remained until the next year,
when the party ventured to the nearest settlements at
Looney’s creek in search of supplies. Their companions
were recognized and arrested, but the Pringles managed
to escape. They soon entered the service of John Simp-
son, a trapper who frequented their former haunts in the
Youghiogheny glades. Hunting parties from the South
Branch were destroying much of the game, and also mak-
ing the two deserters uncomfortable from fear of cap-
ture, and the three men determined to go farther west,
where Simpson could obtain more furs, and where the
Pringles would be more secure from detection.
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It was not to be supposed that the Pringles, who had
refused to subject themselves to their military superiors,.
would long obey the orders of a trapper like Simpson.
After a violent quarrel in the wilderness they parted
company. Simpson continued west along the Indian
trail from the crossing of the Cheat to the West Fork
valley. He encamped one night near the present site of
Bridgeport, and gave his name to the creek which flowed
past his camping ground. Pressing on, he reached the
mouth of Elk creek, where he built his cabin on land now
included in the city of Clarksburg. He continued his res-
idence there until the coming of permanent settlers again
impelled him to go farther into the wilderness in his
search for fur-bearing animals.

The two Pringles, fearing the punishment of the Eng-
lish military law far more than the fury of the savages,
did not turn back toward the settlements, but continued

up the Tygart’s Valley and Buckhannon rivers to the
mouth of Turkey run, where they took up their abode in
a hollow sycamore tree. Probably fearing detection from
the Indians who had a village in the vicinity, they did not
build a cabin, but continued to live in the hollow syca-
more for three years. Late in the autumn of 1767 they
‘found that they had remaining but two charges of pow-
der. The younger brother braved the danger of capture,
and visited the settlements on the South Branch to ob-
tain a supply of ammunition. There he learned that the
war with the Indians had closed some years before, and
that the deserters would be safe in returning to the set-
tlements. He returned at once to his brother with the
news. They determined to abandon the old sycamore
and go to the South Branch.

The lure of their old home among the pleasant dales
of the Buckhannon was too great to be resisted. The
next year they led a party of prospective settlers to
their old camping ground, who were so well pleased with
the country that they resolved to build their homes
there. In the spring of 1769, a number of men came
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to the Buckhannon valley to make clearings, put out
their corn crops and build cabins for themselves, pre-
paratory to removing their families there. The names
of the permanent settlers, many of whom were later
intimately associated with the history of Lewis County,
were John Jackson and his sons, George and Edward,
John Hacker and Alexander and Thomas Sleeth.

With residents on or near the present sites of
Clarksburg and Buckhannon in 1764, it seems impossi-
ble that the exploration of the territory now embraced
in Lewis County could be long delayed. Simpson
seems to have confined his hunting trips to the vicinity
of his cabin, and the Pringles were either indifferent
woodsmen, or they feared discovery by the Indians,
for they seem never to have ventured far from their
hollow sycamore. It was almost five years before there
is a record of any white men in Lewis County. After
the coming of the permanent settlers to the Buckhan-
non river valley, in 1769, explorations of the surround-
ing regions quickly followed.

Within the party there was formed almost im-
mediately a rude sort of division of labor; the home-
seekers—men who had families—preferred to work on
their claims; others, for the most part wild youths, un-
trammeled with the responsibilities of life, preferred to
rove through the hills in search of game. Those who
had commenced their clearings were supplied with an
abundance of fresh meat through the efforts of the
hunters; and the latter secured their corn from the
small patches which had been put out by the more in-
dustrious settlers. The hunters probably never culti-
vated much corn even after they were married, leaving
the task for the most part to their wives.

While on one of their hunting trips the party, con-
sisting of William Hacker, Thomas Hughes, Jesse
Hughes, John Radcliff, William Radcliff and John
Brown, came upon the headwaters of a stream flowing
in a westerly direction to which they gave the name of
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Stone Coal creek. They believed it led directly into the
Ohio; but after following it several miles they discov-
ered that it emptied into a stream which seemed to flow
north. They followed it some three or four miles prob-
ably, in order to ascertain its true direction and named
it West Fork. They then returned to the settlements
by a different route (probably by way of Hacker’s
creek). They gave such glowing accounts of the land
they had seen that others came to see for themselves
and were so impressed with its superiority over the
land along the Buckhannon river that some of them
determined to make their homes in the more western
valley.

The first permanent settler in Lewis County was
John Hacker. He had made his claim near the pres-
ent site of Buckhannon, and during the absence of
Samuel Pringle in the South Branch settlements he
had cleared part of the land. Upon the return of
Pringle, Hacker learned that the land had previously
been claimed by him. Hacker willingly consented to
give up his claim in favor of the older claimant on con-
dition that Pringle should clear an equal amount of
land which Hacker had selected on the stream which
now bears his name. In one of the most beautiful sec-
tions of the valley, about one mile below the site of the
present village of Berlin, Pringle cleared some land
near an old Indian camping ground, and John Hacker
built his cabin there, probably in the fall of 1769 or
early in 1770. John Radecliff and William Radcliff fol-
lowed in 1770, and made settlements on the creek not
far from Hacker’s cabin.

The families of most of the settlers did not accom-
pany them at once. They waited until the winter of
1770-71, when they could have corn which had been
grown the summer before. When they came to the
Buckhannon valley in 1769 they planted their corn and
hoed it once or twice; then some of them returned to
the South Branch settlements to assist their families
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to move to the west. While they were gone, the buffa-
loes invaded their clearings and totally destroyed the
crops of several settlers. They were then compelled
either to do without corn meal for a year or to delay
moving their families to the new settlement for an-
other year.

The pioneers of western Virginia were not to be
deterred by obstacles. If there were no bread, then
their families would eat meat. The movement of set-
tlers was hardly checked at all by the lack of corn.
Jesse Hughes, who was afterwards to achieve fame in
the border annals second only to Lewis Wetzel, having
chosen a tract of land near the mouth of Jesse’s run,
(known as Jesse Hughes’ run in the earliest records)
on his first visit to Hacker’s creek in 1769, built his
cabin and settled there after his marriage to Miss Grace
Tanner, in 1770 or 1771. The records of the Monon-
galia County court show that a grant was made to him
in 1781 of “400 acres on Hacker’s creek, to include his
settlement made in 1770.”

The settlement on Hacker’s creek was well begun
by the close of 1771. The next year there was a rush
of settlers to the valley and the surrounding country.
John Whendy settled at the mouth of Whendy’s run,
a tributary of Hacker’s creek; Francis Tibbs and Daniel
Veach are known to have made settlements on the
creek, which must have been only temporary on account
of the absence of further records and also the fact of
their having assigned their claims to others. Robert
Lowther built his cabin at the mouth of Hacker’s creek,
and his son, William, who afterward became the most
prominent leader on the northwestern frontier, settled
near the home of Jesse Hughes for a year or more, and
then moved to the vicinity of Clarksburg. The danger
of Indian attacks did not force a grouping of the set-
tlers as was the case later, and we find that hardy pion-
eers had made settlements which were the basis of later
claims to land on the right fork of Freeman’s creek, on
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Gee Lick run, then called the left hand fork of Freeman's
creek; on Polk creek, “beginning at the road that comes
from Gee Lick,” and not far from the present Polk
Creek school house; and on Stone Coal creek before
the year 1774. These settlements were all abandoned
at the beginning of the later Indian wars, and even the
strong Hacker’'s creek settlement was temporarily
broken up during the year 1778.

It was not necessary for the immigrants who came
after 1771 to delay removing their families until they
could clear their land, build their cabins, put out a corn
crop and wait for it to mature. They loaded their pos-
sessions on pack horses and, with their wives and chil-
dren, walked from the South Branch to Hacker’s creek.
They depended upon the settlers who had previously
come to the country for sufficient supplies to tide them
over the spring and summer until their own crops were
harvested. So many were the new immigrants that the
settlers were unable sometimes to provide for them,
and there was at one time not more than one-third
enough corn for the needs of the population. The year
1773 is known in border tradition as “the starving year.”
The older settlers divided what must not have been a
large crop of corn with the newer comers, but the sup-
ply was totally inadequate for their needs. There must
have been great suffering if one of the newest of the
immigrants had not risen to the occasion and shown
the stuff he was made of. William Lowther, whose
ability was later to be rewarded with the title of colonel
and the command of the forces of northwestern Vir-
ginia, “roamed amidst danger and alarm, killing veni-
son, elks, Buffalo and Bear, and thus he supplied all
their wants.” According to a later chronicler, “his name
is transmitted to their descendants hallowed by their
blessings.” Still another account states that he was asso-
ciated with Jesse Hughes in hunting for the settlement.
The supply of game lasted until the crops matured, and
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there was never afterward any danger of starvation
among the settlers in Lewis County.

The increase of population the next year was prob-
ably as great as in 1772; for there were many who pre-
ferred not to move to a new settlement until it had be-
come permanent on account of the discomforts inci-
dent to life in the wilderness without any great supply
of bread, without aid in raising their cabins and without
neighbors. The most noteworthy of the new comers
to Hacker's creek during the year were the Wests,
father and two sons, who emigrated from the South
Branch. After the removal of young Lowther to the
settlements farther down the West Fork they assumed
the lead in the Hacker’s creek settlement, and later
built for protection the fort which bore their names
The settlements on Freeman’s creek received a slight
accession, and some tracts on the West Fork river be-
low the mouth of the creek were cleared at this time.
There was a considerable body of settlers below the
site of West Milford and also at Clarksburg and Bridge-
port. The settlements on the Buckhannon river had
been extended to include homesteads on Saul’s run and
Fink run not far from the Lewis-Upshur line.

Within two or three years gfter the coming of the
homeseekers the whole of Lewis County had been pretty
thoroughly explored, and the settlers had got their
bearings with regard to the surrounding rountry.
Most of the streams in the vicinity of the Hacker’s
creek settlements had been traversed and named. Tom-
ahawk claims had been made by adventurous hunters
in all the most favored locations. The low gap between
Rush run and Sand fork had been discovered and hunt-
ers had penetrated the hollows of Court House district
—a territory which was not to support any considerable
population for eighty - years.

Tradition credits William Lowther, Jesse Hughes
and his brother Elias with the first actual exploration
of the Little Kanawha river. In 1772, it is said, the three
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men traveled up the West Fork river and, having crossed
to the Little Kanawha by way of Sand fork, they descend-
ed the river to its mouth where Parkersburg now stands.
The return trip was made by way of Hughes river,
which they first discovered and named. By another
account the discovery is said to have taken place in
1774, when the two Hughes brothers, after reaching the
mouth of the Little Kanawha, proceeded down the Ohio
river and took part in the battle of Point Pleasant while
Lowther went to Fort Pitt.

The most remarkable of the explorations by mem-
bers of the Hacker’s creek colény was made by the first
settler, John Hacker, soon after his arrival in the west-
ern wilderness. His first crop of corn was one of those
which had been destroyed by buffaloes during the ab-
sence of the settlers in the east. His anger was so
aroused by the devastation that he followed the trail
of the three animals which led southward from his corn
field, bent upon killing them and making their hides
pay for the destruction. The herd was a small one—
two full grown animals and a young calf—and they had
proceeded leisurely southward toward their winter
quarters. Hacker pitched his first hunter’s camp at the
mouth of Curtis run on Little Skin creek; the following
night he encamped on Crane Camp run, which at first
was called Crane’s Nest camp; the third camp was a
shelter in the rocks on what is now Hacker’s Camp run;
and the fourth was at Buffalo lick, now Hacker Valley,
where he shot and crippled a buffalo cow. He followed a
short distance further where he killed the wounded cow.
Primitive vengeance was appeased. One of the destroy-
ers of the corn crop had paid with its life for the de-
struction wrought; and the first settler of Lewis County
took the robe and some choice meat and returned by the
same route he had come. At each of the spots where he
camped he made a tomahawk entry, that is, he cut his
initials on a tree nearby. The only one of the “settle-
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ments” which he afterward claimed, however, was the
one on Little Skin creek, which he gave to his son.

The character of John Hacker'can not be judged
from the single incident of the buffalo hunt. He was
from the beginning one of the leaders of the community,
generally being one of the first to introduce improve-
ments. He brought to the west the first buhrstones,
which he is said to have rigged up to run by water
power, and which furnished a better quality of meal for
himself and his neighbors than they could secure by
the ordinary method of crushing the corn with a pestle
in a mortar. He remained in the settlement through-
out the Indian wars with the exception of a short time
when Hacker’s creek was deserted by all its inhabi-
tants. His son William was given an education suffi-
ciently good to enable him, according to tradition, to pre-
pare a history of the Indian wars which later became
a part of Withers's “Border Warfare.” He served under
General George Rogers Clark in his campaign against
the British posts of Kaskaskia and Vincennes. When
the Indian wars were over, 1795, he was chosen to rep-
resent Harrison County at the peace conference held
at Greenville. His house was always open to the itiner-
ant preacher, and there is a tradition that the first re-
ligious services held in Lewis County were held there.

A circuit preacher, writing about 1790, has this to
say of John Hacker: “I believe this man could read,
but not write; and yet he was a magistrate and a pa-
triarch in the settlement. * * * He was a man of
good common sense, and I think an honest man, and a
good Christian, and among the first that took in the
Methodist preachers. His house had long been a preach-
ing place and the preachers’ home, and also a place of
refuge in time of danger.”

It is unfortunate that all the settlers were not men
of the character of John Hacker. Being far from the
influences of organized society, without the ordinary re-
straints of the law, left to their own whims and caprices,
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the settlers were frequently guilty of outrages against
others which would not be tolerated in a modern so-
ciety. The necessity for presenting a united front to
the Indian was the greatest restraint placed upon them.
Wanton murder of Indians in time of peace was rather
common; and murder of white men also occasionally
took place. Instances are numerous of white men turn-
ing renegades and leading the Indians back to the set-
tlements in order to gratify their spite against some of
their neighbors: Such an occurrence took place at
Bush’s fort on the Buckhannon river, and it was so
serious in its consequences that it resulted in the tem-
porary abandonment of the settlement. How many
murders attributed to Indians were really the work of
white men will never be known. Minor crimes, like
fraudulent entry of land, fraudulent claim for pensions,
and theft were too common among the first settlers
to excite much surprise. Laziness and lack of respect
for women were not uncommon traits. When John
Radcliff and Elias. Hughes moved to Licking County,
Ohio, after the Indian wars, they are said to have given
over to their wives the cultivation of their small corn
patches while they roamed the woods, and it is probable
that more than one of the small clearings on Hacker’s
creek was cultivated in the same way.

There is probably more truth than poetry in the hu-
morous statement credited to Adam O’Brien, one of the
eccentric pioncers of central West Virginia, as to his
reasons for coming to the west. “He said he was a
poor man, and had got behind hand and when that’s the
case, there is no staying in the settlements for those
varmints, the sheriffs and constables. * * * That
after the king’s proclamation for all surveyors and set-
tlers to remove east of the big ridge, from all the west-
ern waters, there was no people on the west side ex-
cept those who had run away from justice and here
they were as free as any buck a-going.” There were
many men like the Pringles who had reason to keep
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away from civilization. The frontier has always been
rough and wild and disorderly until the permanent set-
tlers, men with families and possessing considerable
property have displaced the first comers.

Though the earliest settlers would hardly be eli-
gible for admittance to polite society nowadays, it must
not be forgotten that the services they rendered in the
development of Lewis County were of the highest im-
portance. They fought Indians in time of war, and
drove them back. They held the western frontier of
the Virginia commonwealth while the people of the
eastern part of the state were repelling the British.
They risked their lives in order that they might hold
their settlements. Their clearings became the nucleus
of further settlements. The homely comforts they had
built up, the first beginning of institutions which they
developed, their mills, their schools, their churches, in
fact everything which added to the economic, social and
political growth of the country, were all used by the
later comers. Without the early beginnings made by the
pioneers, it may be doubted whether conditions in the
new country would have attracted the homeseekers.

Besides those who felt more comfortable on the
western side of the wilderness there were three other
principal classes. The first was made up mostly of
younger men who were attracted by the magnificent
hunting. To such as these existence for a lang time in
one place was unthinkable. The second class was com-
posed of homeseekers who had been unable to buy farms
further east, and who came west where good land was
to be had for little or nothing. According to Adam
O’Brien, it was necessary only to cut his initials, A. O.
B. on some trees, cut down a few saplings and plant
a handful of corn, and he had secured the right to
four hundred acres of land, “though it afterwards cost
him a great deal of hard swearing.” The third class
were men of initiative and energy who came west to
secure large tracts of land and to make their fortunes.
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Probably a combination of all these reasons was re-
sponsible for the rapid increase in population. The-
great movement of 1769 when, in a single year, settle-
ments were made at the present sites of Morgantown,.
Wheeling, Buckhannon, Hacker’s creek, and within the
boundaries of Monroe, Greenbrier and Fayette counties,.
and in Kentucky, was not a spasmodic effort. In the
year before, the Iroquois had ceded all their lands south-
of the Ohio river to the English government. Though
the land was not formally opened to settlement, the-
pioneers on the South Branch disregarded previous
proclamations of king and royal governors and rushed
into the new territory intent on securing the choicest
locations. The garrison at Fort Pitt made a pretense:
at expelling the settlers west of the Alleghanies during
1769, but there is no record of a single man’s being sent-
back. The westward movement was inevitable, and
it could not be long delayed by artificial barriers to set-
tlement.

) The royal authority could at least refuse the set-:
tlers full title to the lands if it could not prevent their
coming. Not a single patent was issued until 1779 for
any land west of the Alleghanies, and it was not until’
1781, the year of the defeat of Cornwallis at Yorktown,.
that claims in the West Fork valley were adjusted.

The settlers took possession of four hundred acres
each by reason of having made a settlement, and some
of them took advantage of the right to pre-empt 1,000°
acres additional, under the provisions of the Virginia
act which applied to land on the western slopes of the
Alleghanies. They held their claims without much dis--
pute—as the pioneers generally respected the claims
made by others. Another basis for claim to land was a
corn right. A law of Virginia provided that a settler
who planted a corn patch might have one hundred acres
of land for each acre in his patch. Much'land in Lewis
County was originally granted on the basis of early
corn rights. Another and very inferior sort of title was.
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a tomahawk improvement, under which the conditions
of the law were partly fulfilled by girdling a few trees
near a spring, and cutting the initials of a settler on a
tree nearby. No title could legally be maintained on
a tomahawk improvement, but, in general, the settlers
did not invade the claims made by others, but were
careful to acquire all previous rights before claiming
the land as their own. The settlers who came to Lewis
County had their lands recorded for the first time in
1781, when a special commission was appointed by the
court of Monongalia County to investigate land claims,
to settle disputes, and to issue certificates to the right-
ful claimants,



CHAPTER IV.

LEWIS COUNTY IN DUNMORE’S WAR

The movement of settlers into northwestern Vir-
ginia, which in 1772 and 1773 promised to people the
country within a few years, was rudely interrupted
early in 1774 by Dunmore’s war. The war resulted
early in victory for the whites; but the final results of
this war and of others which followed it in quick suc-
cession, upon the settlement of Lewis County and its
later history can hardly be estimated. For twenty years,
with only a short breathing space, the pioneers were
subjected to all the horrors of Indian warfare, whole
settlements were broken up, and many outlying families
were completely destroyed. ~

The renewal of the Indian wars had been foreseen
by English statesmen, who had advised against a set-
tlement of the interior of the country until the lands

between the Alleghanies and the Atlantic were com-
pletely occupied. The prospect of securing cheap lands,
coupled with other reasons which have been enumer-
ated, had resulted, as we have seen, in a considerable
immigration even before the ban had been lifted, and
before satisfactory arrangements had been made with
the Indians. From the time of their first coming—
that is, from about 1765 in the region around Fort Pitt—
there had been hostilities between the Indians and the
settlers at widely separated points. The wanton ag-
gression of the borderers in murdering every Indian
they could find alone, and the action of the Indians in
repaying the debts with interest led to bitter feeling on
both sides, until finally open war broke out with all the
horrors usually attendant upon frontier conflicts with
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savages. The rapid advance of the settlers caused the
Indians to fear lest the hunting grounds of their fore-
fathers should be completely destroyed.

The land really belonged to the whites. The Indian
title to the lands south of the Ohio had been extin-
guished by several treaties: with the Iroquois at Lan-
caster, Pa., in 1744; with the Shawnees at Logstown,
on the Ohio, in 1752; and a renewed cession by the
Iroquois, the real owners of the country, at Fort Stan-
wix, New York, in 1768. The last named treaty “was,
as we have seen, the immediate cause of the large im-
migration in 1769 and the following years. The Ohio
Indians, lessors of the territory for hunting purposes,
had not given their assent to the provisions of the treaty
of Fort Stanwix, and they regarded the settlers as tres-
passers on their territory.

Almost from the beginning of the settlement on
Hacker’s creek some of the more reckless pioneers
killed without thought of mercy all Indians whom they
could find unprotected. Bald Eagle, a chief who was
well regarded by both his own people and the whites,
and who often took part in the hunting parties ar-
ranged by the settlers, was foully murdered at some
time between 1770 and 1772 by Jacob Scott, William
Hacker (a brother of John Hacker) and Elijah Runner.
No motive for the crime seems to have existed save a
wanton desire to kill. The body was placed in a canoe
and allowed to drift down the Monongahela until it
reached Province plantation where it was decently in-
terred by Mrs. Province.

An even more atrocious crime took place at Bull-
town, on the Little Kanawha river, now in Braxton
County. The place had been occupied about the time of
the coming of the whites by Captain Bull, a Delaware
chief from New York, who had led five Indian families
to western Virginia. He was regarded by the settlers
as being friendly to the whites, who often resorted to
his town to secure supplies of salt, and who often hunted
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with him. It was rather to the advantage of the pion-
eers to cultivate the friendship of Captain Bull, and
most of them thought highly of him and his people.
Unfortunately, in 1772 the family of Adam Stroud,
a settler on the Elk river a few miles south of Bull’s
village, were all murdered in the absence of the husband
and father, by a band of Shawnees. The trail of the
murderers led in the direction of Bull’s village; and
without determining whether or not his people were
guilty, a party composed of William Hacker, William
White, John Cutright, Jesse Hughes and another man
whose name is not known, constituted themselves a court
of inquiry to wreak vengeance for the murder. All the
Indians at Bulltown, with the exception of Captain Bull,
who was then absent beyond the Ohio, were treacher-
ously slain and their bodies thrown into the river. Upon
their return to the settlements the five avengers stated
nonchalently that they had been out hunting. Later,
when the fact of the massacre had become generally
known and suspicion was cast upon them, they at first
denied all knowledge of the killing and then came out
boldly with the story that they had killed the five
Indian families because they were the murderers of
the Stroud family. As proof of their assertion they de-
clared that they had found clothing belonging to the
Stroud family in some of the houses in the Indian vil-
lage. None of the clothing was ever shown to the other
settlers if it had, in fact, been found. Under the cir-
cumstance of nearby residence, the finding of the cloth-
ing there is not strange. At best it would be insuffi-
cient to convict the Indians of more than theft. The
intentions of the party were suspected by the other set-
tlers before they ever went to Bulltown, and they pre-
pared a general remonstrance against the killing of the
Indians. There is no record, however, of any action
having been taken by the community as a whole after
the murder. The settlers probably did not care partic-
ularly whether peaceful Indians were killed or not—
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but as a matter of policy they disapproved of such
murders as likely to bring down upon the heads of the
settlement the vengeance of the relatives of the dead
tribesmen.

While the five were at Bulltown, they learned that
a party of thirteen Indians, who had come from beyond
the Ohio on a hunting trip, were then at Indian Camp
‘on the upper course of the Buckhannon river. They
secured the assistance of Samuel Pringle, James Strange
.and others from the Buckhannon river settlement and
made preparations for an attack against the hunting
party. Just before daybreak the whites arrived outside
the cave in which the Indians were asleep, and posted
themselves so as to command the exit. When it had
become sufficiently light, at a preconcerted signal a
volley was poured without warning upon the unsus-
pecting Indians. So effective was the first fire that
only one warrior, badly wounded, succeeded in escaping
from the cave. He was dispatched by another shot.
According to tradition, the bodies of the Indians were
left unburied.

There was no immediate retaliation against the
participants in the wholesale slaughter of these Indians.
In other centers of white settlement there were Indian
reprisals on detached cabins and lonely settlers. An in-
termittent guerrilla war was fought for another year in
which both whites and Indians were killed. The whites
on the Kentucky border suffered most.

War was inevitable within a short time, the char-
acter of the whites and Indians being as it was. The
only question was how long the embers of conflict would
smoulder before breaking out into the blaze of a gen-
-eral war,

The event was precipitated by an attempt to set-
tle a problem which had nothing whatever to do with
the Indians. Lord Dunmore, then the royal governor
of Virginia, had land claims in the vicinity of Fort Pitt
which would not be valid if Pennsylvania acquired title
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to the region as that colony threatened to do. He
wished to secure the northwest for Virginia and also to
divert the attention of the Virginians from the tyrannous
acts of George III by a popular Indian war.

The war did not continue long. The Indians had
little time in which to organize attacks against the set-
tlements in the Monongahela valley before two Virginia
armies reached the Ohio river. General Andrew Lewis
with the southern army met the main army of the In-
dians under Cornstalk at Point Pleasant. After an all
day battle he retained possession of the field at great
cost. The Indians, being unable to sustain heavy losses,
retired in disorder to the western side of the river. Lord
Dunmore, with the northern army, advanced to within
a few miles of their principal villages, and could have
easily destroyed them. He refrained from attacking
them, however, because he wished to secure peace, al-
though the Virginia soldiers clamored for a further
prosecution of the war. ‘

The peace negotiated by Lord Dunmore was ex-
ceedingly advantageous to the settlers. His moderate
conduct in not destroying the Indian villages was cal-
culated to win their admiration; and the prowess of the
Virginians at Point Pleasant gave the Indians a whole-
some respect for the “Long Knives,” as they were
called. The Indians agreed to give up all their lands
south of the Ohio river. In order to prevent further
trouble which would follow settlement of the frontiers-
men north of the Ohio, the British Parliament passed an
act the same year which added all the territory north of
the Ohio river to the province of Quebec.

The horrors of Indian warfare were not visited
upon the Hacker’s creek settlements in 1774, although
other settlements in the vicinity suffered. The settlers
in northwestern Virginia at first took no precautions of
any kind, believing that they were too far from the In-
dian country to be molested. An attack led by the
Cayuga chief Logan on the settlement at the mouth of
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Simpson’s creek disillusioned them. Following the raid,
the settlers in the vicinity of Clarksburg immediately
erected Nutter’s fort, which afforded protection as well
to the Hacker’s creek and Buckhannon settlements.

Local tradition, not well substantiated, says that
Jesse Hughes and Elias Hughes, who afterwards be-
came famous as scouts, were members of General
Lewis’s army at Point Pleasant, and Elias Hughes was
reputed long afterwards to be the last survivor of the-
battle.

The effects of Dunmore’s war upon the settlements
in Lewis County were more deeply feit than is indicated
in chronicles of raids and reprisals. In the first place
the westward movement received a decided setback.
At the first outbreak of hostilities some of the settlers
left their cabins and took refuge in the settlements on
the South Branch. Some of them even sold their claims
intending never to return. After the close of the war
most of the former residents returned and with them
were a few new homeseekers who took up their abode
in the older settlements or made new settlements in lo-
cations which had been neglected before.

Among the new comers were John Schoolcraft, who
built his cabin on Stone Coal creek at the mouth of
Smith’s run; Robert Burkett, who claimed land on Sand
fork of \West Fork; Elijah Williams and Lewis Duvall,
who lived on Freeman’s creek; Charles Washburn on

Stone Coal creek; and Henry Flesher on the present
site of Weston. The last named settlement was made in
1776. Tradition states that his home was built near
the present site of Whelan’s store, a few yards from the
corner of First and Main; his barn stood near the corner
of Center avenue and Second street; and his threshing
floor later occupied the site of the court house. The
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settlement of John Schoolcraft on lands adjoining those
of Henry Flesher, was made a year earlier. The lands
farther up Stone Coal creek were more desirable than
those at the mouth on account of the swampy nature of
the latter location. An old river channel and a deep
hollow about where Bank street now is must have fur-
ther decreased the desirability of the lands for farming
purposes.



CHAPTER V.

LEWIS COUNTY DURING THE REVOLUTION

Before the effects of Dunmore’s war in retarding
emigration to the west had ceased to be felt, the set-
tlements were profoundly influenced by events which

were taking place along the Atlantic seaboard. “The
shot heard 'round the world” was distinctly audible in
northwestern Virginia. Just how great an influence the
American Revolution had upon the course of develop-
ment of the region can only be surmised. Certain it is
that if there had been no Indian wars after the battle
of Point Pleasant the whole of northwestern Virginia
would have reached a mature development much earlier
than it did. One of the first results of the commence-
ment of hostilities between the colony of Virginia and
the mother country was the legal recognition of the ex-
istence of settlements west of the Alleghanies. Under
the royal government no settlements were allowed there,
hence it was not deemed necessary to provide any form
of civil government for the district. For several years
prior to the Revolution the Trans-Alleghany region
was known as the District of West Augusta. It was a
shadowy geographical division with no very definite
boundaries or political status. There were no courts in
the settlements, no justices of the peace, no recognized
officers of the law. With the exceptions of the garrisons
at Fort Redstone and Fort Pitt, both of which are now
in Pennsylvania, there was no form of governmental
authority until the very beginning of the Revolution
when a court was held at Little Washington.

The settlements on Hacker’s creek and on the West
Fork river at first were examples of pure anarchies.
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When the Indians at Bulltown were murdered, the set-
tlers prepared a remonstrance. If there had been a
horse stolen or a white man murdered and the crime had
been fixed upon one of the settlers, it may be imagined
that the whole neighborhood would have risen as one
man and applied lynch law. Doubtless the knowledge
that some such action would be taken, coupled with the
necessity of uniting to combat the common danger from
the Indians, prevented much disorder.

One of the first acts of the Commonwealth of Vir-
ginia was that defining the boundaries of the District of
West Augusta and providing for the creation of three
counties from it. One of these counties was Mononga-
lia, including all the region drained by the Mononga-
hela and its tributaries nearly as far north as Pittsburgh.
Justices were appointed for the new county, among them
being William Lowther, who had saved the settlers from
starvation in the “starving year” of 1772. A county gov-
ernment was immediately set up with the county seat
at Fort Redstone, far over the present boundary in
Pennsylvania. Notwithstanding the distance of the
Hacker's creek settlers from the seat of government
there was an advantage in being in the new county.
It meant that the people were to receive such help in
solving their problems as the government of the state
could give them. The settlers were also given the right
to name their own officials and to take a part in the gov-
ernment of the state as a whole. One of the first acts
of the county court was to designate Morgantown and
Bush’s fort (on the present site of Buckhannon) as
voting places.

There were responsibilities as well as advantages
connected with membership in the Commonwealth of
Virginia. When it became apparent to the British gov-
ernment that the people of the colonies meant to fight,
they sent their agents among the people of the frontier
trying to induce them to take the side of the king and
promising to protect them from the Indians in case of
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war. How much they underestimated the character of
the Virginia backwoodsmen—the “shirt men”, as they
contemptuously called them—can be seen in a study
of the history of the time. Practically all the frontiers-
men were staunch patriots. Some of them were Tories
but they soon moved to the vicinity of Detroit where
they could be under the shelter of the British guns.

Failing in their efforts to induce the frontiersmen
to side with them, the British officials in Canada sent
their agents among the western Indians to urge them to
break their treaties with the Virginians and again fall
upon their settlements with tomahawk and scalping-
knife, and to drive them completely out of the Indian
domain. It was the idea of the English king and his ad-
visors not only to send civilized armies against the sea-
coast districts of the colonies but to take them in the
rear, compel a division of their forces and make easier
the task of subduing them.

The English agents were not at first successful in
inducing the Indians to lay aside the pipe of peace and
make war upon the Virginians. The memory of the
prowess of the “Long Knives” at the battle of Point
Pleasant and in a dozen smaller encounters was a potent
influence in causing the Indians to hesitate before again
going on the warpath. Although the Tories, who had
been compelled to flee from the settlements through
fear of their neighbors, went among the Indians adding
their appeals to those of the British agents, they se-
cured only a lukewarm promise from some of the tribes
to fight the settlers. Two years after the outbreak of
the Revolution the British agents lacked the acquies-
cence of the Shawnees, the ablest warriors of the north-
west, when two unfortunate circumstances led that tribe
into the field. The first was the murder of their sachem,
Cornstalk, who had been held as a hostage by the whites;
the other was the arrival of Burgoyne in Canada with
a large British force designed to march against the col-
onies in the vicinity of the Hudson river. Here was
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proof positive of British assistance; and the Shawnees
and all the other Indians northwest of the Ohio, as well
as the Iroquois farther north sent war parties against
the frontiers.

The frontier line of defense in western Virginia
proved a strong one. It stretched from Fort Pitt, at the
confluence of the Monongahela and Allegheny rivers,
along the Ohio to Wheeling and Moundsville, and then
turned inland from the river forming a great semi-circle
which passed through Morgantown, Clarksburg, the
Hacker’s creek settlements and Charleston, and again
reached the Ohio river at Fort Randolph on the battle-
ground at Point Pleasant. From there the line of de-
fense included the few settlements which had been made
in Kentucky. :

The Indians fell upon the settlements in 1777, mur-
dering alike the fighting men and the defenseless women
and children, leading some into captivity to suffer the
tortures of the gauntlet and the stake, and destroying all
the property of the setiler« they could find. The trontier
was lurid with the flames of burning crops and houses
during all the remaining years of the Revolution and for
long afterwards. In the bloody “year of the three sev-
ens”, they besieged Wheeling fort, killing many of its
defenders in ambuscades, they plundered homes and
murdered settlers on Rooting creek in Harrison County,
near Coon’s fort on the borders of Harrison and Marion,
on the Little Kanawha river, and very late in the year
in the Tygart’s Valley. Fortunately the Lewis County
settlements escaped being attacked during the whole
season.

The exposed position of the Hacker’s creek settle-
ment on the very edge of the Virginia frontier, and on
the route from the Indian towns to the Tygart’s Valley
region made it impossible for the attack to be long de-
layed. Beginning in 1778 and continuing almost every
year thereafter there were one or more Indian attacks
against the Hacker’s creek pioneers. An examination
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of the history of the period of the Indian wars shows
that more attacks were directed against the Hacker’s
creek settlement than against any other settlement in
northwestern Virginia.

It is apparent from an examination of the records
of the period that most of the settlements in what is now
Lewis County except those on Hacker's creek, the
Flesher settlement at Weston, and some of the clear-
ings farther down the West Fork were abandoned.
Some of the settlers returned to their former homes
east of the mountains and others gathered around some
of the numerous forts which were built at centrally lo-
cated points in the Trans-Alleghany region. The only
large fort anywhere on the West Fork until the outbreak
of the Revolution was Nutter’s fort at Clarksburg; as
soon, however, as it became apparent that the western
Indians would attack the exposed settlements others
were built. Powers’ fort stood on the present site of
Bridgeport; Richards’. fort was about two miles below
the present site of West Milford at the mouth of Sassa-
fras run; Bush’s fort stood near the present site of Buck-
hannon; and West’s fort was within the present cor-
porate limits of Jane Lew on the slight rise where Minor
Hall now lives.

West’s fort was probably a small stockade of logs
enclosing a large log building constructed to protect
from the elements those who had taken refuge within
the stockade. The builders probably set the logs on
end deep into the ground and then tamped loose earth
around them to make the stockade substantial. Loop-
holes between the logs afforded opportunity for the gar-
rison to command all approaches to the walls and all
the cleared space around the fort within range of their
rifles. At the same time they were protected from the
fire of their besiegers by the logs composing the walls.
None of the rifles at that time could pierce the heavy
wall of logs, though artillery would soon have sent them

splintering down. Since none of the Indian parties had
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cannon, and would have been unable to transport
them without building roads if they had, the settlers
were safe within the walls. Few of the frontier forts
succumbed to the attacks of the savages. There was
danger that the food supply might not hold out, or that
the powder might be exhausted, but, if these were suffi-
cient, the only danger was that the savages might set
fire to the fort.

The stockade was called West’s fort because built
by Edmund West and his two sons, Edmund and Alex-
ander, assisted probably by some of the neighbors. The
Wests had come to Hacker’s creek from Accomack
County, Virginia, in 1773, and the senior West had set-
tled at the old Straley farm about one mile above Jane
Lew. Alexander West later became one of the greatest
scouts on the border, and saw service in one or more
attempts to carry the war into the Indian country. He
has been described by McWhorter as being “a tall,
spare-built man, very erect, strong, lithe and active;
dark-skinned, prominent Roman nose, black hair, very
keen eyes; not handsome, rather raw-boned, but with an
air and mien that commanded the attention and respect
of those with whom he associated.” Beyond the fact
that he took the lead in building the fort, little is known
of the character of Edmund West, Sr. By a peculiar
turn of fortune, the builder of the fort was later taken
by surprise outside its walls and put to death by a body
of Indians under circumstances of the most shocking
brutality.

The settlers on Hacker’s creek and vicinity were
not terrified by the prospect of another Indian war. A
large number stayed on the frontier, and many others
made new settlements in the time of the worst savage
fury.

The Hacker’s creek bordermen did not supinely
trust to the walls of West’s fort to keep away the In-
dians, but went out into the open, stalked the Indians
on nearly equal terms, formed parties in pursuit of them
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and oft-times inflicted greater damage upon them than
they themselves had suffered. Among the settlers were
many whose names are written large upon the tablets
of history of northwestern Virginia. John P. Duvall,
Jesse Hughes, Elias Hughes, Thomas Hughes, Alexan-
der West, George Jackson, William Lowther, William
White and John Cutright are all men who achieved
more than local prominence as scouts or military lead-
ers in the wars against the Indians in northwestern Vir-
ginia. Greatest of all without the shadow of a doubt
was Jesse Hughes.

Jesse Hughes was born probably on Jackson river
in what is now western Virginia, about the year 1750.
With his parents he moved to the South Branch of the
Potomac, where he lived until he joined the party which
followed Samuel Pringle to examine the land in the
vicinity of ‘the sycamore in the Buckhannon valley. He
became a hunter at first and roamed the wilds, becom-
ing acquainted with every feature of the geography of
the section. In 1771, he married and settled on a clear-
ing at the mouth of Jesse’s run. It will be remembered
that he was one of the men connected with the massa-
cres at Bulltown and the Indian camp. He first became
Prominent on the border in the year 1778, from which
time he was one of the mainstays in the protection of
the settlements. His pony was constantly kept tied in
the lean-to adjoining his house ready for instant use in
Warning settlers of the near approach of Indians. His
vigilance saved many lives.

Jesse Hughes is described by McWhorter as being
rather tall and slender. He could not have weighed
more than 145 pounds at any time in his life. His coun-
tenance was hard, stern and unfeeling; his eyes were
cold, cruel and vicious—“like a rattlesnake’s”, accord-
ing to the statement of a contemporary. “No Indian,
no matter how peaceful, nor how good his record, was
safe in his presence.” He murdered young and old alike,
under circumstances which would hardly be equalled
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in bloodthirsty ferocity by the worst savage. An old
woman who knew him said he was desperately wicked,
superstitious, cruel and vindictive. He is said often to
have given way to abuse of his family. So uncontrolled
were his passions, and so bad his reputation among his
own people that he never attained leadership in the com-
munity.

He is said on one occasion to have decoyed an In-
dian almost to his own door by promising to go hunting
with him, and then shot the unsuspecting savage from
ambush. At another time, while he was on his way
down the Monongahela in a canoe he saw an Indian boy
playing with some white children. Only the interfer-
ence of his companion kept him from taking the Indian
boy into the canoe and then drowning him in the river.
He was one of the most terrible enemies of the Indians
to be found anywhere on the frontier.

He could trail with any Indian that lived on the
border, and, though not a dead shot like some of the
other settlers, his skill in stalking Indians and game
caused him to have a better record at the end of the day
than any of his fellows. Though he was by far the best
trailer on the frontier, though he was more than a
match for the Indian in cunning, though he seemed to
have an intuition as to the plans of the Indians, and
though his plans for following them were nearly al-
ways adopted, he was never placed in command of any
important expedition. He served for a short time as
ensign of a company of scouts, but seemed never to have
had any of the men under him- The ability to command
men is not usually possessed by men of his tempera-
ment. His temper was too fiery, his passions too fierce
for him to retain the respect which was necessary to
keep frontiersmen attached to a leader. Yet it is said
that he had many friends, and that he was generous to
those who had gained his confidence.

During the year 1778, the settlers collected within
the forts early in the spring, and only went out in large
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groups to work the fields of the different farms in turn.
At least two Indian attacks were made on West's fort
during the year. Early in May the male population
were working in a field near the fort, when the report
of firearms at the edge of the clearing broke the still-
ness. Jonathan Lowther, a brother of William Lowther,
and Thomas Hughes, father of Jesse and Elias Hughes,
fell at the first volley. The other men of the party, all
of whom had incautiously come to the field without their
amms, ran to the fort for safety, with the exception of
wo, who were cut off by the Indians. They escaped by
fumning to Richards’ fort, where they gave the alarm.
The Indians had already been in that community and
had murdered one of the settlers on his way home from
Hacker's creek. The settlers were too weak to pursue
the Indians, who left Hacker’s creek at once after taking
the scalps of the men they had killed.

The Indians probably lost more by the attack than
they gained ; for the murder of the elder Hughes intens-
ified, if possible, the hatred of the Hughes brothers for
the Indians, and caused them to take an oath “to fight
Injuns as long as they lived and could see to fight
them"—an oath which was only too well carried out.

The Indians made a bolder assault on West’s fort
arly in the next month. Three women who had gone
out from the fort for the purpose of gathering greens in
the field adjoining, were fired upon by one of a party of
four Indians who were lying in ambush. The shot failed
to take effect, and the women ran screaming toward the
fort closely pursued by one warrior. He overtook a
Mrs. Freeman, and thrust a spear into her back with
such force that it penetrated completely through her
body. Though fired at several times from the fort, he
then coolly secured the scalp and carried it away with
him. Jesse Hughes and others happened to be outside
the fort at the time without their guns. As Hughes and
John Schoolcraft were proceeding éautiously toward
the fort they noticed two Indians standing by a fence,
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closely watching the fort for an opportunity to kill some
of the refugees. Hughes and Schoolcraft passed on
without attracting their attention. Later when a party
went out of the fort for the purpose of bringing in the
body of Mrs. Freeman, Hughes went to the spot where
he had seen the Indians. At that moment from a point
farther in the woods there came a sound like the howl-
ing of a wolf. Hughes answered it. The sound was re-
peated. This time the party located it, and running to a
point of land they saw two Indians. Hughes fired once,
but succeeded only in wounding the Indian. Others in
the party wished to stop and finish him, but Hughes
called to them to leave him alone and follow him in pur-
suit of the unwounded warrior. By doubling on his
track like a fox, the Indian succeeded in eluding his pur-
suers. Meanwhile the wounded warrior had also got
away, and Hughes was forced to return to the fort
without a scalp hanging from his belt.

The garrison of the fort at this time had lately been
strengthened by the addition of Captain Stuart and a
company of Virginia militia, most of whom had come
from the South Branch, but a few had volunteered from
Randolph County. Some of his men pursued the war
party and overtook them on Salt Lick creek, where they
wounded one of them and the remainder dispersed upon
the approach of Captain Stuart and the main body of his
force. Stuart returned to West’s fort and thence march-
ed to Lowther’s fort where he detached part of his men.
He then returned to guard the fords of the Tygart’s
Valley river.

These two attacks were typical of all that followed.
Without artillery the Indians could not hope to capture
log forts, particularly if they were well built. It was
opposed to the Indian temperament to sit down before
the walls of a fortified place and wait until the garrison
could be starved into surrender, while their own num-
bers were constantly being diminished by the fire of the
beleaguered whites. No large bodies of Indians came
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east of the Ohio river. Attacks on the settlements in
the Monongahela valley were more in the nature of
raids planned with the idea of capturing prisoners, cut-
ting off detached families or killing small bodies of
whites whom they could surprise, than large expeditions
to destroy all of the settlements. Most of the attacks
were made by very small bands. It was but natural that
women and children should be made the objects of at-
tack, and that the vengeance of the savages should be
visited upon those who were innocent of any harm to
them,

The number of settlers was insufficient as yet to
alllow the formation of a large army, which should carry
the war into the villages of the Indians beyond the Ohio,
and purchase peace with the lead from their rifles. They
bad to content themselves with defending as best they
might their lonely oases of settlement in the western
wilderness.

Other forays of the Indians into the West Fork
valley, though they did not result in the death of any of
the other members of the settlement on Hacker’s creek,
caused severe losses to the neighboring settlements
around Richards’ fort. The continual danger from the
Indians kept the Hacker's creek settlers idle within
their fort or engaged in distant scouting expeditions,
with the result that their crops were neglected. It may
have been that the crops were set fire to by the Indians
in the fall, and were destroyed. At any rate there was
an acute shortage of grain at the beginning of the suc-
ceeding winter. Numerically the settlement at West’s
fort was not strong enough at that time to sustain the
defense of so important a section of the frontier, exposed
as it was to the first assault of every war party that
came up the Little Kanawha valley. Discouraged at the
prospect of another campaign like the last, and lacking
requisite supplies to satisfy their wants through the
coming growing season, they abandoned their homes
on Hacker’s creek. Some of the inhabitants went to
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Nutter’s fort, and some to Bush’s fort on the Buckhan-
non, in both of which places their numbers were a desir-
able reinforcement. The more timorous returned to the
South Branch where they would be safe from Indian
molestation. The Flesher settlement at the mouth of
Stone Coal creek seems not to have been abandoned at
this time, and it remained during 1779 the only habita-
tion of a white man within the present limits of Lewis
County.

The opening of the year 1779 found practically all
the settlements in better condition than ever before to
resist the raids of the Indians. For one thing they had
been consolidated. The detached farms had been aban-
doned. The settlers had also received considerable ac-
cretions in strength from adventurous young men who
came west to engage in the war where they would not
have to bother with discipline and commanding officers,
and also from militiamen from east of the Alleghanies,
who, like Captain Stuart, had been ordered to the forts
in the valley of the West Fork. Most of the militiamen
were rather indifferent Indian fighters, and some were
court-martialed later for desertion. They afforded much
strength, however, not only in the addition to the small
numbers of the settlers, but also in the encouragement
they gave the frontier guardians of Virginia that the
authorities of the state had not utterly forgotten their
danger, but were doing all they could to send relief, while
themselves carrying on the war with the British troops
on the Atlantic seaboard.

Active measures were soon afterwards taken by the
state authorities to reduce the number of raids and the
amount of damage done by the Indians. Vigorous ef-
forts were made to watch the Indians and to warn the
settlements of their approach. Several companies of
spies were formed, among them George Jackson’s com-
pany on the Buckhannon in 1779 and William Lowther’s
at Nutter's fort. From that time forth small parties
scoured the woods in the vicinity of the Indian trails.
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Sometimes the scouts would go down the Little Ka-
nawha from the Buckhannon settlement to the mouth of
the river, and return the same way, but the usual route
was to proceed overland to Wheeling, then drift down -
the Ohio to the Little Kanawha, from which point they
would return, closely examining all the trails along the
river for signs of Indians. This system of scouting had
been found to be most successful through a long period
of warfare with the Indians, and by 1779, it was working
well. The vigorous action of Colonel Lowther in pur-
suing the Indians after each attack had the effect of
making them wary, keeping them from the settlements
and reducing the amount of damage done. The largest
number of men which he commanded in pursuing the
Indians at any one time during the Revolution was
about twenty-five.

During 1779, the Shawnees and other tribes were

engaged elsewhere, chiefly in expeditions to regain the
lllinois country which had been captured by George
Rogers Clark, and in defending their villages, some of
which Clark had captured and burned. During the win-
ter of 1779-1780, several of the settlers who did not want
to lose all their improvements and have to commence
again in the wilderness ventured back to Hacker’s creek,
and in the spring they moved, as usual, into West’s fort.
They had not been there long when a party of Indians
laid siege to the fort, and, contrary to their usual cus-
tom, remained there several days. The inhabitants
were too few to sally out with any hope of success, their
supplies were nearly exhausted and they were in despair
of being relieved. Jesse Hughes determined, if possible,
to secure aid from the Buckhannon settlements. It was
an extremely hazardous undertaking, for the Indians had
posted sentinels on all sides to prevent the escape of the
garrison; but Hughes crept out in the dead of night,
and, after proceeding cautiously for several hours, he
passed far beyond the last outpost of the savages. In
order to inform those still within the fort of his being
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clear, he gave the prearranged signal of the hoot of an
owl. The Indians, probably understanding the counter-
feit nature of this particular bird’s cry, and knowing that
help must be near, broke camp at once. The next morn-
ing Hughes led a party from Bush’s fort back to Hack-
er’s creek, and conducted the residents of West’s fort in
safety to the banks of the Buckhannon. Here they spent
the remainder of the year. During their absence West’s
fort was set on fire by Indians, and completely destroyed.

Two days after the arrival of the garrison from
West’s fort there occurred perhaps the only battle on the
West Fork, which was fought in the open, and which
was yet not an ambuscade. A small party of settlers
who had returned to some of the houses on Hacker’s
creek to remove their furniture, came unexpectedly upon
a party of Indians in the woods not far from the Buck-
hannon. The Indians were equally surprised. They
fired first and Jeremiah Curl, an old man, was hit under
the chin. He refused to take flight, and called to the
others that they were able to whip the Indians. An
Indian rushed at him. Curl took aim and pulled the
trigger; but the powder in his gun had become wet with
blood from his wound and it failed to ignite. It happened
that he was carrying a gun belonging to another of the
party in addition to his own, and, taking quick aim with
it, he brought the warrior down. Alexander West, who
was one of the swiftest on foot of all the frontiersmen,
pursued the Indians, and succeeded in wounding one of
them before the others took refuge behind trees and
made the conflict too unequal for him to maintain un-
aided. The war party was pursued the next day by
about fifteen whites who could be spared from the fort,
and they succeeded in recovering several stolen horses
and other plunder with the loss of only one man slightly
wounded.

The savages continued to lurk about Bush’s fort
all summer, and they succeeded in killing one of the
Buckhannon settlers and taking his niece prisoner. They
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also infested the settlement around Richard’s fort, steal-
ing horses, killing live stock and committing other dep-
redations. Horses were the special objects of their thiev-
ing propensities. Cows and sheep were often killed by
the Indians in order to reduce the already extremely
small number of domestic animals in the frontier com-
munities.

The winter season of 1780-81 was, as usual, free
from Indian forays, most of the savages being snug and
warm in their log houses beyond the Ohio. During the
seasonal lull the Hackers creek settlers again ventured
back to their homes, and prepared to defend them. All
joined in the erection of a new fort in a stronger loca-
tion. It stood on level, rather marshy ground, but it
was a far more satisfactory site than that of the old fort
because the besiegers could not have a vantage point
within gunshot where they could hide. Because the fort
was built almost entirely of beech logs, it was called
Beech fort, a name which stuck for a year or so, and then
the settlers returned to the old designation of West’s
fort. It is supposed that the beech fort was more capa-
cious than the old fort, and that it was a stockade of
logs enclosing a much larger house of hewn logs.

Beech fort was used for other purposes than for de-
fense. The Rev. John Mitchell, the first minister of the
gospel on Hacker’s creek, alternately fought Indians
and shepherded a more or less wayward flock, holding
services within its walls. Other preachers came later
and held their services there. There is a tradition that
the first school in Lewis County was held in the new fort,
with the Rev. Mitchell as its teacher. The fort soon be-
came the social center of the settlement. Primarily,
however, it was for defense; and the settlers behind its.
strong walls, their numbers increased by new arrivals. .
and perhaps by militia from the counties east of the
mountains, had well-founded hopes of maintaining their
positions against any force that the Indians were likely
to send against them.
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The year 1781 was a quiet one so far as the settle-
ments on Hacker’s creek were concerned. Henry Flesh-
er left his cabin at the present corner of First street and
Main avenue, Weston, and went to Buckhannon to
spend the winter, returning apparently the next spring.
The only military operations in the upper West Fork
valley that were of any importance were those con-
nected with the pursuit of a party of Indians who had
broken up an outlying settlement on the Tygart’s Val-
ley river. Colonel Lowther and his company of scouts
gloriously avenged the murder of the settlers and recov-
ered several of the prisoners they had captured. The
Indians received a lesson on the strength and unity of
the settlements.

The usual reinforcement from east of the mountains
failed to come to the aid of the western settlements in
1781 on account of the invasion of Virginia by Lord
Cornwallis. Every nerve of the state was being strained
to add new recruits to the forces of Lafayette, who was
attempting to defend the state. Additional volunteers
were raised wherever possible. Even Hampshire county,
which had furnished the bulk of the militia for the de-
fense of the west, sent a regiment to Yorktown which in-
cluded some of the Monongahela pioneers.

The Trans-Alleghany settlers were thus left to
shift for themselves, but the activities of General George
Rogers Clark in the Illinois country had the effect of
keeping the Indians occupied at home: In May, 1781,
George Jackson, of the Buckhannon river settlements,
recruited a company for service against the British and
Indians. General Clark had planned an expedition
against Detroit to capture that stronghold of British
influence over the western Indians, that headquarters
for Indian supplies, that refuge from which British
agents kept continually stirring up the savages against
the settlements. Clark hoped by destroying the evil at
its source to end all Indian wars, and he invited settlers
from all over the western territory to take part with
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him. William Lowther also responded to the call, and
was raised to the rank of colonel for meritorious services
rendered. The expedition failed to secure its expected
strength, and nothing was accomplished except that the
Indians were kept occupied beyond the Ohio by the
threat against their villages.

Colonel Lowther gained experience while on the
expedition which served him in good stead in organ-
izing the defense of the settlements at a later date. He
saw the need for improvements after his return as never
before, and he took the lead from that time on, not only
in pursuing Indians who had committed depredat:ons,
but in preventing the depredations.

The militia of Monongalia County in 1781 was esti-
mated at not less than a thousand men. The number
in the valley of the upper West Fork must have been
in the neighborhood of 150 men between the ages of
sixteen and sixty The actual population was prob-
ably six or seven hundred. Colonel Benjamin Wilson
wrote to the governor at the beginning of the year 1782
stating the effective force of the West Fork at eighty
men, and urging that reinforcements be sent from east
of the mountains. “If the Indians pursue the war as
they did last spring,” he wrote, “it will cause the settlers
to leave the country.” In response to the appeal, sev-
enty men of the Hampshire County militia were sent to
help defend the Trans-Alleghany. They were stationed
at Beverly, (now in Randolph County) St. George, (now
in Tucker County) and Clarksburg.

Early in the spring a large war party invaded the
Buckhannon valley, and 8 March 1782, they attacked
the homes of some of the settlers before they had time
to move into the fort. Some of the people were mur-
dered without warning. Captain White, “the lion in the
defense of the settlement in the absence of George Jack-
son,” was killed within plain view of the fort, and Tim-
othy Dorman, who had been a subaltern in Captain
Jackson’s company of scouts, joined the Indians. So
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bad was the character of Dorman, so many were the
threats which he had made against the other settlers,
and so well acquainted was he with the habits of the
settlement and the weak points in its defense, that in
despair of successfully resisting an attack, the whole
body of the inhabitants left the fort and went to Clarks-
burg.

Dorman returned in the same year at the head of a
war party of savages. A number of settlers who had
come from Nutter’s fort for the purpose of gathering
the grain on the Buckhannon and transporting it to
Clarksburg, found Bush’s fort in ruins. They suspected
from certain signs that the Indians were still in the
neighborhood, and they therefore exercised all possible
vigilance. All attempts to lure them into an ambuscade

having failed, Dorman and others fired upon them while
they were near the fort, and they were forced to take
refuge in a cellar. Here they remained all night while

George Jackson ran to Clarksburg for help.

The year 1781 saw the surrender of Cornwallis at
Yorktown ; and in 1783 commissioners appointed by the
Continental Congress signed a treaty of peace by which
Great Britain recognized the independence of the United
States and admitted their right to territories reaching
as far west as the Mississippi. The Revolution was
fought and won on the eastern seaboard; but the hum-
ble part of the settlers on Hackers creek and the other
outlying points west of the mountains kept the savage
allies of the British king from harassing eastern Vir-

ginia, and allowed the state to devote practically all its
energies to the defeat of the red-coated British and their
German hirelings. For six long years the devoted bands
of settlers had sustained the weight of the Indian as-
saults, suffering untold privations and hardships, but
still maintaining a foothold in the region west of the
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Alleghanies, as a basis for a tremendously important
later development. Now that the war was over they
expected that the Indian outrages would stop and that
they would be allowed to pursue their accustomed em-

ployments of hunting and tilling the ground unmo-
lested. '



CHAPTER VI.
THE END OF THE INDIAN WARS

The treaty of Paris, 1783, did not bring peace with
the Indians. For twelve years longer the settlements
on the western border were subject to sudden attacks
and raids conceived and executed with all the fiendish
cruelty common in savage warfare. The Indians were,
however, unable to press the attack with their former
vigor on account of the fact that their supplies were not
forthcoming from the British stations- at Detroit and
other points in the northwest. In Virginia the Indian
wars ceased to be carried on for the purpose of extermin-
ating the whites and they consisted merely of raids
for the purpose of securing plunder and scalps. It was
not uncommon for young Indians to come to the set-
tlements alone to steal horses or to waylay members
of the pioneer families who ventured far from home.
If they returned with plunder or a scalp their reputation
as warriors was assured. The young warriors were en-
couraged to make these raids because they resulted in
broadening their experience as warriors. Alexander
West once discovered a lone Indian in the field where
Beech fort was afterward erected. He fired, and the
Indian made off evidently wounded. West did not pur-
sue him, fearing an ambuscade. Two weeks later, upon
following the trail, it was found that the warrior had
bathed his wound in Indian spring near the mouth of
Life’s run, and had then crawled into a rock cliff where
he perished miserably.

The Trans-Alleghany settlers were disappointed in
their expectations of strong reinforcements from east-
ern Virginia. All possibility of danger from the British
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had been removed and the people east of the mountains
were henceforth left free from attack. They did not
choose to devote much attention to the problems of the
west. If the new state government of Virginia had
been as energetic in the defense of the western frontier
as the old royal government under Lord Dunmore, an
expedition could have been sent out strong enough to
break the power of the northwestern tribes. Much of
the difficulty came from the fact that Virginia had
ceded her lands northwest of the Ohio river to the fed-
eral government, which was then powerless to act. Vir-
ginia refused to conquer Indians who lived outside the
boundaries of the state. The state was content to con-
fine her efforts in defense of the frontier to sending a
few militiamen from east of the mountains to assist in
garrisoning the forts. The number of men sent was
never large enough to be of much service, and appeals
were made to the governor every year for more troops.
Colonel Benjamin Wilson in 1784, wrote to the gover-
nor inviting attention to the fact that their fellow citi-
zens who reside east of the mountains were enjoying
themselves in peace “while neglecting to secure that
privilege to the west.”

An act was passed by the legislature in 1784 which
aided the citizens to organize more effectively against
the Indians. The number of settlers who came to the
west during the closing years of the Revolution, the
prospect for a larger immigration as soon as peace
could be made with the Indians and the desire for a
more compact political organization, caused the creation
of Harrison County in 1784.

The first fruits of the creation of the new county,
from the standpoint of measures for the protection of the
inhabitants, was the appointment of John P. Duvall, one
of the most prominent of the early landholders in what
is now Lewis County, as colonel of the county militia.
Colonel Lowther, upon whom the duties had previously
devolved, accepted the appointment as sheriff of the
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new county. Colonel Duvall immediately made requi-
sition on the governor for additional arms and ammuni-
tion for the men of militia age in the county. He re-
ported that the effective force of the county was in the
neighborhood of 215 men, for whom there were but 130
rifles in 1785. Two hundred additional rifles were re-
quested at once. It was not to be supposed that there
were nearly one hundred settlers in western Virginia in
a time of more or less active Indian warfare without fire-
arms. Each man carried a flint lock musket, but it was
not rifled, and hence not so accurate and effective as the
newer firearms which had been introduced into the col-
onies after the French and Indian war, but which had
not been manufactured in sufficient quantities to supply
all. Colonel Duvall reported also that ammunition was
very scarce.

Colonel Duvall continued in general command of
the militiamen formerly led by Colonels Benjamin Wil-
son and William Lowther, though the last named, as
sheriff, continued to pursue Indians. Duvall went from
one end of the county to the other—from the dividing
ridge separating the watershed of the Cheat from that
of the Potomac to the mouth of the Little Kanawha
river—inspecting blockhouses, organizing for defense
and giving encouragement. Despite the fact that the
settlers continued to be thrown largely upon their own
resources, the strength of the settlements became greater
than ever before.

Beginning about the close of the Revolutionary war
there was a rush of emigration to northwestern Virginia.
Dwellers east of the mountains who had been despoiled
of their property by the British, who feared the high
taxes after the war, or who wanted to get a new start
on the cheap lands of the west, braved the dangers of
Indian warfare and came in a constant stream. Within
a short space of time after the close of the Revolution
hundreds of new settlers came into the territory drained
by the headwaters of the Monongahela. Among the
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new comers were William Powers, afterwards one of
the first justices of the peace in Lewis County and one
of the early chroniclers of the county’s history; Henry
McWhorter, whose descendants have made their mark
in county and state affairs; Patrick McCann, builder of
a fort, Indian scout and hero of the border, who settled
at the mouth of Edward Hughes’ run, afterwards called
McCann's run; the Rev. John Mitchell, who was the
first preacher in the county; the Browns, who settled on
White Oak Flat run, where they built the Mongue (or
Mung) fort which stood a short distance from the later
site of the Broad Run Baptist church; and a host of
others only less prominent. John Waggoner, Joseph
Glanfield, Thomas Short, Peter Swisher, Jacob Wolf,
George Dobson, John Starcher, Peterman Hardman and
Jacob Cozad are names worthy to be recorded. Hack-
er's creek was becoming rather thickly settled for a
frontier community; and had it not been for the incur-
sions of the Ohio Indians, settlement would have been
far more rapid.

The first attack following the close of the Revolu-
tion took place on the spot destined in later years to be
chosen as the seat of government of the county. About
the middle of October, 1784, assisted by Paulser Butcher,
then a mere youth, but later one of the largest landhold-
ers in the county, Henry Flesher had been engaged in
hauling logs for a stable to be built near where the Bap-
tist church now stands. Flesher went to his house to
get a bell to put on his horse preparatory to turning him
out to graze in woods. When he reached the ravine
which came down the hill about where Bank street now
is he was fired upon by an Indian lying in wait. The
ball passed through his arm, and he immediately started
to run to his cabin. The savage ran after him and al-
most suceeeded in overtaking him at his own door. In
dttempting to kill him before he entered the house the
Indian, using his gun as a club, brought it down against
the logs of the house with such force that the stock was
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shattered. Mrs. Flesher succeeded in pulling her hus-
band into the house, and then scared the Indian away
by calling upon the other men in the house to fire. The
family spent the night in the woods, fearing a renewal
of the assault. There is a tradition that Mrs. Flesher
carried her husband into a thicket near the house and
spent the night under the widespread limbs of a syca-
more which stood at the mouth of Stone Coal creek.
The next morning she met John Schoolcraft, who sum-
moned help from West’s fort. Another account states
that a young woman of the family reached Hacker’s
creek the next morning and that the remainder of the
family were guided into West’s fort by Edward Hughes.
The Flesher family and young Butcher remained at
West’s fort until the near approach of winter made it
unlikely that any savages were in the vicinity, when they
returned to their home.

In December, 1787, occurred perhaps the most
frightful of the Indian outrages perpetrated in Lewis
County; and for sheer barbarity and brutality its equal
is scarcely to be found in any of the border annals.
Earlier in the fall the Indians had come into the valley
of the West Fork above Clarksburg and had stolen some
horses. Their trail was followed by Sheriff Lowther,
who overtook them at the mouth of the Little Kanawha
river. Three Indians were killed and the stolen property
recovered. The Indians never believed the whites justi-
fied in killing them to punish plundering and they made
swift reprisal—as usual directed against the innocent and
the helpless. The war party was accompanied by Leon-
ard Schoolcraft who had been taken captive some years
before at Bush’s fort. The settlers, believing that they
were safe from attack owing to the lateness of the sea-

son, did not take the precautions usual at other times of
the year.

The Indians came upon Martha Hughes, a daughter
of Jesse Hughes, not far from her father’s home and
took her a prisoner. Proceeding farther some of them

;
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came upon Edmund West, Sr., while he was engaged in
bringing in his fodder. He was caught unawares and
could not make any resistance. Upon being led to the
spot where Martha Hughes was being held by the In-
dians, he fell upon his knees and begged that they would
spare his life. A stroke of the tomahawk answered the
plea. The party then went to the cabin of Edmund
West, Jr., where they found his bride of a few months,
his 12-year-old brother and Mrs. West’s sister, a daugh-
ter of John Hacker. Mrs. West and the boy were im-
mediately tomahawked. The girl took refuge behind a
door. A savage aimed a blow at her head, but she
dodged and the tomahawk took effect in her neck,
wounding her severely. She had presence of mind to
fall to the floor and lie as if dead. The savages then
sat down at the table and ate a hearty meal, the little
girl silently observing them all the time. At the close
of the meal they scalped Mrs. West and the boy and
Plundered the house, even emptying the feathers to
carry off the ticking. They then dragged the Hacker
girl by the hair to a fence about fifty yards from the
abin where she was scalped and thrown over it.
Schoolcraft, noticing some signs of life, observed, “That
1s not enough ;”” whereupon the savage thrust a knife into
her sige. Fortunately the knife came into contact with
arib and did little injury.

Meanwhile old Mrs. West who was alone with her
tWo daughters became uneasy when her husband failed
t0 return. She feared that he had fallen into the hands
of Indians, as she could not account for his continued
absence in any other way. They went to Alexander
West's in the hope of finding old Mr. West and to give

M warning. Alexander West was then on a hunting
D with his brother Edmund. The women, now thor-
O%hly frightened, went to the home of Jesse Hughes,
w_hO had become alarmed by that time at the failure of
his daughter to return home. He determined to wamn
the neighbors to be on their guard. Knowing that Ed-
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mund West, Jr.,, was not at home he went first to the
house to remove Mrs. West to his own home. The
ghastly scene which met his eyes at the West home—
Mrs. West and the boy weltering in their blood and not
yet dead—confirmed all his fears. Hughes determined
to protect his own family, and he barricaded his house
and watched all through the night. As soon as it was
possible to venture forth a party was collected to deter-
mine the full extent of the tragedy. Mrs. West was
found dead in her home; she had probably lived but a
few minutes after Hughes had left. The boy was found
standing in the creek about a mile from the West cabin.
His skull was fractured and the brains were oozing
from his head; yet he lived in extreme suffering for
three days.” The Hacker girl was found in bed at the
cabin of Edmund West, Sr., where she had taken refuge
after a night spent in the woods. She survived, grew
to maturity, married, gave birth to ten children and
died from a nasal hemorrhage caused, it was believed,
by the wound she had received in 1787. Martha Hughes
was ransomed by her father in 1790.

It seems that for once no attempt at pursuit was
made against the Indians who had taken part in the
murder at West's. There is a tradition to the effect
that the warrior who stabbed the Hacker girl was after-
wards killed when he ventured back to the settlement.
He was disemboweled, according to the traditionary ac-
count, and the body was filled with sand and sunk in
Hacker’s creek.

In August 1789, some Indians came to the house of
John Mack on a branch of Hacker’s creek. The hus-
band and two of the little girls were away from home;
but the savages killed all the other members of the
family and set fire to the house.

A year later, the cabin of John Bush on Freeman's
creek was besieged by the Indians. Late in the even-
ing, 24 August 1790, Bush became alarmed at the
screams of his children who had been sent to drive the
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cattle home, and started with his gun to learn the cause
of the trouble. He was met at the door by an Indian
who deftly disarmed him and shot him with his own gun.
Bush fell across his threshold. The savage drew his
knife to scalp him, but at that moment Mrs. Bush ap-
peared upon the scene and sank an ax into the back
of the Indian’s shoulder with such force that when he
fell away the ax came off the handle. She then pulled
her husband into the house and shut the door. Other
Indians came up, and after attempting for some time
to force the door open, they began shooting through it.
Eleven bullets passed through the clothing of Mirs.
Bush, but fortunately she remained unhurt. One of the
savages attempted to shoot through a crack in the wall
at her, but with another ax she bent the barrel of his
gun. The Indian is said to have exclaimed “dern you.”
At this juncture the Indians were frightened away.
Adam Bush, who lived nearby, determined to find out
?’hat the trouble was at the home of John, and to aid him
if Nnecessary. The noise made by the dogs which ac-
¢Ompanied him in crossing a small stream, led the In-
diang to believe that a large party was coming to the
relief of Bush and they withdrew. A party from the
neighborhood was organized for the pursuit, who came
S0 nearly upon the Indians at the mouth of the Little

Nawha river that they were forced to abandon seven
horses they had stolen from the settlement before their
attack on Bush.

About the middle of May, 1792, Tecumseh led an ex-
Pe’dition of Shawnees against the settlements on Hack-
¢S creek. He evidently feared to make an attack on
ANy of the houses in the more thickly settled portions
of the valley, and led the men to Jesse’s run where they
(ame, late in the evening, to the clearing of John Wag-
Eoner, He was discovered sitting on a log resting, with

a handspike across his knees. Tecumseh sent the other
Members of the band to secure those within the house
while he should attend to Waggoner. The future Brit-
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ish general was either under the impression that the
handspike was a gun or he was excited at the prospect
of securing a scalp. His aim was wide, though his in-
tended victim was a large man in plain view, and the
distance was not more than thirty or forty yards. Wag-
goner immediately sprang up, and seeing Indians at the
house, ran in the opposite direction, followed at an ever
increasing interval by Tecumseh, until the young chief
finally gave up the chase.

Meanwhile the Shawnees who had gone to the
house found a small boy in the yard and killed and
scalped him, after which they took Mrs. Waggoner and
her six other children prisoners. On being rejoined by
Tecumseh they set off with all possible speed to place

the Ohio river between them and any pursuers who
might take up the trail. Finding that the smallest boy
impeded their progress they beat out his brains and took
his scalp before they had gone more than a mile. A
short distance farther on they killed and scalped Mrs.
Waggoner and two others of her children and from that
time forth they made all possible speed to get out of the
country. So great was their fear of retaliatory vengeance
at the hands of the whites that the party did not even
stop to secure food until after they had crossed the Ohio
and were well within the Indian country.

Waggoner went to the cabin of Hardman, a neigh-
bor, to secure a gun as quickly as he could, but the
latter was out hunting at the time with the only gun in
the possession of the family. Jesse Hughes was com-
municated with and he ran to West’s fort, organized a
pursuing party, and took up the trail. The pursuit was
unsuccessful.

A local tradition states that the Indians in the
party numbered but three and that they had lain in a
ravine near West’s fort all the day before while a relig-
ious meeting was in progress in the fort. The dogs
within barked furiously at them and ran toward the
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ravine, trying to lead the settlers, but no attention was
paid to them.

The number of successful incursions by the Indians
and the utter futility of stopping their outrages by pur-
suing them as far as the Ohio river whenever they made
their presence known, was by this time apparent.
Colonel Duvall was not slow in realizing the strategical
importance of the mouth of the Little Kanawha river,
and before the year 1785 he had sent a party of scouts
to see that a fort was built and properly garrisoned there.
In the same year Captain James Neal settled on the
southern side of the two rivers. From that time on
Neal’s station became the first line of defense for the
settlements along the West Fork. From that point as
a center the scouts ranged the woods on the Virginia
side of the river and occasionally crossed into the North-
west territory observing the country carefully for indi-
aations of Indians, and if any were found, reporting them
without delay by swift runners to the exposed settle-
ments. In this way the military authorities were able
to warn the inhabitants to go into places of safety
where they could make better resistance to the attack
if one were made. When Indians succeeded in getting
Past the scouts at Neal’s station and first made their
Presence known by plundering and murdering in the
settlements, the scouts could intercept them on their
Tetreat. So effectual was the plan that later parties of
Indians who ventured into the settlement on the West
Fork, generally came by way of Middle Island creek
until the mouth of that stream was also guarded.

From 1786, the Ohio line of defense proved in-

creasingly strong. In that year Fort Harmar was built
at the mouth of the Muskingum. In 1788 General Rufus
Putnam’s colony of New Englanders came down the
Ohio and settled at Marietta. The next year a settle-
Ment was made at the mouth of the Little Miami river
Just above the bottom where Cincinnati was afterwards
built In 1790, the settlements had spread to the in-
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terior twenty miles above Marietta. It was not long
until the national government sent several regiments of
regulars into the Northwest territory to protect the set-
tlers against the Indians. After the establishment of
the Ohio settlements the people there became the main
object of the savages, who were being constantly urged
on to murder and plunder. Isolated attacks were, how-
ever, still being made in western Virginia by the now
infuriated savages. Colonel Duvall stated in 1791 that
the idea of federal troops being a protection to the set-
tlers was “only a shadow without substance.”

In 1792 the command of the militia of Harrison and
Randolph counties again passed into the able hands of
Colonel Lowther, after he had served Harrison County
as sheriff. He reported to the governor that he had un-
der him “ one Insign, two Sergeants, two Corprils, and
forty privates.” He had also appointed four scouts, of
whom he had stationed two at the mouth of the Little
Kanawha river and the others along the West Fork.
He divided his men into four detachments with one
sergeant and eleven men at the mouth of the Little
Kanawha and the others at Flesher's Station, now Wes-
ton, Salem and the mouth of Ten Mile creek. Adam
Flesher (called a captain in the traditional account) had
charge of the Weston station, and under him in the
beginning were Peter Bonnett, Samuel Bonnett, Louis
Bonnett, Jacob Starcher, Thomas Short, Joseph Glan-
field and Peter McKensie. The Buckhannon settlement
was then being garrisoned by Randolph County militia.

he men who had seen service in preceding years
had not received their pay and consequently Colonel
Lowther had considerable difficulty in enlisting a suffi-
cient force. Subsequently Captain James Wood came
to the west to inspect the condition of affairs and to sug-
gest changes. His determined action infused new cour-
age into the people. Colonel Lowther was given com-
mand of the Monongahela district including all of north-
western Virginia. The disposition which he made of his-
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troops was changed only slightly, the force at Neal’s

station being a little more than doubled and the garrison

o the upper West Fork being placed near the mouth

% Freeman’s creek instead of at Flesher’s station. The
named change was not permanent.

No Indian forays were made in the year 1793 into
What is now Lewis County. A settlement made by the
Carpenters on the Elk river in what is now Braxton
County was completely broken up. One family was
murdered and the others, owing to the fact that their
numbers were too small to cope with the savages, moved
to the West Fork. Jesse Hughes afterwards avenged
the murder of the Carpenter family by killing the two
Indians concerned. He took strips of skin from their
backs from which he made razor strops.

In 1794 as Joseph Cox, a trapper, was riding down
Leading creek for a load of furs which he had left at
the mouth of the creek the fall before, he unexpectedly
Game upon a small party of Indians in a defile. He im-
Mediately wheeled his horse and applied the whip, but
the animal became balky and would not move. Cox
Was captured and taken.beyond the Ohio, but he escaped
the same year.

On July 24 of the same year they took prisoner the
daughter of John Runyon near the mouth of Freeman’s
treek. Two of the savages were detailed to conduct
ber to the Indian villages, but after going about ten
miles, they tomahawked and scalped her. The other
fOﬂr attacked the house of William Carder which stood
Just below the mouth of Lost Creek, but were frightened
away.

A few days later while proceeding toward the head
of Hacker’s creek by the ridge on one side of it, the In-
dians were attracted to the swimming hole just above
the mouth of Little Stone Coal creek by the shouts of
four sons of Jacob Cozad who were bathing. The In-
diang cautiously approached the place and took all four
of the boys prisoners. The youngest boy, Benny, aged
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six, began to cry piteously for his mother and could not
be hushed. One of the warriors seized him by the heels
and dashed his brains out against the roots of a beech
tree, The others of the party climbed the ridge and
proceeded westward. The oldest boy, Jacob, hoping to
attract the attention of the settlers, gave a prolonged
whoop when the party had reached the summit, but he
was immediately knocked senseless by a blow from a
gun barrel. When he regained consciousness he was
being dragged up the hill by one foot by a squaw, ac-
cording to his later statement. The party encamped
that night on the West Fork near the spot where Ed-
ward Jackson’s mill was afterwards built. The Indians
escaped pursuit. After the peace made with the whites
in 1795 the three boys were returned by their captors.

The prolonged stay of this small party in the West
Fork valley and the great amount of damage done pro-
duced a panic among the settlers. In order to prevent
the people from abandoning their habitations Colonel
Lowther felt impelled to grant them a guard of men and
two scouts. One Indian was killed, another was
wounded and the scalp of the Runyon girl was recovered
in an attack made later in the year by Colonel Lowther’s
rangers.

The next year, 1795, the last Indian outrage was
perpetrated in northwestern Virginia. The trail of a
party of Indians going up Leading creek was discovered
and all the settlements were notified. The settlers on
the Buckhannon who had not suffered from Indian
raids for ten years, failed to heed the warning. As a
result of their carelessness several members of the Bo-
zarth family were killed. .

Some time afterwards the last Indian killed in
Lewis County is said to have been shot by Henry
Flesher as he was trying to escape by climbing up the
west bank of the river near the mouth of Polk creek,

The issue between the whites and the Indians was
decided far away on the plains of northwestern Ohio at
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the battle of Fallen Timbers. There General “Mad An-
thony” Wayne, at the head of an army of 2,000 regu-
lars, went into battle with the flower of the tribes of the
northwest who had chosen their positions with remarka-
ble strategic insight. The Indians were unable to with-
stand the rush of the first line of the whites, and they
gave way in confusion. The Shawnees sued for peace,
followed by all the tribes of the northwest. By the
treaty of Greenville, 1795, they agreed to give up all
their lands in what is now Ohio with the exception of a
strip in the northern part of the state.

The Indians remained peaceful for several years
until another forward movement of the settlers induced
them to take up arms again. The later wars were
waged at such a distance from the West Fork valley
that the inhabitants knew of them only by reports that
reached them from the frontier. The settlements which
had been maintained through nearly twenty years of
incessant Indian warfare were at last free to expand
without fear of further massacres.



CHAPTER VII.

THE BEGINNING OF LAW AND ORDER

The lawless state of the country during the first
few years of the settlement of Lewis County has been
alluded to briefly in other chapters. It is now proposed
to show how the legal processes of England and America
took the place of community remonstrances, and became
the basis of united action. It was the year 1779 before
the Virginia legislature was made to realize that it had
not incorporated all the inhabited Trans-Alleghany ter-
ritory into Trans-Alleghany counties. From an over-
sight due to the lack of geographical knowledge, the
region now contained in Harrison and Lewis counties
was still included in Augusta County, which paid little
or no attention to the life and death struggle with the
Indians which was being waged in its western marches.
In the absence of other authority, Monongalia County
exercised jurisdiction over the whole West Fork valley.
Petitions for the formal inclusion of the region in that
county which were presented to the General Assem-
bly in 1779 resulted in the extension of the boundaries
of the county to include all the territory drained by the
Monongahela and its branches and nearly all that drain-
ed by the Little Kanawha.

The territory included in the new county was far
larger than that of some of the states lying on the east-
ern coast. It extended from the Maryland boundary
westward to the Ohio river, and from the headwaters of
the Elk river almost to Pittsburgh. The seat of jus-
tice was first at Fort Redstone, afterward at Morgan-
town. By far the largest part of the population at first
lived on that part of the Monongahela valley now in-
cluded in the state of Pennsylvania. Most of the inter-
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ests of the governing authorities of the county werg in
that section. Later it was in the district immediately
surrounding the court house at Morgantown.

The southern part of the county, embracing the
headwaters of the West Fork and the Tygart’s Valley
rivers was far from the county seat and separated from
the other settlements by a comparatively unsettled re-
gion where the land was more rugged and where wide
river bottoms did not exist. The enormous extent of
the county resulted in considerable difficulty in the ad-
ministration of justice. The settlers at West’s fort and
other places were at great inconvenience in attending
court, and the officials of the county were at equal diffi-
culty in collecting taxes, levying on property and ar-
resting violators of the law.

Under the circumstances it was inevitable that be-
fore long there should be agitation for the division of
the county. A strong memorial was presented to the
General Assembly by residents of the upper valleys.
The representatives from Monongalia County did not
appear to object to the division, and in 1784, the south-
ern part of the county was formed into the county of
Harrison. The boundaries of the new counties were as
follows: beginning at the point where Ford fork crosses
the Maryland boundary; thence by a straight line to the
headwaters of Big Sandy creek; thence down Big Sandy
creek and the Tygart’s Valley river to the mouth of
West Fork; thence up West Fork and Bingamon creek
to its source; thence with the ridges separating the
waters of the Monongahela from the Ohio to the head
of Middle Island creek; thence with that creek to the
Ohio. On the east the county was bounded by the ridge
separating the Potomac from the Monongahela drain-
age basin; and on the south the line extended from the
point on the ‘Alleghany Mountains where Rockingham
and Botetourt counties meet, north fifty-five degrees
west to the Ohio river, a distance of 10834 miles. The
area of the county was not much less than 4,000 square
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miles, and the population in 1784 is estimated to have
been about 2,000.

The act providing for the formation of the new
county specified that the justices to be named in the
commission of the peace should meet at the house of
George Jackson, near Bush’s old fort, to take the oath
of office, select a site for the court house, and transact

. other business. The location was probably chosen be-
cause it was midway between the settlements of the
upper Tygart’s Valley and those of the West Fork.
In the discussion as to the permanent location of the
county seat, most of the justices objected to Bush’s fort.
The settlers in that vicinity were not numerous, and the
location probably pleased none of the justices, the ma-
jority of whom were residents of the prosperous com-
munity around Nutter’s fort. This fact probably de-
termined the location of the county seat at Clarksburg.

At the first session of court held, 20 July 1784, the
justices recommended persons suitable for appointment
for the offices of surveyor, heads of the militia, coroner,
and justices of the peace to the Governor of the Com-
monwealth. They also appointed constables and view-
ers and overseers of the roads. A grand jury was sum-
moned, a mill seat established, a donation of lots ac-
cepted for the court house and jail, and one civil suit
was brought before the court adjourned. John Sleeth,
a resident of Hacker’s creek, was recommended for ap-
pointment as justice of the peace and for authorization
to celebrate the rites of matrimony. John Runyon,
whose cabin stood not far from the mouth of Freeman's
creek, was one of the constables. The civil suit was
brought by John Hacker against Elijah Stout for “de-
taining said Hacker out of his landed rights.”

The duties of the county courts were many and
varied. From the year 1623 the county courts of Vir-
ginia were supreme in the county government, in both
_administrative and judicial affairs.
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The county court was composed of all the justices
of the peace in the county, who were appointed by the
governor. No new justices were appointed without the
recommendation of the justices already sitting, and the
body thus became self-perpetuating and all-powerful.
The important office of sheriff was filled by appointment
by the governor, but the justices recommended three
freeholders for the office from among whom the ap-
pointment was made. It was the custom of the county
court to recommend three of their own number, and the
office was handed around among them according to
seniority. With the system of fees then in force, one or
two years incumbency in the sheriffalty was sufficient
to lay the foundations for the fortune of the holder. All
the other officers of the county were either recommend-
ed by the court for appointment by the Governor, or
were appointed outright. The only officers elected un-
der this democratic (?) system of local government were
overseers of the poor and the delegates to the legisla-
ture.

The court also possessed real judicial functions.
The county court was the only tribunal in Harrison
County for fifteen years after its formation. It settled
small disputes, punished breaches of the peace and es
tablished law and order throughout the county.

As might be expected the administrative functions
of the county government were altogether in the hands
of the court. It laid out roads, established mills, built
bridges, granted licenses, levied and collected taxes,
recorded deeds, wills and mortgages, erected public
buildings, exercised a general guardianship over orphans
and fixed prices at taverns besides a host of other mat-
ters too numerous to mention.

The authority to license establishments presupposes
the right to regulate; and the right to regulate at that
time included the right to fix prices. The court at its
first meeting licensed one or two ordinaries or taverns,
and proceeded to fix rates for liquors, victuals and for-
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age for horses. Beer was to be sold for twelve cents a
quart, and rye whiskey, cider and apple and peach
brandy were the same for one-half pint. A warm break-
fast cost nine pence, or eighteen cents, a warm dinner,
one shilling, or twenty-four cents and a warm supper
nine pence. A bed for one night with clean sheets was
four pence (eight cents). The custom of fixing prices
at ordinaries continued for many years after the forma-
tion of Lewis County, the schedule of rates being re-
vised at intervals.

The assessors who had been appointed by the Har-
rison County court had a much easier task than the as-
sessor has nowadays. At the June term, 1785, the court
entered an order that a list of all the whites and of all
the buildings should be taken by the assessors, in order
that the court could proceed with the business of laying
alevy. The total of the whole county, comprising, with
few exceptions, only the valleys of the Tygart’s Valley
and the West Fork, was 318. John Sleeth, of Hacker’s
creek, was appointed to make a list of all those residing
“from the mouth of Lost creek, upwards, including the
whole of the livers in the West Fork settlement.” The
district included all the territory in Lewis County that
was then inhabited, and also the settlements on Lost
creek and above West Milford on the river. The whole
list is as follows.

Alex West John Richard
Matthew Richards John Brown

Conrad Richards Jacob Cozad

Jacob Harleson John Waggoner
James Sleath Jacob Bush

Thomas Doyle McCune Abraham

Elizah —— John Huggle

John Runyon Henry Flesher
Joseph Kester Christen Harrison
Samuel Norris Jesse Huse (Hughes)
Ebenezer Haley Alex. Sleeth

Samuel Bonet George Collins
Joseph Crozan Edmund West, Constable
Thomas Hughes James Schoolcraft
Daniel Cane Adam O'Brien

James Campbell Elias Huse (Hughes)
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William Hannan John Collins

David Wales Sleeth George Brush (Bush)
John Sleeth John Hacker

Adam Bush Richard Clark
Joseph —M8M8M8M8 — Edmond West

Isaac —M8M —— Joel Lowther

James Tanner

Even before the completion of the enumeration the
court directed that the sheriff should collect from
“every tithable in this County 2s. 6d., being the County
levy for the year 1784, and pay the same as directed by
the proportions.” There was no property tax collected
at that period, only a poll tax on males over 21. The
amount of the tax for 1784, reckoned in terms of dollars
and cents, was 4114 cents on each individual. The ex-
penses of the county government were not large, being
confined at first to the erection of the public buildings.
Roads were worked by the tithables, who may on that
account be said to have paid an additional poll tax in
labor. The justices of the peace received no salaries,
but they had considerable fees and an occasional turn
at the sheriffalty.

The first care of the county court was to provide
for public buildings. A court house thirty-six by twen-
ty-six feet set eight feet above the ground, was con-
tracted for. John Prunty undertook to build a jail for
£19 15s.,, and Daniel Davisson was to erect the whip-
ping post, pillory and one pair of stocks for £5 19s. 11d.
All were completed by 1789.

Just how primitive the justice established in Har-
rison County was in the beginning may be inferred from
some of the records of the court in the latter part of the
eighteenth century. A female prisoner convicted of
felonious taking was given ten lashes on her bare back
in 1788. In the same year a man was convicted of hav-
ing stolen an ax, a hat and a pair of stockings. The
court ordered “that the sheriff immediately tie the pris-
oner to the public whipping post and give him thirty-
nine lashes well laid on & deliver him to David Hughes
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Constable” who should deliver him to the next consta-
ble and so on until he was conveyed out of the county.
In 1791 John Jackson was given a verdict by a jury in
a slander case, but the damages were fixed by the jury
at only seven shillings. Jackson demanded a new trial
on the ground that the sheriff had conveyed apple
brandy to the jury in a tea-pot while they were engaged
in considering the case, and that the jury drank it. The
motion was granted, and all twelve of the jurymen were
fined twelve shillings each. In John Hacker’s lawsuit
concerning a tract of land, a jury of twelve men was
summoned to appear on the land and inquire into and
settle the bounds between the claimants.

In 1795 a prisoner entered the plea of guilty to a
charge of felonious assault. While the members of the
court were discussing whether the prisoner should be
tried by the district court, the prisoner escaped. The
sheriff was ordered by the court to raise the “hue and
cry” and command assistance to take him. The same
year Sheriff John Prunty objected because the court
called a witness without having a subpoena issued, thus
cheating the sheriff out of his fee. In the old record book
is to be found a full account of the proceedings that fol-
lowed: “Ordered that the said John Prunty be con-
fined in the stocks for the space of five minutes” * * *
for his “damming the Court and the attorney who was
there supporting the client’s claim, and the whole bunch.
The Court and the attorney was D——d fools and a set
of d——d scoundrels.” After being released he again
showed disrespect and was confined for the remainder of
the day. The court bound him over to keep the peace.
After spending some time in jail bond for his good be-
havior was obtained. Attempts of the court to oust him
later were unsuccessful.

In spite of the crudeness of the administration of
justice the establishment of the courts was a good thing
for the people of the community. The substitution of
orderly government for mob rule was the beginning of
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real social progress on the upper reaches of the Monon-
gahela. .

Above the county court was the district court, which
was organized in 1785. Judges of the General court
were detailed to hold court twice a year in each of the
districts into which the state was divided. The sessions
for the district in which Harrison county was included
were generally held at Morgantown. Circuit courts su-
perseded the district courts in 1809, and two sessions
were held each year in each county.

The new county government began at once to look
after the interests of the people. Means of communica-
tion were most needed in the settlements, and many or-
ders were passed within the first two or three years fol-
lowing the formation of the county providing for the lo-
cation of new roads. The first order of the Harrison
County court dealt with territory afterwards a part of
Lewis County: “Ordered that the road from Richards’
Fort be extended by Edmund West’s mill to John Hack-
er's the nearest and best way.: Nicholas Carpenter,
Isaac Richards and David Sleeth be appointed to view
and lay out such road and make report to the next Court
- to be held for this County is hereby revived.” The fol-
lowing year a road was ordered opened from Clarks-
burg to the Flesher settlement at the mouth of Stone
Coal creek. Other roads were opened at a later period
to all the settled portions of the new county: Though
they were mere dirt trails, often no more than pathways
through the woods, they represented some advance in
communication and a great advance in community con-
sciousness, because they were public property, owned
and operated by the public.

One of the most important offices in the county
during the first four or five decades of its history was the
land office. It was opened almost immediately upon
the establishment of the county government. As soon
as the surveyor was qualified he began issuing patents
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for lands and recording surveys for homesteaders or pur-
chasers.

In direct opposition to the policy of the royal gov-
emment of the colonies in attempting to restrict settle-
ments to the fringe along the Atlantic coast, the State
of Virginia did all in its power to encourage settlers to
make their homes west of the mountains, both to assure
her hold on the territory for future occupancy and to
provide outposts for defense against the British and In-
dians, who, if they succeeded in crossing the Allegha-
nies, would be able to strike at the vitals of the common-
wealth. In order to make it worth while for settlers to
cross the mountains and to hold those who had already
gone to the west, the General Assembly in 1777 passed
an act providing free land for every settler. Every per-
son who had secured a settlement right or a corn right
was to receive 400 acres with a preemption to 1,000
acres adjoining if he chose to take it. The price fixed for
the additional land was so high that few of the settlers
cared to take out preemptions. They eagerly took ad-
vantage of the opportunity to secure homesteads, many
of which were claimed on the basis merely of deadening
a few trees and planting corn. The legislature in 1779
provided that a settler must have lived on land one year
and have raised one crop of corn from it in order to be
entitled to a homestead. Few large tracts west of the
mountains had been patented up to that time.

By another provision of the act of 1777, it was pro-

~ vided that as soon as possible the land claimed as home-
steads by settlers should be patented and recorded. In
order to settle disputes which might arise between set-
tlers who had built their houses close together and who
claimed the same tracts of land, a temporary commission
was appointed with both executive and judicial powers
to determine who was rightfully entitled to the land.
The commission for the district including Monongalia,
Ohio and Youghiogheny counties was composed of John
P. Duvall, James Neal and Will Haymond. They held
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sittings at many different points throughout the dis-
trict in the summer of 1781, and issued certificates to
settlers which entitled them to enter the tracts specified
with the county surveyors.

Not all the persons who were given certificates after-
wards perfected their titles. Some sold their claims and
others failed altogether to pay attention to the matter,
preferring to be squatters on the lands of others. Many
of the lands for which certificates were issued in 1781
were surveyed in Monongalia, but in other cases the
owners waited until after the formation of Harrison
County. Before the close of the year 1784, the surveyor’s
office of the new county Rad returned as surveyed and
entered no less than eighty tracts. In 1785, 960 surveys
were made, and the next year the number was 365.

The number of surveys indicates that the country
was being filled up very fast with settlers following the
close of the Revolution, and such was, in fact, the case,
but the tide of immigration was not nearly so great as
indicated by the number of tracts surveyed. In some
cases they represented the patenting of lands by wealthy
capitalists in Boston, in New Jersey, or in eastern Vir-
ginia, who had purchased large tracts of land from the
state and who hoped later to sell the lands to settlers at
a profit. The act of 1779 had fixed the price at forty
pounds per hundred acres, which proved to be beyond
the ability of the hunter-trapper-farmer of the frontier to
pay. In 1792 the price was reduced to the merely nom-
inal charge of two cents per acre.

Some of the tracts sold under both acts were very
large—for instance, the Pickering survey of 100,000 acres
made in 1785, lying on the headwaters of the West Fork
and the Little Kanawha rivers, and the Banks survey,
equally large, which was located at about the same time
on the watershed of the Little Kanawha river, lying part-
ly in Lewis and partly in Gilmer counties. After the
price of land was reduced in 1792 thousands of acres of
land were entered, embracing practically the whole area
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of the state. Often a large survey would include the
homesteads of settlers, or lands claimed by other large
holders, and the result was a series of lawsuits which
began almost with the establishment of the courts in the
Trans-Alleghany region and continued until long after
the formation of West Virginia.

Henry Jackson was one of the most widely known

surveyors of Western Virginia during this period. He
went into the forests with only one or two assistants and
surveyed thousands of acres. Often the work was not
done thoroughly, as in the case of the Banks survey
which he completed far from the spot, after having been
compelled to flee for his life from the Indians. The only
data which he had secured was his beginning corner,
from which it could be seen that the boundary line of
the survey would cross Leading creek three times.

The political beliefs and opinions of the people of
Harrison County during the eighteenth century were
not difficult to determine. During the Revolution, with
few exceptions, they espoused the cause of independence,
and against heavy odds defended the frontiers of Vir-
ginia. After the close of the war they had some bitter
experiences with the delays of the state government in
the Indian wars, which caused them to favor the estab-
lishment of a national government strong enough to
cope with the Indians. George Jackson, who was sent
by the citizens of Harrison County to represent them
in the state convention of 1788 to consider the proposed
constitution of the United States, voted in favor of rati-
fication. His experience in the Indian wars and his na-
tional patriotism caused him to disregard the claims of
eastern politicians who favored a loose confederation.
He truly represented the political opinion of his constit-
uents, .

Though politically coherent, Harrison County was
not a geographical unit. Diverse elements came into ex-
istence almost with the formation of the county. The
fixing of the county seat at Clarksburg was almost as
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much of an inconvenience for the people of the upper
Tygart’s Valley section as the former location at Mor-
gantown. The people of that section were almost as
well off before the formation of the new county. The
objection early took form, and three years after the cre-
ation of Harrison, an act of the General Assembly was
passed cutting off all that portion of the county east of
the Tygart’s Valley and Buckhannon rivers and estab-
lishing it as the county of Randolph.

Both sections were gainers by the separation. On
the one hand the people of Randolph were able to trans-
act their legal business without the inconvenience of a
long journey to the county seat; on the other hand the
people of the West Fork watershed were relieved from
the burden of having to share the expenses of govern-
ment with a section which lagged in its development as
compared with the more favored valleys toward the Ohio.
Henceforth the officials of Harrison County could devote
their whole attention to the more and more complex
problems of making the administrative machinery keep
pace with the rapid course of development of the county.

The settlements near the mouth of the Little Ka-
nawha river, which began about the time of the close of
the Revolution, developed rapidly in their favored loca-
tions on the rich Ohio river bottoms in contiguity to the
New Englanders who had settled around Marietta. The
likelihood of a further rapid increase all along the Vir-
ginia side of the Ohio river made it clear that a separate
county government would be necessary within a short
time, especially since the new center of settlement was
separated from the court house at Clarksburg by a wide
expanse of unbroken forest. The General Assembly in
1799 formed Wood County from parts of Harrison and
Kanawha. The new county was a narrow strip extend-
ing all the way from the Great Kanawha river to Middle
Island creek.

After the cutting off of the Ohio river settlements,
the inhabited portions of Harrison County formed a fair-
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ly homogeneous district, embracing most of the valley
of the West Fork river from Buffalo creek in what is
now Marion County to Bulltown. The most thickly set-
tled portion of the county was around Clarksburg, on
Elk creek, Simpson’s creek, Lost creek and the country
along the West Fork river. Few settlements had been
made along the Little Kanawha or its tributaries, and
the West Fork settlements had not extended far enough
southward to make Clarksburg inconvenient as the coun-
ty seat. The population of Harrison County in 1790

was 2,080.

NOTE—The author is indebted to Colonel Henry Haymond's Hutory
of Harrison County for many of the facts set forth in regard to the
formation of Harrison County.



CHAPTER VIII.
ECONOMIC BEGINNINGS

We have seen how the settlers on the western
frontier of Virginia maintained their position in spite
of the raids and depredations of the Indian allies of Great
Britain during the Revolution, and more than held their
own against the raids for twelve years afterwards until
the troops of the federal government defeated them and
compelled them to sign a treaty of peace. The deeds of
the Hugheses, the Wests, the Jacksons, and a host of
other heroes in the desperate struggle with the Indians
have been handed down by a grateful people who owed
the peaceful possession of their lands to their efforts.
We have also seen. the establishment of justice and traced
the beginnings of law and order in the settlements of
the upper Monongahela valley. Colonel Lowther, John
P. Duvall, David Sleeth and others had a great share in
the movement and the records in the court house at
Clarksburg show how important their work was for the
future of Hackers’ creek and the surrounding region.

There were other pioneers in the region whose deeds
have been forgotten for want of a chronicler, and whose
very names would be lost if they had not been recorded
in connection with the entry of homesteads or the pur-
chase of land, or as having been appointed to view the
location of a proposed road, or summoned to give evi-
dence before a grand jury. These obscure citizens were
the ones whose humble efforts finally brought about civ-
ilized institutions in place of the primeval forest. Their
collective endeavors have made Lewis County what it is.

William Powers, Indian fighter, justice of the peace
and chronicler of the events of the stirring years of the
Indian wars, is said to have made the statement that in
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his opinion the settlers west of the mountains did not in-
tend to remain permanently, but would leave when the
game became exhausted. He believed that the soil of
the county would not support a white population for
any length of time. Others were of the same opinion.
They thought that certain fields would bring crops for
a certain number of years, and that other fields would
bring a greater or less number, according to the lay of
the land. The possibility of raising live stock on a com-
mercial scale did not apparently present itself as a basis
for prosperity in after years. The growing of grain and
fruit in large quantities for distant markets was not to
be considered without means of transportation better
than any known at the beginning of the eighteenth cen-
tury. The presence of hidden treasures of petroleum
and natural gas was unsuspected. Bituminous coal
(called by the settlers stone coal to distinguish it from
charcoal) was known to exist in the valley of the upper
West Fork and some of its tributaries, but it was ap-
parently not much used for fuel by the earliest comers.
If any one had suggested that some day it could profita-
bly be mined and transported to a seaboard market he
would have been considered eligible for transportation
to a seaboard lunatic asylum.

The principal industries of the pioneers were hunt-
ing and trapping. Agriculture was in a very elementary
state—so elementary, in fact, that it can not be consid-
ered in any other light than as a means of maintaining
existence. After the close of the Indian wars many of
the settlers came because they had been attracted by the
land and intended to make improvements, raise larger
crops, breed live stock and gain wealth from the produce
of their farms and from the increased value of the land
which would follow the expected rush of settlement and
the gradual improvement of the country.

It was the settler’s first care after locating his claim
and building a cabin, to clear a small tract of land where
he could raise a crop of corn and some vegetables to re-
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inforce and balance the supply of wild meat which needed
only to be sought in the woods with a gun. Most of the
clearings were made by grubbing the bushes and sap-
lings and chopping and burning the smaller trees. The
monarchs of the primeval forest were deadened by gird-
ling them with an ax or by building fires at their bases.
It was impracticable to clear the land in any other way,
for the labor of chopping the larger trees would have
been too great for the pioneer farmers. The deadened
trees were sometimes allowed to stand in the clearings
for several years until the danger of limbs falling upon
the stock or on the corn fields became too great; they
were then generally destroyed by piling logs or smalle:
pieces of wood at their bases and setting them on fire.
Often dead trees continued to burn for several days. The
smaller trees at the edges of the clearing were not burned,
but were split in halves or fourths and used to make rail
fences to keep out the stock. Usually the fences needed
to be heavier than now. The high bottoms of the streams
and the flats were cleared first because the land there
was more fertile than elsewhere, and there was no dan-
ger of the crops being destroyed by floods.

When the ground had been cleared and burned over
it was stirred lightly with a shovel plow, an implement
made often with a forked sapling for a stock and a small
piece of iron rudely fashioned, for the point. The han-
dles were fastened to the stock with wooden pins. The
horse was hitched to the plow by means of grape vines
tied with thongs to hames made from stumps of large
ash trees, and the hames fitted around a buckskin collar
stuffed with fibers of linden wood. The cormn was drop-
ped by hand and covered with a hoe. [t was cultivated
by plowing with the shovel plow and then cutting the
weeds around the hills of corn with a hoe—a laborious
process which has survived from pioneer days in most
parts of the county. The early corn fields were hoed
more often than not by the women and children of the
family. There were no crop failures unless wild animals.
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or live stock broke into the enclosures and destroyed the
crops. In spite of the poor quality of the seed planted
the yields compared favorably with crops produced on
the same fields today. The crops were gathered and
hauled to the houses of the pioneers on sleds.

Corn was the staple food of the pioneers. No other
grain was raised for many years. When the settlers
came across the mountains without having raised a crop
of corn they were obliged to subsist throughout the
spring and summer without breadstuffs. Dr. Joseph
Doddridge, whose father brought him to the west when
he was a mere boy, wrote later of his experiences:
“The Indian meal which my father brought over the
mountains was expended six weeks too soon, so for that
length of time we had to live without bread. The lean
venison and the breast of wild turkey we were taught to
call bread. The flesh of the bear was denominated meat.
This artifice did not succeed very well. After living
this way for some time we became sickly, the stomach
seemed to be always empty and tormented with a sense
of hunger.

“I remember how narrowly the children watched
the growth of the potato tops, pumpkin and squash vines,
hoping from day to day to get something to answer in
the place of bread. How delicious was the taste of the
young potatoes when we got them. What a jubilee
when we were permitted to pull the young corn for roast-
ing ears. Still more so when it acquired sufficient hard-
ness to be made into ‘Johnny cakes’ by the aid of the tin
grater. We then became healthy, vigorous and content-
ed with our situation, poor as it was.”

Besides the tin grater referred to, which was merely
a piece of perforated tin affixed to a block of wood, the
corn was also prepared for hominy and bread by a mor-
tar and pestle. The mortar was usually a block from a
beech tree with a hole burned in the center, large enough
tohold a peck of grain. The pestle was a short length of
a sapling. The settlers on Hacker’s creek did not long
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have to depend upon such primitive appliances for their
meal. John Hacker, on one of his trips across the moun-
tains, is said to have brought two small buhrstones with
him. Edmund West also brought a small hand mill to
the fort and rigged it up very early to run by water
power. It is thought that this is the mill to which Isaac
Washburn had been when he was killed by the Indians
while riding toward home in the vicinity of Richards’
fort. Both mills were very crude, however. It is sup-
posed that their capacity was not much more than one
and one-half or two bushels of meal a day. Some of the
Hacker’s creek settlers may have had their grinding
" done at George Jackson’s mill on the Buckhannon, which
was in existence by 1780 or 1781. It was destroyed by
the Indians in 1782, after which time the nearest large
mill was at Clarksburg. S. Stratton was given permis-
sion to erect a mill on Hacker’s creek by a court order
made in 1785, but apparently he failed to take advantage
of it.

The first large mill in the upper West Fork valley
was built at West’s fort in 1793 by Henry McWhorter.
It was far superior to any that had thus far existed in
the Trans-Alleghany settlements. McWhorter had come
three years earlier from New Jersey where he had been
apprenticed to a miller and had received a thorough train-
ing. His mill had a capacity of only fifteen bushels of
corn a day, but it ground practically all the corn meal for
the settlers in the vicinity for several years, and finally
gave its name to the village which grew up around it.
For many years all the settlers from the Buckhannon
river valley came to McWhorter’s mill with their grists.
So also did the settlers of Lost creek and the upper one-
third of Harrison County until the establishment of
Clement’s mill at West Milford in 1800. The earliest
mills did not grind wheat or any other grain than corn.

After providing for sufficient corn to furnish bread
and hominy for his family throughout the year, the chief
agricultural interest of the pioneer was in his live stock.
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None of the farmers thought in the beginning of clear-
ing land for pasture, though most of the early comers
transported their goods to the west on the backs of
horses and drove cattle and hogs and sometimes a few
sheep before them when they first came. The live stock
were belled and turned into the open woods, where they
fed upon succulent grasses, wild pea vines and the edible
leaves of some of the trees. The horses and cattle were
allowed free range of the woods during the day, but at
night they were driven in by the children of the family
when they did not come home of their own accord. The
stealing of horses and the killing of cattle were the ob-
jects of many of the Indian raids against the settlements.
Hundreds of horses were ridden away to the Indian vil-
lages. Cattle were never stolen from the western Vir-
ginia settlements, because they could not travel fast
enough to allow the Indians to escape pursuit. Many
were killed and their carcasses left to decay on the
ground merely to gratify the destructive instincts of the
savages and to make life on the frontier intolerable for
the settlers.

Cattle were kept at first only for their milk. Their
flesh was not of such good quality as the beef raised now
in Lewis County, and besides there was plenty of bear
meat and venison which could be had for the killing.
Later, when the national government built forts along
the Ohio, the live stock industry of the upper West Fork
river received a great stimulus. The large garrisons
maintained at the forts required a supply of meat greater
than could be secured from hunting or from the farms in
the immediate vicinity. Cattle were collected from dif-
ferent parts of the West Fork valley and driven overland
from Clarksburg as early as 1790 and 1791 by way of the
new road to Neal’s station, which had been opened by
William Haymond, Sr., soon after the establishment of
Harrison County.

Until their numbers became too great for the forage,
the cattle were usually fat after ranging the woods for
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a summer season. As the herds became larger the set-
tlers sought to augment the amount of forage by going
into the woods and cutting poplar, linden and other trees
both in summer and winter. Cattle were allowed to run
out all winter, subsisting on corn fodder, browse, or
other forage. As a rule they were extremely poor in the
spring. There was no attempt to breed the cattle scien-
tifically ; indeed only scrub stock was to be found west
of the mountains in the eighteenth century. “Linebacks”
were common, as shown by old sale bills, and some of
them were good dairy cattle though they were not as a
rule good beef cattle.

Sheep raising was a necessary industry in the new
community, and it was perhaps the most discouraging of
all to the settlers. Many of the pioneers brought a few
sheep with them in order to raise wool for the manufac-
ture of cloth and yarn. The small flocks were given the
greatest possible care to prevent their being killed by
wolves. In the thinly settled districts it was impossible
for many vears to allow the sheep to run in the woods,
and they were therefore kept on clearings adjacent to
the houses of the pioneers. The depredations of the
wolves, which sometimes grew so bold as to come to the
enclosures in broad daylight and throttle the sheep at
the very doors of the cabins, always kept the number of
sheep very low. As a substitute for wool, flax was grown
on almost every farm, and the housewives of the early
day were skilled in the manufacture of coarse cloth from
it by means of the hackle and the spinning wheel.

Hogs were owned in large numbers by the pioneers.
“Hog and hominy” had an important place on the tables
of the pioneers. Pork was a welcome change from veni-
son and bear meat, especially since it was of good quality.
The hogs were always fat in the autumn from feeding
on the plentiful mast, and the flavor of the meat was
sometimes preferred to that of corn-fed hogs. Of all the
live stock of the farmers, hogs alone were able to brave
all the dangers of the forests and come out unscathed.
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For many years they were allowed to run wild. Each
owner had an old boar at the head of his drove which
would protect it against the attacks of wild animals, and
the boars, with their long tusks, were able to ward off
all comers. Instances have been known of their having
killed bears; and even men were sometimes compelled
to climb trees when charged by one of the fierce brutes.
The hogs did not seck the protection of the cabins as the
other live stock did, and often they were neglected by
their owners until different herds united, making prop-
erty in hogs exceedingly difficult to identify. Much of
the business of early county courts was in determining
law suits concerning the ownership of hogs.

To obviate the difficulty of determining ownership
the farmers adopted the practice of branding their live
stock. “A swallowfork in the right ear,” or “two notches
on the lower side of the right ear,” were marks of prom-
inent stock raisers of that day. In order to prove owner-
ship in case of a lawsuit, the mark was recorded with the
clerk of the county court.

Hunting and trapping, which had begun even before
settlements were made, long remained the principal in-
dustries of the country. From the time of John Simp-
son, adventurers penetrated into the wilderness to shoot
deer, bears and buffaloes and to trap beavers, otters and
smaller animals for their furs. Buffalo robes were in
great demand east of the mountains, and furs were eager-
ly sought by the merchants of the old world. The trap-
pers usually selected their fields of operations in the
autumn and established their camps. During the winter
they secured as many furs as they could and then left
their exposed camps in the early spring before the Indian
forays began. Their furs were hidden in a hole of water
in some stream and securely tied to prevent their being
washed away. There they would be preserved for many
months. In the summer the trappers would return to
their caches with packhorses and transport their furs to
the nearest market.
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Some were carried over the mountains to Winches-
ter on packhorses; others, and perhaps the greater num-
ber, were loaded on boats and taken to Pittsburgh where
they were sold to the fur dealers. In 1791 or 1792, a
party of hunters came to Leading creek and other
branches of the Little Kanawha river where they made
an extended hunt. They carried their spoils, consisting
of beaver skins, buffalo robes and bear skins and meat,
by canoe down the Little Kanawha river to Neal’s sta-
tion and thence up the Ohio to Marietta, where they dis-
posed of the furs to traders and the meat to the garrison
at Fort Harmar.

Exports of furs by professional hunters and trappers
were of little economic advantage to the country. They
did not add to the wealth of the permanent residents or
improve the conditions of living. On the contrary, as
the supply of fur-bearing animals decreased, conditions
of living on the frontier became harder. It was for-
tunate for the settlers that there was in the beginning a
large number of fur-bearing animals in the country, for
they afforded practically the only convenient article of
export. Every settler was a hunter and most were trap-
pers. The furs which they secured in the winter became
the basis of their first commerce with the older settle-
ments. It was the custom for every settler to make at
least one trip to Winchester every year to procure sup-
plies.

As a rule their wants were few and simple. Ammu-
nition, salt and iron were the only absolute necessities
that could not be secured from the forests.

The trip was made by packhorse over trails only
wide enough for a horse to walk without danger of scrap-
ing off the packs against trees. There were no hotels on
the way at which the pioneer could stop and procure
food for himself and forage for his horses. For practi-
cally the whole distance there were no settlements. The
traveler was compelled to sleep out under the stars and
eat the johnny-cake which he had brought for his lunch
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and such game as he was able to kill on the way. The
horses secured their food by foraging in the woods, for
it was not customary to burden them with grain. It was
considered that two bushels, or 168 pounds, of salt was
all that one horse should be made to carry.

The journey was often very dangerous. The wild
beasts were of course a menace to the traveler. There
were also undesirable characters who lay in wait for an
opportunity to waylay and kill the lonely traveler in
order to secure his horses and goods. The cause of great-
est fear, however, was the intense cold of the mountains
in winter. It is related that John Hacker was caught
one night in a terrific snowstorm somewhere high in the
Alleghanies. He tried to make a fire from the flint and
tinder he carried, but could not on account of the in-
creasing numbness of his hands and arms. He would
certainly have perished but for the fact that he bethought
himself to lash his two horses together and lie between
their backs with two deerskins over him.

Once when John Sims and Henry McWhorter were
making the trip to Winchester together, Sims was over-
come by the cold while walking and sat down by the side
of the trail to rest. His companion, realizing the danger,
cut a beech withe and began beating him with it. Sims
roused and made for his tormentor. He failed to catch
him and, after a short distance, again sat down. Again
McWhorter vigorously plied the beech withe and again
Sims became angry and attempted to lay hands on Mc-
Whorter. After enduring several beatings in this way
Sims at length became warm enough to proceed.

The difficulties of carrying on commerce with Win-
chester were so great that the settlers could not have
brought to the West Fork anything other than the barest
necessities of life even if their stock of furs had been suffi-
cient to purchase luxuries. When John Reger married
Elizabeth West at West’s fort in 1788, the bride wore a
wonderful store gown of calico which the groom had pur-
chased in Winchester, having walked the entire trip with
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a gun on his shoulder. The incident caused such a flurry
of excitement in the settlement that it has been handed
down in tradition to the present day.

The commerce with Pittsburgh, which later became
considerable, was of slower growth. The settlers took
their furs and meat down the West Fork and Mononga-
hela rivers in canoes and flatboats and exchanged them
for powder and lead. They also resorted to the village
to have their guns repaired by the gunsmiths there.
Salt at Pittsburgh was more expensive than at Winches-
ter, and it was more difficult to transport up the river.
The shipbuilding industry which developed around Pitts-
burgh, created a market for walnut logs from the upper
Monongahela.

The building of forts on the Ohio river, as we have
seen, furnished a market for the agricultural produce of
the West Fork valley, and led afterwards to considerable
trade.

Clarksburg, the county seat and the metropolis of
the upper Monongahela valley, was without a store until
1788, and perhaps after that time. The records of that
year show that one Joseph Anderson was licensed “to
retail goods in this County as the law directs.” Whether
Anderson was a merchant or a peddler is not clear.
There is, unfortunately, no corroborative tradition. The
fact that there was a pioneer on the upper West Fork
with sufficient enterprise to make a business of trans-
porting goods from the east and exchanging them for
furs and other produce was a long step in advance. It
marked the beginning of trade—of an important division
of labor—in the community.

The lack of roads was keenly felt by all the set-
tlers in northwestern Virginia. Pittsburgh had taken
the lead as a commercial center largely owing to the fact
that a good military road had been built from Cumber-
land by Braddock in 1754, which had been somewhat im-
proved and kept in repair after that time. Shortly after
the close of the Revolution, when it had been definitely
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determined by the boundary commission that Pittsburgh
was in Pennsylvania and not in Virginia, the General
Assembly, desiring to cement the upper Monongahela
valley to the eastern section of the state by commercial
ties, opened a wagon road from Winchester via Romney
to Morgantown. This was the famous State road. In
1786, the legislature appointed a commission of Harrison
County citizens to lay out and open a wagon road from
some point on the State road to the mouth of the Little
Kanawha river. The road was first located and con-
structed from Clarksburg east to some point on the Cheat
river, now in Preston County. It could not have been a
well constructed thoroughfare until a later date. The
first wagon did not reach Clarksburg until 1798, twelve
years after the road was located. West of Clarksburg
the road was only a blazed trail through the wilderness
until the beginning of the new century.

The roads which had been established by the Har-
rison County court to connect different sections of the
county were mere trails cut through the woods, barely
wide enough to allow a packhorse to pass over them
without scraping off his pack. On account of the value
of every bit of cleared ground no road was ever located

through a clearing. It followed the bounds of the clear-
ing on one side. The unfavorable location of many of the
roads in Lewis County at the present time is due to this
fact. A traveler inquiring his way from one place to
another would be told to follow the beech or other
blazes. Cross roads or branch roads were marked with
blazings on different kinds of trees.

In spite of the lack of good roads, there must have
been some travel through Clarksburg, for there were
taverns in the county seat from the beginning of Harri-
son County. This fact is partly explained by the fact
that many citizens came from the outlying sections of
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the county to attend court, but there were also many emi-
grants with their worldly possessions on packhorses,
passing through the town on their way to lands farther
west.

There was no postoffice in the village until 1798.
The postoffice address of citizens of Hacker’s creek was
“Winchester, Va,” until that date.



CHAPTER IX.
LIFE OF THE PIONEERS

Conditions of living among the pioneers were simple
in the extreme. There were no social castes, neither
were there persons of great wealth or extreme poverty.
All were the owners of four hundred acres of land which
might be worth a hunting dog and a captured rifle or it
might not ; it depended partly upon the location but far
more upon the extent of the clearings. It was impossi-
ble for a man to have a house much better than those of
his neighbors; if he did, it was because he was more in-
dustrious or a better workman. If there was an aristoc-
racy of fine houses it was not a bad sort of aristocracy.
The furniture in one log house could not be far su-
perior to that in other cabins nor could there be a
much greater quantity of imported utensils, for the lim-
ited transportation facilities prevented settlers from
bringing more than the barest necessities.

The settler usually walked all the way across the
mountains with his goods on packhorses. Only the sim-
plest tools could be brought. The ax was of course indis-
pensable; so also was the mattock for grubbing, the hoe
for cultivating and a small plow point for stirring the
ground. The frow was necessary in splitting shingles
for the roof of the house. An indispensable tool was the
auger, which was used for boring holes for pins to fasten
various parts of the house together in the total absence
of nails of any kind. A few pots and pans and spoons and
skillets and an oven made up the kitchen furniture. The
Spinning wheel, or such parts of it as could not easily be
Made in the woods, and a pair of wool-cards made the re-
Mainder of the furniture. There were also a supply of
%alt, some ammunition, seeds of various kinds including
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sometimes some flower seeds, and corn for bread in
greater or less quantity, depending .upon the amount of
other goods brought and the number of pack horses.

Upon arriving on the land selected by the settler for
his future home, he chose the best possible site for his
cabin near a spring. He then began to fell trees nearby
and cut them into the proper lengths for the side and end
walls of his cabin. If there were neighbors, they would
assist the newcomer in his house-raising, which would
often be completed within a day or two. The first dwell-
ing was extremely rude and hurriedly made. The logs
composing it were untouched by the ax except near the
ends where they were notched and roughly fitted to-
gether. The space between the logs was blocked up
with short pieces of rails and small stones, and the wall
was made tight by daubing all the crevices with mud.
The chimney was built of rough stones half way up the
end of the house, and for the remainder of the distance
there was a crib of sticks. Both stones and sticks were
cemented together with clay mortar.

After the first year the settler usually erected a more
pretentious house of tulip poplar logs hewed square and
notched so carefully that only a small crack was left be-
tween them.

The cabins of the pioneers reflected the conditions
under which they lived. When John Hacker first came
to Hacker’s creek the whites and the Indians were at
peace, and the first cabin he built is said to have been
crudely built of logs, and with the cracks chinked with
slabs and mud. The chimney stood at the end of the
house on the outside. Later the houses were built of logs
which had been nicely squared so that there were only
small crevices to be filled up, and the chimney was placed
on the inside of the house to prevent the Indians’ tearing
away the stones from the mud mortar which held them
and gaining an entrance through the fireplace, which af-
forded a far larger opening in the log wall than the door.
With the chimney on the inside of the house, the in-
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habitants were protected on all sides by a wall of logs
which the Indians could destroy only by burning. Some
of the great interior chimneys 'took up nearly all the
space in one end of the cabin, and afforded openings for
two fire places on the ground floor and one on the sec-
ond floor. The third development was the fortress-like
cabin which could readily stand a siege provided the de-
fenders were numerous and active. A second floor was
added, which was sometimes made to project about 2
foot beyond the walls of the lower rooms. From it the
settlers conducted their principal defense. They were en-
abled to gain a wider field of fire, and at the same time
shoot down upon any of the warriors who might attempt
to force an entrance through the doorway or set fire to
the house.

The door of the cabin was built especially strong so
as to resist any attempt to force it open. It was com-
posed of two thicknesses of heavy boards hewn out and
fastened together diagonally with wooden pins. The
door was hung on ponderous iron or wooden hinges that
reached nearly across it. Space was sometimes left for
windows, but heavy shutters were provided. The floor
was made of puncheons, that is, thick boards split out of
white oak trees in the same manner that shingles are
made. They were afterwards smoothed with an ax or
drawing knife. No nails were used in the construction
of the houses except perhaps for the door. They were
too scarce. The roof was held in place by timbers laid
on the clapboards. Sometimes a log was placed on the
roof just above the door, so fixed that it could be released
from the inside upon the heads of Indians who tried to
gain entrance. Secure within the walls of such houses
the frontier settler could bid defiance to a small band of
savages until help should arrive from the other settlers.

The early homes of the settlers were not uncomfort-
able. In summer the greased paper in the windows was
taken out, and the air was free to circulate. In winter
even with the greased paper in the windows the air was




114 A HISTORY OF LEWIS COUNTY

also free to circulate through the house, especially
through the loft or second story where the boys of the
family slept. The snow frequently sifted through the
spaces between the rough shingles or was blown through
the cracks in the end of the house. The deerskins under
which they slept would be covered with snow in the
morning after every snow storm. On the lower floor it
was comfortable on the long winter evenings when the
hickory logs roared in the huge fireplace. The family
sat around the fire doing some simple tasks to while
away the time. The hunting dog toasted his nose at the
very edge of the fireplace in front of the group.

The furniture of the earliest settlers was extremely
simple. Chairs were frequently only blocks of wood
which had been hewn into shape. Beds consisted of poles
laid upon a framework built in the corner of the house
and supported by one block or post. As might be ex-
pected they were exceedingly uncomfortable. Deerskins
were the coverings universally used. Bishop Francis
Asbury wrote in his journal an account of a trip to
Clarksburg, in 1788. After an all day’s ride he came to
a cabin where the settler agreed to take him in. All the
beds were already occupied. “I lay along the floor on a
few deerskins with the fleas,” he says, and continued fur-
ther, “Oh, how glad I should be for a clean plank to lie
on, as preferable to most of the beds, and where the beds
are in a bad state the floors are worse. This country will
require much work to make it tolerable.”

The tables consisted of two or three slabs with one
end stuck into the crack between two logs and the other
end supported on two legs in the middle of the cabin.
Wooden platters and bowls were used almost to the ex-
clusion of other ware, and the settlers drank from gourds.
Pewter ware was considered unusually elegant. Most of
the early blacksmith shops had copper moulds for mak-
ing pewter spoons. China ware was slow in being adopt-
ed by the pioneers, It was many years before the old
“ironstone china” made in England and considered ele-
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gant by the newcomers from east of the mountains found
a place on the tables in the Trans-Alleghany region. It
was too easily broken, and besides it dulled the himting
knives of the pioneers.

Cooking utensils were few and simple. The meat
was generally prepared in a frying pan or roasted by
placing a piece of meat on a sharp stick and holding it
over the coals. A cooking pot for boiling vegetables and
meat, a tea-kettle and a covered oven consisting of a
large pan with an iron cover, completed the list of vessels
found in most of the cabins. The food was nearly always
well cooked. The pioneers delighted to have it said of
them that they set good tables.

Corn and game were the staple articles of food for
every frontier household. The venison was sometimes
cured for emergency use in the winter by “jerking” it.
The process consisted of cutting it into narrow strips
and drying it before the fire. It was carried on every
journey along with the johnny-cake, and eaten raw.
Corn pone and johnny-cake were the only kinds of bread
used for breakfast and dinner, and the children of the
settlers who came from the centers of a higher civiliza-
tion sometimes forgot the taste of wheat bread. It is re-
lated that once when John Hacker made a trip to the
South Branch for salt and ammunition, he brought some
biscuit on his return, and gave it to a small child. The
child looked at it a moment, then evidently thinking it
some strange toy, he began rolling it on the floor, It is
said that the father wept to think that his children had
been so long in the wilderness that they had forgotten
the taste of bread. The evening meal was perhaps the
simplest of all. The staple dish was mush and milk
when it was possible to procure the milk. Mush was also
eaten with maple syrup, bear’s grease or gravy. Hog
and hominy was a substantial dish. Vegetables and
fruits seenr to have been used only in the summer, fall
and early winter, owing to the limited supply grown and
the inroads made upon the stock of provisions by large
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families of hungry children. “Few settlers had land in
cultivation more than sufficient to raise food for their
own consumption,” says an early resident of northwestern
Virginia, writing of conditions in 1792. “Generally by
spring there would be no bread in the country and people
lived on greens, of spontaneous growth, which were daily
gathered by women and children until they could raise
vegetables: It was some time before we had tillable land
enough to raise wheat. Butter we could not indulge in.
with our maple sugar at six cents a pound and a few eggs
was all we could market to get money to pay taxes.”

Coffee and tea were unknown, and were not re-
garded with favor for many years. They were con-
sidered at first as slops which did not “stick to the
ribs.” Tea made from wintergreen or pennyroyal leaves,
sassafras roots, and spicewood twigs was generally to be
found on the tables. In the early spring when the sap
in the maple trees was running, the settlers drank prac-
tically nothing but sugar water, which could be had
within a few feet of the door of every cabin by boring a
hole in a sugar maple tree, inserting a short length of
sumac bush hollowed out for a spile, and setting a
wooden trough under it. '

Cane sugar was unknown in western Virginia for
many years. The substitute was maple sugar. Many
of the farmers left regular sugar groves where they
built a temporary shack and made sugar during the
nights of early spring. Candles were made from tallow
either by dipping a string several times in melted fat or
by pouring the fat in candle moulds which one settler
in every community generally brought from the east.
Soft soap was made from waste pieces of fat which
were thrown into the “soap-grease barrel”, and later re-
duced with the aid of crude potash leached from wood
ashes. Matches were unknown anywhere, and fire was
made by striking steel against flint and catching the
sparks on a piece of “punk” or half-burmed rag. When
the housewife was in a hurry for a fire she usually sent
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one of the children to the nearest neighbor’s to borrow a
few blazing chunks. The family medicine chest was pre-
pared from the products of the forest, and consisted of a
great variety of herbs and roots. Poultices for gun-
shot wounds and burns were made from scraped pota-
toes, elm bark and the leaves of various plants. Snake
bites were treated with a decoction of white plantain
boiled in milk taken internally, and by applying salt and
gunpowder and binding a portion of the snake to the
wound.

The dress of the pioneers was extremely simple.
The characteristic part was the loose hunting shirt, of
linsey-woolsey, coarse linen or dressed deerskins. So
universally was the hunting shirt worn by the settlers
that the British called the Virginia bordermen “Shirt
Men.” Breeches were worn by the first comers, but the
conditions of life in the woods caused a change in the
costumes of the rangers not altogether to the liking of
the female population. This was nothing more nor less
than the adoption of the most characteristic portions of
the Indian dress.

They early discarded breeches and lengthened the
leggings until they reached far up the thigh and fas-
tened to the belt by means of strings. The Indian
breech clout, a piece of cloth a yard or more long and
eight inches wide passed around the waist, one end
passing under the belt in front, the other behind. The
ends, which stuck out as flaps, were sometimes orna-
mented with a crude sort of embroidery. When the
belt to which the clout was attached passed over the
hunting shirt, the thighs and part of the hips were bare.
A coonskin cap and moccasins of deerskin completed
the costume. As a whole it was well adapted to life on
the frontier, especially in summer. The leggings fit-
tino clacelv did not impede the legs in running, and the
shirt of wool or linen was as comfortable as can well be
imagined. Jesse Hughes is said to have always worn a
costume colored with bark of chestnut-oak. Attired in it
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he was as inconspicuous as he could possibly make him-
self against the forest background. In summer the set-
tlers frequently appeared without their leggings, because
they deemed them unnecessary. Long afterwards men
working on farms wore only a very long shirt, claiming
that it was the most comfortable garment that could
be worn.

Shoes were very scarce, and they were a subject of
comment whenever worn. Deerskin moccasins, which
were universally worn by the pioneers, were perhaps
-the most comfortable covering ever devised for the feet
in the summer. In winter they were very cold, on ac-
count of the absence of thick soles as well as the porous
character of the skin. They were frequently lined with
fur or dried leaves to keep the feet warm. In wet
weather the pioneers claimed that the wearing of moc-
casins was “only a decent way of going barefooted.”
The spongy leather was no protection from rain or
heavy dews no matter how heavily they had been
greased with bear fat or mutton tallow. When the
snow was melting few of the settlers cared to go outside
their houses. The pioneers suffered much from rheu-
matism, which they believed was caused by wearing
moccasins.

The dress of the women was simple and unadorned
linsey-woolsey dresses with short skirts and numerous
petticoats. Store dresses were practically unknown and
calico could be had nowhere in the west. Very few
jewels were worn for years after the first settlements,
and the commonest toilet articles of milady’s boudoir
today were unknown to the women of a century and a
half ago.

The settlers also adopted the arms of the Indian.
The tomahawk and the scalping knife hung from the
belt of every ranger, who understood thoroughly the use
of both weapons in combat with the savages. The
chief reliance of course, was on the rifle, with which
every pioneer had had long practice, both in the hunt and
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in fighting Indians. The guns of the pioneers were
principally smoothbore firelocks of rather large caliber,
the bullets weighing about forty to the pound. Some,
however, were of smaller caliber, like those sometimes
found now among the old hunters who have become ac-
customed to the muzzle-loader and refuse to give it up
for the breech loading rifle or shot gun. Most of the
Indians were owners of guns, these having been fur-
nished by traders, by the French at the time of the
French and Indian wars, or by the English throughout
the Revolution, from the time of the bloody year of
the three sevens onward. The guns in the hands of
the settlers were more accurate than those of the sav-
ages on account of the fact that the settlers regularly
cleaned and oiled them, and the Indians only cleaned
theirs by discharging them every few days. The firing
arrangement of all flintlock guns was imperfect. Many
on both sides met death because of the failure of their
guns to discharge when the enemy was almost upon
them. Sometimes the guns would “flash in the pan,”
and whenever there was a rain or a thick fog the prim-
ing was likely to be dampened, in which case the guns
refused to work.

In carrying on warfare with the Indians the fron-
tiersmen took scalps, just as the savages did, partly to
show their prowess and partly because they knew that
the red man without his scalp had no hope of entering
the happy hunting-ground. They not only cut off his
life but they doomed his soul. Some of the scouts also
killed women and even children as well as the war-
riors. The old Indian fighters never forgot their early
hatred for the Indian race. It is related of John Cut-
right, that long after the close of the Indian wars, when
he was so old and infirm that he could walk only with
the aid of his cane, he attempted to get his gun and shoot
a friendly Indian whom he saw passing through the
settlements. He had to be guarded closely by his fam-
ily until after the Indian had left the vicinity.
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The pioneers who braved the dangers of the for-
ests and the Indians were men of the hardiest stamp.
They were rude and ignorant for the most part, caring
nothing for the finer sentiments and having little re-
gard for anything which did not add to their physical
well-being. Ability to draw a fine bead along the bar-
rel of a gun was more highly regarded than any other
accomplishment. “The people, many of them,” sai‘l
Francis Asbury, pioneer bishop of Methodism, “are of
the boldest cast of adverturers, and with some the de-
cencies of civilized society are scarcely regarded.” They
were a fhard-fighting, hard-drinking, quarrelsome set
for the most part.

The conditions of the wilderness did not suit the
institution of negro slavery, which flourished east of the
mountains. All the settlers were obliged to labor in
clearing the fields, raising their crops, and making all
the improvements on their farms. Therc was little other
work the slaves could do. The settlers naturally object-
ed to having slaves working in the fields, because their
own work was the same, and they did not wish to be

considered to be on the same level with them. The in-
stitution of slavery could not be profitable unless it
were possible to export great quantities of agricultural
produce; and this was impossible both because of the
lack of adequate transportation facilities and the ab-
sence of large tracts of comparatively level land for
tillage. Only a few slaves were brought with the first
settlers. Colonel Lowther owned two, who worked in
the fields and produced grain enough for himself and
some of the neighbors. The Colonel was thus released
from the necessity of working in the fields and could de-
vote all his energies to the defense of the settlements
leading parties of rangers against the Indians and in-
specting the posts throughout the frontier of north-
western Virginia. No slaves were brought to the dis:
trict now included in Lewis County until laterr The
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system of indenture was also in vogue as shown by a
record of the court, 1785; “On motion of Richard
Hocklin, servant of John P. Duvall, complaining against
his master, in regard to wearing an iron collar its the
opinion of the Court sd. collar be taken off by his mas-
ter.” There was a sort of system of apprenticeship from
the earliest times. All the orphans were deemed to be
wards of the state whom the county court ordered to
be bound out by the overseers of the poor until they
reached the legal age. The laws required that they
should be “found” in return for the work they did, and
they were usually allowed a sum of money when their
term of service ended. There were many of these wards
of the state among the scattered settlements of north-
western Virginia.

Unless a pioneer lived at a great distance from all
other human habitations—something which occurred
rarely—it cannot be said that he was lonely. There was
always a community of interest in warding off Indian
attacks, in helping to perform labor on different farms
which could not be done by one man, and in countless
other matters. The settlers of a neighborhood were con-
tinually being thrown together, and the neighborhood
then included all the settled portions of what is now
Lewis and Upshur counties and half of Harrison. When
the dangers of an Indian attack or house-raisings did not
throw the settlers together often enough, other social
diversions were arranged. In the spring some popular,
but lazy, farmer might hold a grubbing bee to which all
the neighbors were invited for a day. Large numbers
tame, because they knew that the mistress of the house
would have a fine dinner for the occasion and that there
would be games and a dance after the day’s work and
Play were over. In the fall there were corn huskings,
which were always occasions of great gayety. Neigh-
bors came for miles around, particularly young men
and women. Preparations had previously been made for
the husking by pulling off all the ears of corn from the
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stalks and hauling them to the appointed place where
they were piled in a long row. Husking usually began
just after dark by the light of the full moon and the
huskers managed to make the job last until nearly
morning. Sometimes a contest was arranged in which
two good huskers chose sides and divided the pile in
half. Then followed a good-natured race to see which
side could finish first. The work was likely to be inter-
rupted whenever a young man found a red ear, becauss
immemorial custom of the frontier gave hlm the right
to kiss the prettiest girl present.

There were also many informal gatherings of
neighbors. Occasionally there was a traveler who
wanted to stay all night. The settlers were most hos-
pitable and gave him his food and a place to sleep in
return for gossip of the frontier or of the regions east
of the mountains whence all had come.

The greatest social occasions among the settlers
were the weddings. There was no labor of log-rolling
or house-raising or other hard work in connection with
them, and they attracted universal interest. On the
morning of the day set for the ceremony all the friends
of the groom met at his father’s house to escort him to
the home of the bride’s parents. They formed a pro-
cession in double file along the trail, all attired in their
best and riding their best horses. Frequently their pro-
gress would be interrupted by grapevines tied across the
path as a joke or through the ill will of some neighbor
who had not been invited to the wedding. The time
was taken up with good-natured banter and songs and
yells and perhaps a race for “Black Betty,” a bottle of
whiskey or rum.

The marriage ceremony was performed by a
preacher, if there were one in the settlement, if not, ar-
rangements were made to call in someone who had been
designated by the county court to officiate. After the
ceremony the guests were seated at the table to eat the
most sumptuous meal which it was possible for the
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housewife of the frontier to prepare. Meats and vegeta-
bles were cooked in every known way, and crowded upon
the table until it would hold no more. The dearth of
pewterware made no difference to the guests. They
were accustomed to eat with their hunting knives.

After the dinner the festivities commenced. It was
not long until dancing commenced, and the couples were
soon engaged in three or four-handed reels or in square
sets and jigs to the tune of “The West Fork River.” The
dancing continued until morning, and if any couple be-
came tired and attempted to hide from the others they
were hunted up and compelled to dance while the fiddler
played “Hold on Till Tomorrow Morning.” During the
night the spirits of the party were kept up by the fre-
quent passing of “Black Betty.” The feasting and danc-
ing frequently continued for several days until all con-
cerned were too exhausted to continue further.

The earliest seitlers were without schools. The
children had to depend for an education upon what their
parents or older brothers and sisters could teach them.
There are traditions that William Powers, after his com-
ing to the West Fork valley in 1785, taught a term of
school at West’s fort. The Rev. John Mitchell also
gave the children instruction in the rudiments of the
three R’s while he was engaged in the double duty of
preaching the Gospel in the wilderness and helping to
keep the Indians from the gates of West’s fort. Both
these schools were irregular and the term was short.
Teachers could not always be found nor could the set-
tlers always be induced to subscribe enough to employ
a teacher. The result was that many years later the
records of Lewis County show the signatures of many
of the largest landholders and most important citizens
made with a cross and witnessed.

The state government early took action to light the
torch of learning in the hills and dales west of the
mountains. The General Assembly in 1787 chartered the
Randolph academy, which should in a sense take the
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place of William and Mary college for the youth of the
counties of Ohio, Monongalia, Harrison and Randolph.
John P. Duvall, George Jackson, John Powers, Robert
Maxwell and John Jackson were appointed trustees of
the institution with power to select the most eligible
site within the counties, to make contracts for the erec-
tion of buildings, and to employ teachers and act as the
general board of management.

The General Assembly provided for the support of
the academy one-sixth of the surveyor’s fees of the four
counties, which had formerly been paid for the support
of William and Mary college in Virginia. The trustees
designated Clarksburg as the most eligible location for
the academy, and in 1793 they let the contract for the
first building. A short time afterward the work of con-
struction started. Many students took advantage of
the opportunity to secure an education within the walls
of Randolph academy, among whom were many young
men who later were numbered among the most promi-
nent citizens of Lewis County.

The religious interests of the pioneers were not
overlooked. Hardly were the first settlements made
until Baptist and Methodist itinerant preachers followed
the trails that had been made and attempted to estab-
lish churches in the virgin soil of the new settlements.
The founding of churches in some places antedated the
establishment of that other influence of civilization, or-
derly government. Baptist preachers and Methodist
circuit riders braved all the perils of the wilderness to
bring their message to the benighted people on the
frontier. Before the close of the Revolution the Meth-
odists had established classes at various places in the
Trans-Alleghany district. Classes were in existence by
1781 in the West Fork Valley. There was a flourishing
class near Richards’ fort under the leadership of Moses
Ellsworth. A society was organized at John Hacker’s
on Hacker’s creek as early as 1786, probably by Rev.
John Mitchell, but no church was erected for several
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years afterwards. The Rev. Henry Smith, who visited
the region in 1794, found a good society there. The
Rev. Joseph Cheuvront, a Frenchman, took up his res-
idence near the mouth of Hacker’s creek shortly after-
ward and was licensed to celebrate the rites of matri-
mony in 1790. He was regarded as a very eloquent
preacher by the people of the community, and even the
circuit rider confessed that he “could preach all around
him.” Henry McWhorter, who came to McKinney’s
run in 1790, soon became one of the leading members of
the Ifacker’s creek Methodist society. It is said that
he was a member of the Methodist church for sixty
years and a class leader for fifty. Under his leadership
the class grew and prospered. Regular preaching ser-
vices were begun early in the last decade of the eight-
eenth century and have been continued without serious
interruption until the present time. The number of
Methodist societies in the upper West Fork valley was so
great that in 1788 Bishop Asbury came to Clarksburg
to hold a quarterly meeting, where he preached to an
audience of about seven hundred people. In the letters
and journals of some of the old circuit riders are to be
found interesting glimpses of the pioneer settlements.
The Rev. Henry Smith came to the Clarksburg circuit
in 1784 and held a meeting at the house of Joseph Bon-
nett. Of his congregation he says: “The people came
to this meeting from four or five miles around. * * *
They were all backwoods people and came to the meet-
ing in backwoods style, all on foot, a considerable con-
gregation. I looked around and saw an old man who
had shoes on his feet. The preacher wore Indian moc-
casins. Every man, woman and child besides was bare-
footed. The old women had on what we called then
short gowns, and the rest had neither short nor long
gowns. This was a novel sight for me for a Sunday con-
gregation. I soon found if there were no shoes and fine
dresses in the congregation there were attentive hearers
and feeling hearts. In meeting the class I heard the
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same humble loving religious experience that I had
often heard in better dressed societies. If this scene
did not make a backwoods man of me outright, it
at least reconciled me to the problem and I felt happy
among them.” At “Brother Stortze’s” not far from the
West’s fort, the new preacher saw “men coming to meet-
ing with rifles on their shoulders, guarding their fami-
lies, then setting their guns in a corner of the house until
after the meeting, and returning in the same order.”
At West’s fort, “before I had got to sleep the dogs
raved at a terrific rate. I did not know that I was in any
danger; but the Indians having but a little while before
this been through the country and done mischief, and
this being a frontier house, I did not feel myself secure
in my exposed situation.”

Not all the people of northwestern Virginia received
the preachers as kindly as these earlier settlers of
Hacker’s creek. Bishop Asbury says that after he and
a companion had ridden all day ‘“near midnight we
stopped at A’s, who hissed his dogs on us.”

As to the character of the people, he says: “On
the one hand savage warfare teaches them to be cruel,
and on the other the teaching of Antinomians poisons
them with errors in doctrine. Good moralists they are
not, and good Christians they can not be unless they
are better taught.”

The Baptists were on the field about the same time
as the Methodists and their preachers likewise travelled
through the wilderness and organized churches. There
was a Baptist congregation at Buckhannon in 1786, and
other societies were soon organized throughout the
Trans-Alleghany. Bishop Asbury’s quarterly confer-
ence at Clarksburg was held in “a long close room be-
longing to the Baptists.” In 1790 a deed is recorded
by which the Baptists of Hopewell meeting-house se-
cured possession of a lot in Clarksburg for a burial
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ground. There was 10 Baptist church established in
what is now Lewis County until 1805, but their preach-

ers came frequently to the neighborhood. Jacob Cozad,
who lived not far from the present site of Berlin, was
licensed as a preacher of the Baptist church in 1797.



CHAPTER X.

THE EXTENSION OF SETTLEMENT
SKIN CREEK

The treaty of Greenville, 1795, removed the last
barrier to the coming of settlers in large numbers. It
was evident that the treaty must make the Ohio river
barrier permanent. Settlers had gone into the North-
west Territory in large numbers before the close of the
Indian wars, and a tremendous emigration was bound
to follow the conclusion of peace. A wide barrier of set-
tlements had been interposed between northwestern Vir-
ginia and the Indians. For a half century thereafter the
- current of life on the West Fork was to be as calm and
unruffled as the current of that sluggish stream.

There was an almost immediate shifting of popu-
lation. The old Indian hunters found the unaccustomed
life of quiet too monotonous. Jesse Hughes disposed
of his farm at the mouth of Jesse’s run and moved far
to the west, locating among the miasmatic swamps ot
the Wabash, so that he could maintain contact with the
Indians. His health was affected by the change, and
after wandering about uncertainly for some time he
finally returned to the hills of western Virginia. He
built his cabin in what is now Jackson County. By a
strange freak of fortune he who had done so much to
wrest the land from the savages and to make conditions
of life endurable, found himself in his old age without anp
acre to call his own, the tract on which he had set-
tled having been included in a large survey before he
left Hacker’s creek. John Radcliff and Elias Hughes
followed close upon the footsteps of the Indians, and
became the first settlers in Licking County, in central
Ohio. “They lived mainly by hunting,” says the his-
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torian of Licking County, “raising, however, a little
corn, the cultivation of which was left, in great meas-
ure, to their wives.”

The lands of the scouts and the Indian hunters
were quickly filled with "permanent settlers who had
come to  western Virginia seeking new homes. The new
settlers were different in many ways from the pioneer
hunter-scout-farmer. If they were less expert with the
rifle, they were more skilled with the ax; if they procured
less venison for their families, they furnished a greater
variety of domestic meat and vegetables; and if they
were less bold in trailing Indians, they were at least
unafraid of the task of clearing their lands, tending their
crops and caring for their live stock. Many of the new
comers had been men of property in the east, who did
not wish to risk their all by coming to the Trans-Alle-
ghany country while the Indians endangered the very
existence of the settlements. The stake was too great.
Men with property usually waited until conditions be-
came tranquil before moving west.

Beginning about 1797 there was a rush of settlers to
the hills of the upper West Fork. Hacker’s creek and
Stone Coal creek received most of them, but others took
up their abodes on Freeman’s creek, Little Skin creek,
Sand fork of the West Fork, and the valley of the river
all the way from the mouth of Hacker’s creek to the
forks of the river. The movement was profoundly in-
fluenced by conditions across the Ohio river. There the
national government owned the land, and was selling it
to the settlers with a clear title and at lower cost than
they could buy the lands in Virginia from speculators.
The lands of Ohio were considered superior in fer-
tility, and settlers went there. That part of the North-
west Territory now included in the state of Ohio was
far more quickly settled than Virginia. The compara-
tively poor bottom lands on the Ohio side of the river
were settled long before the more fertile lands just across
the river in Virginia. Perhaps it was because many of
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the emigrants wanted to get away from the institution
of slavery; perhaps the Ohio country was better adver-
tised and settlers went there because others were going.
Many of the best lands in western Virginia were passed
by carelessly by the emigrants in their rush to gain the
choice tracts in the Northwest Territory. Practically
the whole of continental United States was settled be-
fore the land-hungry multitude turned their attention to
the hills of West Virginia and found the country ex-
tremely well adapted for raising live stock. Lewis
County should have been settled faster, and would per-
haps have been settled by more progressive people if it
had not been for the rush to Ohio. Some of the settlers
in the West Fork valley were merely transients who
had started to Ohio, but who had stopped for a season in
order to make a crop.

Whatever land had escaped the speculators in the
period immediately preceding the close of the Indian
wars was patented, and the surveys made and recorded.
Among the most important of the new surveys was one
issued in 1797 for 100,000 acres on the West Fork and
Little Kanawha rivers to Benjamin Haskell and ‘William
Warren. David Lockwood took out 40,000 acres lying
on Sand fork of Kanawha, partly in Gilmer, partly in
Lewis. The Reed and Ford survey containing 27,000
acres was also made. It began near the head of Rush run
and extended southwestwardly. Upon the failure of the
expected rush of immigration to materialize, the original
owners allowed the title to lapse through non-payment of
taxes, and it afterwards became a part of the Camden-
Bailey-Camden estates, and eventually passed into the
hands of Irish settlers. Most of these surveys were made
by the famous surveyor, Henry Jackson.

The first section where actual settlements were
made besides those maintained under the shadow of
West’s fort were on Stone Coal creek, the first Lewis
County stream discovered and explored by white men.
Several settlements had been made in that beautiful
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valley, which is reputed to be perhaps the best farming
section of the county, but the settlers had been forced to
abandon their claims during the Indian wars. The note-
worthy exceptions were John Schoolcraft, who had es-
tablished himself on Schoolcraft’s run—now Smith’s run,
and Henry Flesher, at the mouth of the stream.

After the treaty of Greenville the lands filled up very
fast. Abner Abbott settled near the head of the creek
not far from the present Lewis-Upshur line, about the
year 1798. George Sommers came immediately after-
wards and settled just below him. Just above the pres-
ent site of Gaston, in perhaps the most beautiful section
of all the Stone Coal valley, John and Benjamin Taylor
built their humble cabins about the year 1797. John
Curtis settled on the site of Gaston and Henry Hard-
man located his claim near the forks of the creek.
James Paines was also one of the earlier settlers in the
upper valley of Stone Coal.

On the lower course of the stream no new settle-
ments appear to have been made for several years.
Schoolcraft’s run had become so thoroughly peopled with
Smiths by the year 1805 that the name was changed to
Smith’s run. Isaac and William Smith came in the last
years of the century and took up tracts of land on the
run, and perhaps purchased the claim of John School-
craft. In 1805 Mark Smith moved his household goods
from his cabin near the mouth of Freeman’s creek,
where he had settled the year before, and also settled
on Smith’s run.

By 1808 the Stone Coal settlement had become nu-
merous enough to justify the establishment of a mill on
the upper course of the stream. George Bush secured
the necessary machinery and began grinding corn on
the later site of Gaston. The village which grew up
around the mill was known locally as Bush’s Mills
for the next eighty years. Henry Curtis acquired pos-
session of the mill in 1812 or 1813 and made many im-
provements. In 1814 he added to his grist mill the first
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sawmill on the creek. It consisted of a rude sash saw
run by water power, and, needless to say, the capacity
of the mill was limited. Most of the earlier sawmills
could not saw large logs, and most owners objected to
sawing any but soft woods like tulip poplar. ‘A still
was in existence at about the same time a little farther
down the creek.

The community at first had to depend upon the
schools established in the Hacker’s creek valley. Sev-
eral young men in turn tried their skill at teaching with
rather indifferent success. In 1815 Henry Hardman
taught a select school near the forks of the creek. It
resulted in the training of several young men who after-
wards taught school in the valley. Bush’s mills became
rather prominent as an educational center in the early
history of the county.

The Rev. John Mitchell, first preacher in Lewis
County, came to Stone Coal creek before the settlement
had fairly started and held meetings in the homes of
some of the pioneers. Soon services were held at regular
intervals by the Rev. Mitchell and the circuit preachers.
A class was formed, and a log church erected a little
later by the Methodists. The Presbyterians also estab-
lished a church on the creek at a later date under the
leadership of the French creek pastor.

Across the ridge to the south of Stone Coal lies a
fertile territory drained by Skin creek. It also attracted
considerable immigration within a few years after the
treaty of peace. Skin creek was first explored by John
Hacker in 1769 while on his famous buffalo hunt. Later
it was a famous hunting ground for parties from Hack-
er’s creek, so that the desirability of the land was well
known. Only the danger to such an isolated settle-
ment from war parties kept the pioneers from going
there. There is fairly good evidence for the statement
that Alexander Hacker settled at the Ward place (now
the Jewell farm) on Big Skin creek about the year 1778,
but he abandoned his settlement.
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On the tomahawk claim made by John Hacker at
the mouth of Curtis run on Little Skin creek, his son
Jonathan Hacker settled in 1796. Young Hacker soon
became tired of the location and moved to another of
his father’s tomahawk improvements at the mouth of
Crane Camp run; but learning that the land had already
been surveyed as a part of a large tract, he soon aban-
doned his cabin and returned to Hacker’s creek. His
farm at the mouth of Curtis run had been purchased by
the Rev. John Hardman, the mechanical genius of the
new settlement. He immediately proceeded to establish
a small mill, which was far superior to the tin grater—
when there was water to flow over the dam. ‘Hardman is
said to have lacked patience to watch the ‘“‘corn-
cracker” mill, and he sold it to Rev. Anthony Spaur,
who hailed from Holland. Hardman moved to a tract
about two miles farther up the creek. Henry Bott set-
tled on one of the best locations on the creek near where
the road leaves the valley to pass over the low gap to
Hall’'s run. Felix Albert, who came a little later, made
his settlement near the mouth of Blacklick run. He
later sold out to John Clark. William Peterson and
John Helmick settled on tracts farther up the stream.
All these settlements were made probably within five
or six years after the close of the Indian wars. Louis
Bonnett, one of the garrison at Flesher’s station during
the last years of the Indian wars, and a younger brother,
Philip, came to Skin creek early in the century. They
remained there long enough to rear their families and
then left for the cheaper lands farther west. Nicholas
Linger came from Germany about 1815 and made his
settlement on Little Skin creek. A family of Stalnak-
ers from Randolph County, natives of Holland, also came
very early. The Bonnetts were Dutch also and never
wholly mastered the English language. Before the
coming of the Chidesters and the Corathers, the set-
tlement was overwhelmingly Dutch. By the time of the
formation of Lewis County in 1816, Little Skin creek
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was the most compact settlement between Stone Coal
creek and the Great Kanawha river. It was also a set-
tlement of progressive, intelligent pioneers. It is said
that every resident of the stream could read and write.
In order that the gift of learning should not die out, a
school was arranged almost as soon as there were set-
tlements. The first school of Little Skin creek was
taught by Anthony Spaur, who, according to one who
knew him, “was a man of Herculean strength and sten-
torian voice.” Like all the teachers of his time he was
a strict disciplinarian. Michael G. Bush, who followed
“Old Father Spaur”, was one of the best teachers of
Lewis County, and later he became one of the most
active men in establishing schools who lived in the
county before the Civil war. He had had the advantages
of one or more terms of school under Isaac Morrison,
one of the leading educators of northwestern Virginia,
and he possessed the gift of imparting his knowledge
to his pupils. Two very successful teachers were grad-
uated from Bush’s school—Henry D. Hardman, who
taught the first schol on Big Skin creek, and Daniel R.
Helmick, who succeeded to the school on Little Skin
creek. He was in turn succeeded by George R. Marsh.

As in the case of the Stone Coal settlement, the Rev.
John Mitchell was early in the field preaching to the peo-
ple of the district On account of the diversity of creeds
represented and the number of ministers on the creek,
it was impossible to organize a church until 1823. The
erection of a church building came much later.

Big Skin creek, though not as thickly settled as the
other fork, contained the nucleus of a future great com-
munity in the half dozen families who settled there in
the first two decades of the nineteenth century. On the
Ward place—abandoned homestead of the pioneer Alex-
ander Hacker—Richard Johnson built his cabin just be-
low the mouth of Charles run in 1797 or 1798. His son
John is said to have been the first white child born on
the creek. Spencer Marsh lived just above the present
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site of Vandalia. The first settler on the present site of
the village is said to have been Peter Bonnett who, with
his brothers, were members of the first garrison at
Flesher’s station. His cabin stood just across the creek
from the site of the village church. About 1820 David
Hall came to the valley and took up the land upon which
most of the village was later laid out. His brother Jona-
than settled on Hughes fork, near the site of the camping
ground of the deer hunters who took part in the famous
Skin Creek hunt. Henry Wheeler was the first settler
on Wheeler's fork, which empties into the creek just
above Vandalia. William Wilson, in 1802, entered a
homestead on the right fork of Skin creek.

An Indian trail up Big Skin creek was at first the
only means which the settlers had of gaining access to
the outside world. Some time before 1813 a road was
opened through the settlement in consequence of the
activity at the Haymond salt works on Salt Lick creek.
Over the winding trail from the valley of the Buckhan-
non came not only people in search of salt, but also
many settlers on Big Skin creek.

Near the mouth of Skin creek few settlements were
made for nearly fifty years. Brownsville had no exist-
ence for nearly eighty years after the settlements on the
creek above it. Joseph Alkire is said to have settled on
or near the present site of the town shortly after the
close of the Indian wars. He was followed by Stephen
Coburn, who lived either on the West Fork river or a
short distance up Skin creek. These were the only
settlements above Bendale on the river for a distance of
ten or twelve miles. Others came and spent a few years
on the river, but, except in the more favored locations
the settlements were not permanent. The narrow bot-
toms which were alone fit for tillage were soon worn
out, and the homesteaders moved to more congenial
locations.



CHAPTER XI.

THE COLLINS SETTLEMENT

Collins Settlement, the most southern district in the
county, shows the greatest diversity in topography. The
valley of the West Fork from its source to where it
passes out of the district is equal in fertlity to any sec-
tion of the county. The bottoms are level and well
adapted to cultivation. It is one of the garden spots of
West Virginia. On the other hand, in the extreme
southern part of the district there are deep, narrow val-
leys and towering mountains. The surface is not adapt-
ed for anything but stock raising except in the narrow
bottoms and on the summits of the mountains, where
it is possible in places to raise corn. The crop from the
hilltops is largely brought to the valleys below on wires.
On account of the magnificent crops produced in the up-
per valley, it was formerly known as “Egypt”; and
from the number of famous men who are natives of the
district, it has sometimes been called by the high-flown
title “The Athens of West Virginia.” During the Civil
war it was known as “Dixie”.

The excellent quality of the land was known to the
Hacker’'s creek settlers at a very early date. John
Hacker’'s war of revenge against the buffaloes in 1769
led him through the district from one end to the other,
and he located two claims—hunter’s camps—within the
boundaries of Collins Settlement. One was at the
mouth of Crane Camp run, now on the Davisson farm at
Crawford, and the other on Hacker’s Camp run in the
“Shoestring”. Hacker’s oldest son Jonathan, to whom
he gave these claims, left the one on Little Skin creek to
settle on Crane Camp. His abandoned cabin, reputed tc
be haunted by ghosts, stood on the site for many years,



THE COLLINS SETTLEMENT 137

and furnished shelter for numerous hunting parties.
The lower course of the West Fork was thoroughly ex-
plored by 1774 by Jesse Hughes, John P. Duvail and
others. ’

That the upper valley of the West Fork was not
pamaaently settled folloving the exploraticns is due to
the Indian wars. Among the records of land certificates
granted in 1781 is one to Joseph Hall “on the east side
of the west branch of the Monongahela river to include
his settlement made thereon in 1777 At the same
time Jacob Bush received a certificate for “400 acres
on the West Fork about two miles below the main fork
of said river to include his improvement made thereon
in 1777.” The latter tract was probably above Abram’s
run. No trace of the settlement has been found, nor is
the nature of the “improvement” known. He evidently
never returned after the Indian wars to occupy it. John
Pierce Duvall, whose claims were strategically located
all through Lewis and Harrison counties with a view to
their later importance as town sites, bought out two
early settlers in the district. One was at the Indian
carrying place, now Arnold, near the lowest point in the
divide between the West Fork and the Little Kanawha
rivers, to include a settlement in 1776, and the other at
the forks of the West Fork, to include a corn right dating
back to the same year. It may well be doubted whether
there were four acres cleared and planted in corn above
Walkersville by 1776, which would have given the right
to the 400 acres of land included in the grant. John P.
‘Duvall was one of the three commissioners to adjust
disputes and issue certificates. The land opposite
Walkersville on the south side of the forks of the river
was not surveyed until 1820.

By far the most important tract of land in the his-
tory of the district was that patented by Colonel George
Jackson. It included five thousand acres in the valley ot
the West Fork lying between the two town sites of
John P. Duvall. In the middle of the tract he selected
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a plot of ground on a high bottom near a good ford
of the river where later the future town of Jacksonville
was to be located. There was at that time not a single
settler in the upper valley of the West Fork. Years
afterward he confirmed the location of the town in a
deed granted to his daughter Mrs. Prudence Arnold.

In order to bring about the settlement of this land
as soon as possible and to encourage further settlements
in the region round about his tracts, Colonel Jackson
agreed to donate to some Irish settlers of the South
Branch valley small tracts of land if they would make
settlements here and stay until the settlement became
permanent. They were also to mark a bridle path from
their settlement to the Flesher settlement at the mouth
of Stone Coal creek. The offer was accepted by several
families.

John Collins and his three sons, Jacob, Cornelius
and Isaac, were the first permanent settlers in the dis-
trict. They brought all their worldly possessions to
the upper West Fork on packhorses in the winter of
1797-98, and selected the broad bottom facing the rising
sun which is now part of the George I. Davisson farm
about one mile south of Jacksonville. The first cabin
was located on the right side of the river and not far
northeast of the sugar orchard. The Collins’ weré¢ in-
dustrious and cleared a considerable portion of the land
in the immediate vicinity of their homes. They remained
in their original location until after the formation of
Lewis County when they sought a more favorable sit-
uation in the west.

Captain James Keith and Dan T. Turvey emigrated
to the same region immediately after the Collins settle-
ment was established. Captain Keith’s cabin stood on
the south side of Calamus hollow a short distance above
Jacksonville. He had the reputation of being by far the
best hunter in all that section, averaging, it is said,
fifteen or twenty deer a week during the hunting sea-
son. He was also one of the largest fruit growers in the
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West Fork valley, and years afterwards his orchard was
resorted to by the people of the neighborhood.

In 1799 a man named Shoulders settled at the forks
of the river. The next year the Bennetts came over the
old Seneca trail from the upper Potomac valley. Wil-
liam Bennett located on Colonel Jackson’s land just be-
low the tract selected by Shoulders. Abram Bennett
located on Abram’s run, which took its name from its
first settler. Joseph Bennett located on the stream a
little later. Jacob Bennett made his settlement farther
up the Right Fork on Leatherbark run. The Bennetts
were fruit growers and propagated apples from seeds
which they had brought with them from the Potomac
valley. Captain James Keith married a daughter of
William Bennett, and doubtless received as part of her
dowry the apple seeds from which grew his famous
orchard. The Bennetts have continued to the present
time to occupy the ancestral farm of William Bennett.
He died in 1857, and his tombstone in Long Point cem-
etery states that “he lived 29,780 days, without guile and
without reproach, progenitor of 248 descendants.”

One of the most important settlements on the Jack-
son tract was that made by Rev. Henry Camden in 1804.
His cabin stood a short distance west of Jacksonville
where Camden hollow debouches into the valley of the
river. Here he cleared the high bottom, reared a large
family, and was a leader in the community for years.
He was one of the earliest preachers on the Lewis cir-
cuit of the Methodist Episcopal church which at first em-
braced appointments all the way from Burnersville in
Barbour County to Salt Lick creek in Braxton. The
Camdens remained there for many years. The old
Camden-Collins cemetery containing the graves of the
pioneers of the district, unmarked save for rough flag-
stones, is on the hillside above the site of the Keith
house.

Shortly after the Rev. Camden located in the valley,
John Byrne settled on the right bank of the river about
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one mile below Walkersville. Robert Crawford built his
cabin in the broad meadow near the mouth of Indian
Cap run in 1815. The Bennetts, Crawford and the Cam-
dens became the mainstays of one of the most important
Methodist congregations in the Monongahela valley at
an early date. Jesse Cunningham came about the same
time as Crawford and settled on Abram’s run. Elijah
Arnold, who married Colonel Jackson’s daughter, settled
on the town site of Jacksonville in 1830. The old manor
house is still standing, and is occupied as a summer
home by Mrs. Mary A. Edmiston, a great-granddaughter
of Colonel Jackson.

On John Pierce Duvall’s town site at the Indian
Carrying place, George T. Duvall settled at an early
date. He is supposed to have been a son of Colonel
Duvall.

On Sand fork of the West Fork, the first settlement
appears to have been made by Samuel Wilson, near the
mouth of Sammy’s run. His cabin stood where John
Rollyson formerly lived. He came from Staunton, and
some of his descendants bear a marked resemblance to
President Wilson. He did not continue long on Sand
fork, but moved to the Right fork of West Fork. The
Rev. George 1. Marsh settled farther up Sand fork also
at a very early date. Below the mouth of Sammy’s run
the McCrays had made their settlement before 1820.

For years after the Collins Settlement became
permanent and prosperous, the pioneers on the upper
West Fork were cut off from all the other settlements
by a wall of primeval forest. Their nearest neighbors
were on Salt Lick creek, at the Ward place on Skin
creek, and at Weston. The valley below Arnold was not
occupied for a distance of ten miles. In 1808, Abner
Mitchell located about one mile below the site of the
village of Roanoke. He was for years the only settler on
the river from George Duvall’s to the mouth of Skin
creek.
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The bridle path which had been blazed by the Col-
lins’ continued in use for many years without improve-
ment. It was occasionally followed by the residents of
the older settlements on their trips to Haymond’s salt
works: The trail from the Buckhannon river settlement
to the same place entered Collins settlement from Skin
creek and again plunged into the wilds. The West Fork
river in its upper reaches was far too small to consider
building flat boats, and the problem of transportation for
the Collins settlement remained for a future generation
to solve.

Reference has already been made to the Methodist
society which had been organized in the Collins settle-
ment, and which continued for years to prosper under
the guidance of the Rev. Camden. Apparently no repre-
sentative of other sects entered the valley of the upper
Fork until later, and even at the present time the
churches of other denominations are few and far be-
tween, so strong is the hold of the Methodists there.

The early progress of education in the Collins set-
tlement is unknown. Unfortunately the early traditions
have failed to hand down the location of school houses
and the names of the early teachers who helped to pro-
duce coming leaders of the state—a United States sena-
tor, jurists, legislators, constitution makers, empire
builders, capitalists, educators and officials of the na-
tion and of the state. William Schoolcraft, who lived
on the upper West Fork at an early date, is said to have
been a “noted school teacher and hunter.” Further than
the one entry the record is blank.



CHAPTER XII.
FREEMAN’S CREEK DISTRICT

Freeman’s Creek district is the largest in the county,
the richest by far, and has the greatest population. The
soil is very fertile, though, aside from the West Fork
river bottoms, there is a less proportion of tillable land
in the district than in any of the other districts with
the exception of Court House. The farmers are pros-
perous, and better farming methods are employed than
in most other sections. The district does not represent
as homogenous a territory as most of the others, since
about three-fifths of the territory is drained by Free-
man’s creek, Polk creek, McCann’s run and the southern
hollows of Kincheloe creek, all of which are tributaries
of the West Fork; and the other two-fifths lies on Fink
creek, Alum fork and other tributaries of Leading
creek. There is an overflow of the Irish settlements
from Sand Fork and its tributaries in the southwestern
portion of the district.

The derivation of the name of the creek is uncertain,
but it was evidently named for some early explorer
Lieutenant Edward Freeman, who served in Captain
Booth’s company of militia at the beginning of the Rev-
olution, was one of the earliest comers to the upper
West Fork valley, and the stream was probably named
for him.

Reference has already been made to many of the
homesteads which were taken out in 1781. The most
important of them is the town site of John P. Duvall at
the forks of the creek, and the patents on Gee Lick run.
Land on Horse run was originally granted to Alexander
West, the scout. By 1808, George Arnold was a large
landholder, in partnership with John P. Duvall. He
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added to the plot owned by Duvall in the forks of the
creek, and took up other tracts in various parts of the
district, so that the possessions of Duvall and Arnold
bear a somewhat similar relation in the later settlement
of the district to those of Col. George Jackson in the
Collins settlement. James Arnold was also a large land-
holder on Freeman’s creek and Polk creek at a somewhat
later date. Owing to the number and scattered loca-
tions of homesteads taken up before the close of the
Revolution, unbroken tracts of thousands of acres were
not numerous.

Mention has already been made of the settlements
of Edward Hughes and Edmund Radcliff near the mouth
of McCann’s run, and of the settlement made by Patrick
McCann about 1785. He was followed a little later by
Daniel McCann, and these last named settlers continued
to live in the community for several years. Following
the close of the Indian wars Richard Hall, progenitor of
one branch of the numerous Hall family in Lewis Coun-
ty, built his home on McCann’s run- His brother-in-
law Smith Gibson settled on the farm now owned by
George Neely.

The first permanent settlement on Freeman’s creek
is supposed to have been that of John Runyon at the
mouth of the stream. Adam and John Bush took up
homesteads before 1790 not far above the settlement of
Runyon where they successfully repulsed an Indian
raid. On the future site of Freemansburg George Bush
took up his residence in 1790 He industriously cleared
the forest around his cabin, took up adjacent lands, pur-
chased the rights of other homesteaders who had be-
come discouraged, and eventually became the owner of
one of the most extensive estates in the county. The
next resident of the vicinity is supposed to have been
Jacob Schoolcraft who settled on the Alexander West
patent at the mouth of Horse run. John Smith and
Robert Hitt came to Horse run soon afterwards; and
they were followed in their turn by William McKinley,
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who settled on a branch of the stream not far from the
site of Freemansburg.

Soon after the last of the Indian raids, George
Woofter and Jonathan Woofter moved to the valley.
The former settled on Rush run, and the latter on the
Solomon White farm on the left fork of Freeman's
creek. Their descendants have done much in the later
development of the western part of the district. Carr
Bailey moved from the Bailey settlement which later be-
came Westfield to a tract which he purchased on Rush
run. Shortly afterwards the land near the forks of
Freeman’s creek was settled by John and William White.
Hezekiah Tharp located about a mile below their set-
tlement very early in the nineteenth century. In later
years he built a mill on his farm at which all the grind-
ing for the settlers on the creek was done for many
years. The mill was afterwards sold, and Tharp sought
a home in the westt The Norrises are thought to have
come to Freeman’s creek about the year 1800. Richard
Norris settled on the south bank of the creek about one-
half mile above the lower bridge across the stream, and
John Norris became the first settler on Millstone run.

One of the first settlers on Gee Lick run was Charles
Fisher, whose cabin stood near the forks of the stream
where Minor Lough now lives. John Waggoner located
about one mile further up the creek on what is now the
Lot Hall farm, also at an early date. One of his neigh-
bors was a man named Nair. Much of the land on Gee
Lick soon passed into the hands of Paulser Butcher,
whose children and grandchildren occupied most of the
attractive farms on the lower course of the stream.

The first religious services on Freeman's creek were
held at the home of George Woofter on Rush run by
Rev. John Davis, an intinerant preacher of the Baptist
church. The date must have been at the very beginning
of the century. After the establishment of the Broad
run Baptist church, its pastors occasionally came to
upper Freeman’s creek to hold services. Interest grew,
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and the community became a regular preaching place.
A church was organized in 1820—the first offspring in
Lewis County of the Broad Run Baptist church—by the
Rev. John ]J. Waldo. Among the first members were
Carr Bailey and wife, George Woofter and wife, Mrs:
Jennie Woofter, John White and wife, James Cox and
wife, Isaac Woofter and Mrs. Rachel White. The
church, under a succession of pastors of more than or-
dinary ability, has expanded to meet the needs of the
community. The Bible school which has always been
a strongly emphasized feature of the work of the church,
has developed until now it is regarded as the best or-
ganized country Sunday school in the state,

The first school of which there is any tradition was
taught in an abandoned log cabin on the Bush estate near
Freemansburg about the year 1818.

The lands of Polk creek were not occupied so early
as those on Freeman’s creek on account of the well
traveled Indian trail which followed the course of the
stream. The name was given to it on account of the
fact that an early explorer found a pokestalk growing in
the forks of a sycamore tree near the mouth of the creek.
The spelling was changed to its present form in the
early ’thirties. After the close of the Indian wars the
land on the lower course of the stream gradually came
into possession of the Fleshers, whose descendants con-
tinued to occupy it for many years. Leonard Burkham-
mer settled on a claim about two miles from the mouth
of the stream about the year 1800. Adam Hoover, who
came at a somewhat later date, became the first settler
on Dry Fork. On the present site of Camden, John
Nicholes built his cabin early in the last century. It be-
came an important stopping place for travelers to and
from the Leading creek country in after years. The
greater portion of the lands on the creek were undevel-
oped for many years on account of the holdings of great
landowners who allowed it to lie idle. John Connelly
built a small water-power mill about one mile above the
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mouth of the stream which was in existence by about
1816, but its owner discontinued it not long after the
completion of the more modern mill at Weston.

Below the mouth of Polk creek on the West Fork
river, Paulser Butcher, later an important citizen of the
community, established himself about the time of the
treaty of Greenville. Little is known of his parentage
or family connections. He was evidently an orphan,
and after the customs of the time he had been bound out
to Henry Flesher, the pioneer of Weston, until he reach-
ed his majority. He early showed a marked degree of
business ability. Before his indenture had expired he
took out a homestead for himself in the valley below
Weston, and upon reaching his majority he built his
house on the opposite side of the river and a little be-
low the mouth of Maxwell’s run. He improved the land
to some extent by clearing it and planting an orchard of
peach and apple trees, but he soon found an easier means
of increasing his wealth. He brought a thirty-gallon
copper still across the mountains from the vicinity of
Richmond by packhorse and set it up on his farm. Here,
according to tradition, he made the first peach brandy
produced west of the Alleghanies. He also made whis-
key from corn and rye which were grown on his farm
or bought from his neighbors. He also made liquor for
the farmers for miles around on the shares, taking a
reasonable toll. The demand for the product of the still
was very great. The owner grew wealthy and added
most of the lands in the vicinity to his farm. He was
able to give a large farm to each of his sons and a re-
spectable dowry with each of his daughters.

Just below the mouth of Freeman’s creek was an-
other landholder with estates equal to those of a feudal
baron Edward Jackson, who had attained the rank of
colonel in the Virginia army, and whose deeds as an
Indian fighter are only less than those of his distinguish-
ed brother Colonel George Jackson, acquired title to the
lands at the mouth of Freeman’s creek, and settled there
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after the close of the Indian wars. In 1808 he built a
combined grist and sawmill just below the mouth of
Freeman’s creek, which has become famous from its
associations with the boyhood days of Stonewall Jack-
son. The mill was long regarded as being one of the
best in the county. The supply of raw material to keep
it in operation came from the numerous farms round
about and from the estate which included it. The
slaves of the proprietor raised corn and wheat in the
broad bottoms in the summer season and cut poplar
logs in the winter.

Colonel Edward Jackson was one of the most prom-
inent surveyors in the history of Lewis County, and his
profession often took him far from his estate. Almost
from the first the management of the mill was in the
hands of Cummings Jackson, and within a short time
he acquired possession of it. The new owner added to
the family possessions until his estate included fifteen
hundred acres. Though he was accused of being an un-
usually great violator of the laws in his time, he was
extremely popular with the people round about, and was
the idol of the laboring classes, because he gave employ-
ment to many persons at all times of the year, either on
his farm or in getting out timber for his mill. Poplar
logs were cut on the banks of Freeman’s creek and
floated to the mill. After the establishment of Weston,
the mill was kept running day and night throughout the
late fall and winter seasons. Most of the lumber used
before the Civil war in building the frame houses of
Weston, was sawed at the Jackson mill.

Kincheloe creek, named for its first explorer, was
not very thickly settled before 1860. Most of the pion-
eers took up lands on the north side of the creek in Har-
rison county, where the bottoms were wider. Some of
the Hugheses, relatives of the Indian fighters, moved
from McCann’s run and settled very early on Turkeypen
run on the Lewis County side. The family has contin-
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ued until the past few years to occupy the ancestral es-
tate.

The western part of Freeman’s Creek district which
is drained by streams flowing into the Little Kanawha
was settled much later than the lands on the West Fork
and its tributaries. It was by no means neglected, how-
ever. The rich pasturage found in the sheltered coves
of Fink creek was used for grazing purposes by the set-
tlers on Hacker’s creek following the close of the Indian
wars. Fink creek and Leading creek were both famous
for the products of the chase. Trappers secured some of
their best furs in that region. The mouth of Fink ecreek
was the favorite site for hunters’ camps even before the
close of the Indian wars. For many years the valleys of
both streams continued to be clothed in the primeval for-
est.

The first settler on the lower course of the creek was
John Hurst, who had formerly resided on the Tygart’s
Valley river. He came late in the spring of 1815, com-
pleted his cabin on the tenth of April and moved into
it. Later in the season he cleared a corn patch from
which he secured sufficient breadstuffs for his family.
It was the most strenuous sort of labor. During the day
he would grub out saplings, pile brush and cut down
trees; at night he would chop logs by the light of the
burning brush heaps: Sometimes it is said that he would
continue his work of chopping all night. His Sundays
were spent in killing rattlesnakes and copperheads
which infested the country. In later years he continued
to increase the circle of his clearings, meanwhile fighting
the panthers, wildcats and wolves which threatened the
destruction of his live stock.

On the upper course of Fink creek, Isaac Woofter,
son of George Woofter, settled near the mouth of
Isaac’s fork on the present site of Churchville at about
the same time as the settlement of Hurst farther down
the creek. The contiguity of his farm to the Freeman's
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creek settlements made his task an easy one in compari-
son with that of Hurst.

Leading creek remained practically a wilderness un-
til the middle of the nineteenth century. Lewis Stall-
man, who was one of the earliest residents along the
course of the stream, made his first settlement near the
present site of Troy in Gilmer County. John Money-
penny settled near the head of the creek not far from
John Nicholes very early in the century and he was fol-
lowed at a later date by Amos and William Woofter,
sons of the pioneers of Freeman’s creek. It was not un-
til after the completion of the Staunton and Parkers-
burg turnpike that the valley became attractive to set-
t.ers. :



CHAPTER XIII.
PROGRESS IN THE OLDER SETTLEMENTS

It must not be taken for granted that the other set-
tlements on Hacker’s creek were marking time during
the twenty years after the peace of Greenville. While
oases of settlements were being created in the primeval
forests on Skin creek, the Hacker’s creek settlements felt
the surge of energy and the revivifying effects of the in-
fusion of new blood. On the creek the older settlers
had begun their clearings and had laid the foundations for
the structure of a later society. The settlers who came
after 1795 had the advantage of their toil. They lived
in comparative comfort, even in backwoods opulence.
There was no struggle with the savages, no uncertainty
respecting the maintenance of law and order, no necessi-
ty for the head of the family to come to the land he had
selected and cultivate a crop before he could bring his
family. If the supply of venison was somewhat less,
there was assured plenty of grain in the settlement to
furnish his family with breadstuffs, and the pioneers
were only too glad to dispose of the surplus in return
for money which the new comers brought with them
from the east. There was a mill in the settlements on
which the corn could be ground without having to de-
pend upon the slow process of grinding in hand mills or
the unsatisfactory method of grating the corn on a tin
grater. There was reasonable assurance that a school
would be established in the neighborhood at some time
during the winter, so that there was no fear that their
children would grow up without the rudiments of an
education. Some of the young men in fact were at-
tracted to Hacker’s creek because of the profitable em-
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ployment in teaching school. Those who were religiously
inclined need have no fear that their spiritual wants
would remain unsatisfied or that their children would
grow up in ignorance of religion, for a church had been
established in the neighborhood. It was by virtue of
these facts that men of property and influence in the
eastern part of the state left their homes and came to
the valley of Hacker’s creek. The character of the later
immigrants was of the highest in all respects, and their
descendants have taken a part in the political, social and
economic life of the western part of Virginia second only
to that of the descendants of the pioneers.

The names of some of the immigrants to Hacker’s
creek in the last years of the eighteenth century are John
Marple, John Kee, Elijah Waggoner, George Cunning-
ham, Joseph Straley, Thomas C. Hinzman, Joseph
Pumphrey, Jacob Henline and Alexander Morrison.
John Life, whose parents were natives of Germany, set-
tled on a branch of the creek which now bears the name
of Life’s run. Jonathan Hacker returned from his wan-
derings on Skin creek and the upper West Fork gnd set-
tled near his father’s home. .

Just how fast the rush of settlements was may be
inferred from a study of the statistics given for Harrison
County in the decennial census reports. In 1790, the
population was 2080; in 1800, 4848; in 1810, 9958; and in
1820, after the formation of Lewis County had cut off
two-thirds of the territory of the county, the population
was 10,932, and that of Lewis County 4,247. If the same
ratio of increase applied to Hacker’s creek as to the older
settlements in Harrison County, then the increase of
population in the valley of the creek must have been
much faster than that of the outlying sections of the
county where land was far lower in price:

The land on the eastern side of the West Fork river
was also well settled within the two decades following
the cessation of Indian hostlities. The Broad run settle-
ment received an important addition to its numbers from
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a great immigration of New Jersey citizens which oc-
curred about 1806. The Newlons, Minters and Baileys
. came from Fauquier or Culpepper County, Virginia, and
settled on the wide bottoms of the West Fork where the
town of Westfield afterwards grew up, sank into obscur-
ity and finally altogether ceased to exist.

The increase in the population brought further im-
provements in the conditions of living, which is apparent
from an examination of the records of the time. Pun-
cheon floors, rough-hewn doors and split log benches
ceased to exist in the better houses with the addition
of a sawmill to the grist mill of Henry McWhorter on
the later site of Jane Lew. The owner of a thousand
acres could now sit at a level table and eat his food in
greater comfort and security. If he were wealthy enough
and had sufficient patience to wait a long time, he could
even have the front of his house weatherboarded, and
thus deceive the stranger into thinking he lived in a frame
mansion. The sawmill of Henry McWhorter, like his
grist mill was a crude affair. It consisted principally of
a vertical sash saw attached to run by water power.
There was no limit to the raw material available for the
mill. A poplar log could be sawed in half the time re-
quired for a white oak log, and poplar lumber was there-
fore the only product of the sawmill for years to come.

Another improvement introduced after the peace of
Greenville was the wagon. The first wheeled vehicle
to cross the mountain roads and reach Clarksburg ar-
rived in 1798. It is related that when it was sighted on
the opposite side of Elk creek, the news spread like
wildfire, and the excitement was intense. Rich and poor
alike left their employments and hastened to view the
hitherto unknown spectacle in the quiet valley of the
West Fork. Even the judge of the circuit court ad-
journed the session for the day and went to the scene.
The bank of Elk creek was dug down at the ford in order
to make the passage of the wagon possible. His Honor
Judge Jackson took hold of one of the wheels of the
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wagon and assisted its passage to the high bottoms on the
other side. It was a great day for Clarksburg—as great
a day as that which marked the coming of the first rail-
road train—for if one wagon could successfully accom-
plish the passage of the mountains and the rivers from
the east, others could do the same, and there would soon
be wide roads and more comforts in the settlements and
perhaps—later on—a stage coach! The pioneer who
dared to bring the first wagon into the county was held
in such honor that most of the population of the county
seat accompanied him to the tract of land he had pur-
chased and assisted him to build his home. Other wag-
ons were brought west in a steady stream. By 1804
the demand for repairs for the large number of wagons in
the vicinity and on the state road, and for new wagons
to be built for use in the county, became so great that
a wagon-shop was established in Clarksburg.

The first wagon reached the Buckhannon valley in
1800. It was brought by Jacob Lorentz and others, emi-
grants from the South Branch. There were no roads
over the mountains, and on several occasions it was
necessary to take the wagon apart and carry it and its
load over a particularly difficult part of the way on the
backs of horses. Eventually it reached its intended des-
tination on Saul’s run.

Just when the first wagon reached Lewis County is
not known. There is a tradition in the McWhorter fam-
ily that when Henry McWhorter came to the Hacker’s
creek valley in 1790, he moved his goods by wagon, but
this is believed to be a mistake. If he brought the first
wagon to the county it must have been at a later date.
For a long time wagons were very scarce west of the
mountains, and one wagon was often used by several
‘families.

Though stores had been established in Clarksburg
before the opening of the century, the first store which
really had much influence on the later development of
Lewis County was that established by Jacob Lorentz
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just over the present boundary line in Upshur County,
shortly after his arrival in the Trans-Alleghany region.
For many years it continued to be the only store for
miles around. It was not at first a pretentious estab-
lishment. The stock of goods was necessarily limited
by the difficulties of transportation. A department store
could not now exist in Weston if the stock of goods
had to be brought on pack horses from Winchester.
Calico was fifty cents a yard, nails were twenty-five
cents a pound and other goods in proportion. Little
cash was taken in by the proprietor. Most of the sales
were made in exchange for the products of the pioneers’
farms or the neighboring forests. Hogs, cattle, skins and
the roots of medicinal plants were the principal media
of exchange. It is said that at a later date the proprietor
took a drove of 937 hogs over the mountains. A wagon
load of corn to be fed to the hogs, accompanied the party.

The same year that marked the advent of the wagon
at Clarksburg also witnessed the coming of another great
convenience. The postoffice address of the pioneer res-
idents of the upper West Fork was no longer “Winches-
ter, Va.,” but “Clarksburg, Va.”

The number of long trips to the east was still fur
ther reduced by the establishment of a manufacturing in-
dustry in the valley of the West Fork. Early tradition
states that Henry Flesher operated a still on Town run,
which is called “Stillhouse run” in the early records.
Possibly Paulser Butcher acquired his skill in making
liquor from having assisted around Flesher’s still. Other
pioneers besides Flesher and Butcher engaged in the pro-
duction of ardent spirits, which were then regarded as a
necessity by most of the settlers.

The manufacture of salt also began very early in ter-
ritory included for a time in Lewis County. Calder
Haymond, in 1781 received a certificate for 400 acres of
land on Salt Lick creek by right of residence there and
raising corn before 1778. The land was regarded as of
small value until about 1807 when Benjamin Conrad’s
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cow discovered a saline spring and made a path to it.
By following the path the owner of the land came upon
the spring which produced an excellent quality of brine.
Operations were begun there the following year. The
spring, which is located not far from Bulltown, produced
many hundreds of bushels of salt, operations being con-
ducted on an especially large scale during the war of
1812. Salt works were also established on the West
Fork above Clarksburg by John G. Jackson and others.
Several wells were drilled, and a fairly good qualilty of
brine was procured. Eventually, however, these wells
failed to yield salt in paying quantities and the opera-
tions were abandoned.

Clarksburg naturally became the metropolis of the
county. A newspaper was established there in 1815.
At a very early date it had a boat-yard where flatboats
were built to be floated down the river to Pittsburgh
loaded with the products of the pioneer farms. Whisky,
grain, furs, skins, lumber and country produce were the
principal articles shipped down the river. Many flat-
boats were built at various places and sent down the river
on the autumn rise with cargoes consisting of the varied
produce of the country.

When the number of wagons became large enough
to compel the opening of wagon roads to the east, arti-
cles, such as hides, linen, butter, honey, beeswax, ginseng
and snake root were shipped over the mountains where
they brought higher prices than at Pittsburgh.

As in earlier periods of the history of the upper West
Fork valley, the principal export of the farmers was live
stock. They could be raised easily on the succulent pas-
turage of upper Freeman’s creek, Fink creek and other
sections, and they possessed a great advantage over all
other kinds of agricultural produce in that they could
be driven to market.

The first improvement in the kind of stock kept by
the farmers of the county followed the emigration of an
isolated group of New England colonists who settled on
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French creek, now in Upshur County in 1810. The cat-
tle they drove before them were so far superior to the
scrub stock which had been brought from eastern Vir-
ginia that the farmers in the surrounding region began
cross-breeding their cattle with them. The result was a
decided improvement in the quality of cattle kept. The
upper valley of the West Fork soon became famous as a
cattle raising section.

Methods of handling live stock changed little from
the earlier day. They were still allowed to run out in
the winter, being fed fodder and some hay. In the sum-
mer they roamed the woods, feeding mainly from the
wild pea-vine. The extent of the range was increased
greatly when the menace of the Indians was removed:
Farmers were accustomed to brand their cattle and turn
them out on the range, salting them at stated intervals,
and always at the same place. Upper Freeman’s creek
and Fink creek were the choicest districts for pasturage;
and many a Hacker’s creek farmer became wealthy from
the herds of fat cattle which he sold off the range every
fall,

In those days wealth was estimated principally in
terms of land. The value of land was determined prin-
cipally by the improvements which had been made upon
it. The amount of land which a farmer was able to have
cleared depended mainly upon the number of sons, nearly
grown, which he had in his family. All the families of
that day were large, but if there was an undue proportion
of daughters too much emphasis was likely to be placed
upon raising corn instead of upon clearing more land.
The farmers did not understand the simplest laws gov-
erning soil fertility, and they continued to till a field as
long as it would produce a crop.

The growing of wheat which was made practicable
by the construction of the Edward Jackson mill and the
later improvements on the mill of Henry McWhorter,
soon attained considerable proportions. Biscuits and
salt-rising bread soon relieved the settler from the mo-
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notony of a steady diet of corn pone and johnny-cake.
The growing of wheat, as practiced on the upper West
Fork in the earliest period was an exceedingly primitive
industry, hardly advanced at all from the methods in use
five thousand years before. The grain was cut with a
sickle and threshed with a flail. The equipment of the
early mills was also exceedingly primitive. Instead of
bolting cloths, deerskins, pierced full of holes with a red-
hot needle, were in use.

The citizens of Hacker’s creek had a share in the
war of 1812. John McWhorter had been commissioned
a captain of the Harrison County regiment of Virginia
militia a year or so before the warr When the war broke
out he raised a company of volunteers which was mus-
tered on the wide bottom of Hacker’s creek just below
the mouth of Life’s run. The company was marched to
Parkersburg, where they took boat for Point Pleasant.
There they were mustered into the federal service and
sent to the Maumee river to join the forces of General
Harrison. They remained at Fort Meigs until their
terms expired, 13 April 1813, when they returned home
on foot. Captain McWhorter continued in the service
until the close of the war and was promoted to the rank
of colonel. The war had little effect upon the upper
West Fork. Aside from the number of young men
withdrawn from farm work, it was hardly noticed. De-
velopment continued quietly.

About the year 1815 the beginnings of towns in the
southern portion of Harrison County could be discerned.
A few settlers had continued to live near West’s fort
after the Indian attacks ceased. McWhorter’s mill later
proved to be a good nucleus for a village. Daniel Har-
pole, who owned the land now occupied by the town at
that time, is said to have started a tannery about 1815;
but he soon became discouraged and sold out to Jacob
Bonnett, a farmer.

Three or four miles west of McWhorter’s mill and
about the same distance from Colonel Edward Jackson’s
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mill, a small settlement grew up about William Newlon’s
store under the name of Westfield. It seems to have
been the outgrowth of the movement to form Lewis
County, and the promoters doubtless expected to secure
the designation of the village as the county seat: It was
expected that industries, such as mills, tanyards, etc.,
would follow. There was a population of five or six fam-
ilies in 1816, the year the county was formed. An act
creating the town on land belonging to the heirs of
William Newland (Newlon )was passed shortly after
the act for the formation of the county. John Bailey,
Elijah Newland, Jacob Minter, Minter Bailey and Wil-
liam Powers were designated in the act as the trustees
of the town, and it was provided that vacancies in the
board should be filled by the other trustees. According
to the act, “whenever any purchaser of a lot build a
dwelling house thereon equal to twelve feet square with
a brick or stone chimney, such purchaser shall enjoy the
same privileges which the freeholders of other towns not
incorporated hold and enjoy.” A year or two later West-
field had attained to considerable importance for that
time. Besides several new dwellings a school house had
been erected in which at least one term of school was
taught by Weeden Hoffman. The schoolmaster turned
storekeeper in the town within a year or so.

Buckhannon was also established as a town by the
legislature in 1816. Aspirations of the people to obtain
the seat of justice of the new county were partly respon-
sible, but there was a small settlement there which would
perhaps justify the creation of a town. A ferry had been
established across the Buckhannon river near the mouth
of Jawbone run some years before, and a small settlement
had grown up around it. Weston was then an improved
farm.

The first church building erected within the pres-
ent limits of Lewis County was the Harmony Methodist
Episcopal church in 1800. The building was the out-
growth of the society formed in 1786 at the home of
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John Hacker- It stood on a slight rise above the mouth
of Jesse’s run. For its day it was a pretentious struct-
ure, being constructed of hewn logs with a gallery. From
this church there went out later a number of prominent
ministers of the gospel like the Rev. John Mitchell and
the Rev. David Smith who sowed the seeds of other or-
ganizations in outlying parts of the county and made
class leaders out of mob leaders. The second church to
be built on the creek was at the forks of Hacker’s creek,
near the present site of Berlin, under the leadership of
the Rev. John Mitchell. Both became Methodist Prot-
estant churches when that church was split off from the
Methodist Episcopal church in 1829. It is said that
Harmony church was the first Methodist Protestant
church in existence west of the Alleghanies.

One of the most important churches ever established
in the county from the standpoint of its influence over
the future development of the religious life of the peo-
ple of northwestern Virginia was the Broad Run Baptist
church which began its existence in 1805. Elder John
Carney, an itinerant Baptist preacher from the Buck-
hannon valley, came to Duck creek, now in Harrison
county, about four miles north of Broad run, in 1804,
and began a series of meetings among the New Jersey
settlers who had lately emigrated there. As his monthly
visits continued considerable interest was awakened in
religion. Settlers who had been good Baptists in New
Jersey again felt the impulses of faith. A meeting was
called for the purpose of considering the wisdom of
forming a Baptist church. On February 5, 1805, the
people of the community met in a private home in the
presence of an advisory council: The meeting is said to
have been “one of great solemnity and glorified by the
conscious presence of the Holy Spirit.” An opportunity
was offered for those who wished to become members of
the Baptist church, and while the congregation sang,

“Am I a soldier of the Cross
A follower of the Lamb—"



160 A HISTORY OF LEWIS COUNTY

eight persons presented themselves for membership.
The charter members of the church were Walter Smith
and wife, Job West and wife, Samuel Romine and wife,
and Solomon Wires and wife. They were declared to be
the Good Hope Baptist church. Elder Carney continued
his monthly visits to the church for some years.

The Baileys and Minters and others, Baptists from
Fauquier County, Virginia, who had come to Whiteoak
Flat run in the latter part of the eighteenth century, also
formed a congregation under the guidance of the Rev.
John Carney, in 1806. The pioneer members of this
church were Jacob Minter and wife, Alexander West,
Edmund West, James Bailey and wife, and Elizabeth,
wife of Captain James Bailey. Because of the fact that
most of the members had belonged to the Broad Run
Baptist church in Fauquier County, they chose the same
name for the new congregation.

Meanwhile some of the New Jersey settlers moved
from Duck creek to land in the West Fork valley about
the mouth of Whiteoak Flat run. The church at Duck
creek became divided geographically but not in a relig-
ious sense. Meetings of the Good Hope church were
held in private homes both on Duck creek and on the
West Fork farther south. The membership of the two
Baptist congregations increased rapidly: In 1808 the
congregations had outgrown the accommodations to be
found in the cabins of the pioneers, and a movement was
begun to erect a church building. John Brown donated
a few acres of land for a church and a cemetery about
two hundred yards from the location of the old Mongue
fort. A building of hewn logs, twenty-four by thirty
feet, was constructed in the same year, and here the
united churches worshipped for many years, until the
log structure became inadequate for the purpose. A
frame church, “low and squatty,” took its place, followed
by another frame church and finally by an imposing
brick edifice.
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The second pastor of the church was Elder John
Goss, of Georgia, an evangelist in the employ of the
Southern Board of Missions. He is described as being
tall, of angular build and of quick, nervous movement.
His sermons were interspersed with humorous anecdotes
and quaint illustrations. Elder John J. Waldo succeeded
him after some years. Benjamin Holden, one of three
brothers who did much to extend the Baptist faith in
Northwestern Virginia, came next, and he was followed
by Elder Carr Bailey, one of the pioneers of the Free-
man’s creek country and the leader of the church there.
Anthony Garrett, one of the earliest converts of the
church, whose ministerial labors are said to have been
more abundant than those of any of his co-laborers, fol-
lowed Elder Bailey in the ministry.

The influence of Broad Run church in the religious
development of northwestern Virginia was tremendous.
From Broad run as a center Baptist preachers went forth
over the whole northwest, from the mountains to the Ohio
river, riding on horseback through trackless forests,
preaching to small groups collected in the homes of the
settlers, baptizing converts, forming new churches and
carrying the seeds of a higher civilization with them all
the while. The Broad Run Baptist association, which
was formed as a result of their labors, embraced at its in-
ception about half the territory now included in the state
of West Virginia. The great number of Baptist churches
scattered over the northern part of the state attests the
success of their endeavors.



CHAPTER XIV.

THE FORMATION OF LEWIS COUNTY

The system of local government in Virginia before
the Civil war demanded small counties. The judicial and
administrative work was so centralized in a small body
of men that it was practically impossible for the justices
to look after the interests of a great number of people
scattered over a wide expanse of territory. The business
of the county court was usually transacted with four jus-
tices present unless there was a levy to be made or offi-
cers to be elected, when all the justices were summoned
by the sheriff. The presiding justice and three others
who lived near the county seat usually made up the court,
and the same ones were not necessarily present on two
consecutive days. Under such conditions the public
business was more or less neglected, especially that in
which the people who lived at a distance from the county
seat were concerned. For some time prior to 1816 there
had been much complaint among the people residing
along the upper West Fork, the Buckhannon and the
Little Kanawha rivers that their interests were being
neglected by the county court, which seemed intent upon
developing Clarksburg and the country round about it.
It was the age-old complaint of the communities on the
frontier—of western Virginia against that part of the
Old Dominion east of the mountains, and later of the
frontier sections of Lewis County as they began to reach
their full development.

The progress of settlement in the southern part of
Harrison County, though not quite so rapid as around
Clarksburg, was very swift. Three or four thousand
people were living on the Buckhannon, the upper West
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Fork and the Little Kanawha by 1816. They demanded
a new community center where they could attend court
and vote at the general elections without having to travel
for long distances from their homes to Clarksburg over
the narrow trails which the Harrison County court called
roads. The agitation came to a head in the election of
1815 for members of the General Assembly. The leaders
of the movement for the division of the county deter-
mined if possible to elect members of the House of Del-
egates from Harrison County who would see that an;aet
was passed creating a new county from the southern part
of Harrison. They therefore requested Colonel John
McWhorter, a rising young attorney of Clarksburg and a
native of Hacker’s creek, and Col. Edward Jackson, who
had served in the preceding legislature, to be their can-
didates. Col. Jackson had no opposition, but some of the
residents of the northern part of Harrison County, who
were opposed to the proposed bill, concentrated their
opposition on Colonel John McWhorter, knowing that
if they were successful the county could not be divided.

The contest was a very unequal one, for all the vot-
ing was done at the county seat. It was necessary for
Colonel McWhorter, if he expected to be elected, to get
out the vote; and for the people of the southern part of
the county to come to the polls at some time within the
three days that they were open. The Colonel stumped
the county, assisted by Joseph Johnson, a prominent lo-
cal politician, who afterwards became governor of Vir-
ginia. The settlers in the outlying parts of the county
responded in great numbers to the call. Dressed in their
best homespun and carrying their rifles on their shoul-
ders and some jerked venison and johnny cake in their
hunting shirts, they made their way to Clarksburg over
trails blazed through the forests.

The election was made a gala occasion by the voters.
Many of them hunted on their way to the polls, and car-
ried their game as presents to their hosts at the county
seat. The candidates were expected to provide meals and
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sleeping quarters for the voters. The opposition had
engaged all the available room in the hotels, but the head-
quarters of the “new-county” party were opened at the
home of Dr. Williams. So great was the crowd during
the three days of the election that Mrs. Williams was
frequently compelled to step across the bodies of sleeping
men with scarcely room to place her feet, and many could
not be accommodated in the house at all. They found
more commodious quarters in the nearby woods, where
they built huge fires, roasted their venison and slept in
the open. Each candidate had a barrel of whiskey sit-
ting beside the polling place, and when a voter announced
the name of the candidate of his choice he was entitled
to help himselft The barrel provided by Colonel Mc-
Whorter was emptied first. The farmers from the south-
ern part of the county had won.

In the following term of the General Assembly Mc-
Whorter and Jackson introduced a bill for the creation
of a new county from the southern part of Harrison, to be
called Lewis, in honor of Colonel Charles Lewis, who
was killed at the battle of Point Pleasant. The bill was
amended in the Senate, substituting the name of General
Andrew Lewis, but the delegates from Harrison stood
their ground and when the measure was finally passed, 18
December 1816, that part of the act providing that the
county should be named for Colonel Charles Lewis was
left unchanged.

The boundaries of the county as set forth in the
act were as follows: *“Beginning at the mouth of the
Buckhannon river; thence a straight line to the head of
the left hand fork of Jesse’s run; thence a straight line
to the mouth of Kincheloe Creek; thence up the said
Creek with the meanders thereof to the dividing ridgc
between the Waters of the West Fork river and Middle
Island Creek; thence a west course to the Wood County
line, to include all the south part of Harrison down to the
mouth of the Buckhannon River.”
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By an act passed, 4 February 1818, Lewis County
received an accession of territory east of the Buckhannon
river from Randolph County. The boundaries were as
follows: “Beginning at the dividing ridge near ‘the
head of the Buckhannon river, thence a straight line to
the head of Grand Camp River; thence a straight line
to the head of the Left Hand Fork of Big Sand Run:
thence with the dividing ridge between Buckhannon and
Middle Fork Rivers.”

Lewis County as thus constituted was bounded on
the north by Harrison, on the east by Randolph, on the
south by Greenbrier and Kanawha, and on the west by
Wood. It had an area of 1,754 square miles. Besides
the present territory of Lewis County it included nearly
all of the present counties of Upshur, Gilmer and Brax-
ton, and parts of Barbour, Webster, Doddridge, Ritchie
and Calhoun. .

As customary in acts providing for the creation of
new counties, no town was designated as the county seat.
Instead the act named a commission, to consist of Ed-
ward Jackson, Elias Lowther, John McCoy, Lewis Max-
well and Daniel Stringer, to “ascertain the proper place
for holding courts, erection of public buildings, etc.” The
act provided further that the justices of the peace ap-
pointed for the new county should meet at Westfield
upon the first court day and appoint such place for hold-
ing court as the commissioners named in the act might
think proper. The second Monday in every month was
designated as the time for the meeting of the justices
of the peace. The act also contained the usual provision
that the Governor of the Commonwealth should appoint
the first sheriff-

The county government was organized pursuant to
the act of the legislature on March 10, 1817. Philip Re-
ger, Thomas Cunningham, John Hacker, William Pow-
ers, John Bozarth, Daniel Stringer, John Jackson, John
Mitchell, William Hacker, William Simms, William
Peterson, Abner Abbott, John Hardman, George Bozarth,
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Elijah Newlon,Peyton Byrne, Jacob Lowrentz,(Lorentz,,
Samuel L. Jones and James Keith, all of whom had been
appointed justices of the peace by Governor James P.
Preston, met at the house of the Rev. Peter Davis, at
Westfield, and resolved themselves into the county court
of Lewis County. Philip Reger produced a commission
from the governor as high sheriff of the county, and after
taking the oath of office, the oath of fidelity to the Com-
monwealth and the anti-duelling oath, and giving bond,
he entered upon the duties of the office.

The first work of the court was to fill the remainder
of the county offices. Several applicants presented them-
selves for each of the places, and the disappointments
were many when the results were announced. Daniel
Stringer was appointed clerk of the court, Edwin S.
Duncan, attorney for the Commonwealth, and John
Mitchell commissioner of the revenue. The following
named citizens of various sections of the county were ap-
pointed constables: Joseph Davis, Henry Reger, George
Duvall, Adam Alkire, Isaac Collins, Jeremiah Howell,
David W. Sleeth, Walter McWhorter, Walter Wilson
and John Peterson. George Bush was recommended to
His Excellency James P- Preston, Governor of the Com-
monwealth, as a suitable person to fill the office of prin-
cipal surveyor of the county: On motion of Philip Reger,
high sheriff, it was ordered that William Martin and
Thomas S. Hacker be and are appointed deputies for
the said Reger. They came into court and qualified ac-
cording to law. The following named attorneys, most nf
whom resided at Clarksburg, were licensed to practice
in the court of Lewis County: Lemuel E. Davisson,
James Pindell and George I. Davisson. It will be seen
from the bare enumeration of the acts placed upon the
record books that the court transacted a great amount of
important business on the first day of the session.

The next day, 11 March 1817, the constables who had
been appointed on the preceding day came into court and
gave bond in the amount of $500. The court ordered
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that the county should be laid off into three districts
for the election of overseer of the poor. In the order
passed by the court, the natural geographical divisions
of the county were followed: “The settlement on the
Buckhannon and its waters is to comprise one district,
in which Abraham Carper is to superintend the election
of overseer of the poor for the said district at the house
of John Jackson; That the settlement of the West Fork,
Hacker’s creek and the waters thereof, do compose the
second district, and that Henry McWhorter do superin-
tend the election of overseer at his own house. That
the settlement on the Little Kanawha river and its waters
do compose the third district and that William Hacker
be appointed to superintend the election of overseer at his
own house.” The overseers of the poor were the only
county officers elected by the people. All the others were
appointed either by the county court or by the governor
upon the recommendation of the court. Samuel L.
Jones acknowledged his acceptance of the appointment of
coroner. On motion of Daniel Stringer, clerk of the
court, it was ordered that Robert W. Collins be ap-
pointed as deputy clerk, and he qualified as the law di-
rects. The machinery of the county was in complete
running order, and after the transaction of some miscel-
laneous business, the court was adjourned until “court
in course.”

Immediately after the adjournment of the court, the
commissioners named in the act creating Lewis County to
select a site for the county seat, met and organized and
then began inspecting the most eligible sites in the county
to find the “proper place for holding courts.” There were
at that time two regularly established towns in the
county, Buckhannon and Westfield, both of which had
been established at the preceding session of the General
Assembly. The people of Buckhannon had expected that
in the original bill for the creation of the county some
territory would be carved from Randolph, but the meas-
ure was not carried through until the next session of the
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legislature, and Buckhannon was left on the border be-
tween two counties with little hope of receiving the cov-
eted designation. Westfield had a far better chance, ow-
ing to its more central location. It had also a large pop-
ulation—five or six families—and had been designated
by the General Assembly as the place for holding the
first courts. The location of the courthouse there was
no doubt an accepted fact among the people of the town.
But the designation of the legislature did not always
mean that the final action taken would be the same, as
happened in the case of Buckhannon when Harrison
county was formed.

At the following term of court, which met, 11 April
1817, at the home of Mrs. William Newlon of Westfield,
the commissioners reported that “the most suitable place
for the purpose aforesaid is on the farm of Henry Flesher,
lying and being on the West Fork of the Monongahela
River, above the mouth of Stone Coal Creek, on the east .
side of said river, and the particular spot of the grounds
on said farm agreed upon by us is on the rising ground
east of said Flesher’s dwelling house, near the threshing
floor of said Flesher, where his stack now stands.”

Just why the commissioners should have chosen the
improved farm of Henry Flesher for the location of the
courthouse in preference to the location farther down
the river at Westfield is a matter of conjecture. It has
been suggested that the location was made at the sug-
gestion of John G. Jackson, who had formed grandiose
plans to make the mouth of Stone Coal creek the head of
navigation on the Monongahela. There is a possibility
that the members of the commission from the western
part of the county objected to a location so far from the
geographical center as Westfield, and they finally acqui-
esced in the selection of Flesher’s farm as a compromise
because it was on the natural route from the Buckhannon
settlements to the Little Kanawha river as well as from
the upper West Fork to Clarksburg.
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Upon the receipt of the report of the commissioners
the county court passed an order to the effect that suc-
ceeding sessions should meet at the point recommended.
For some reason, possibly on account of the fact that
Flesher’s cow had not completely devoured the straw-
stack on the site selected, or more probably because no
houses suitable for the purpose had yet been constructed
on the Flesher farm, the court continued for some time to
meet in the Newlon home at Westfield.

After acting upon the report of the commissioners
the justices next proceeded to take up matters relating
to the administration of the new county. They declared
that the bills and notes of certain banks in Virginia,
Pennsylvania, Maryland and Tennessee were lawful cur-
rency within the county; they ordered several deeds re-
corded; they appointed viewers to lay out new roads-*
and they designated road supervisors to see that the
roads of the county were kept in proper repair. Negotia-
tions were begun with Joseph Johnson, Lewis Maxwell
and John G. Stringer, the new owners of the Flesher
farm, for the purchase of the real estate on which Henry
Flesher’s strawstack stood. After the lapse of two years
the deed was recorded. The price paid for the “publick
squeare” was $300.

At the June term of the court the business transacted
was somewhat widened in scope, and with what had
gone before, completes practically the whole round of
administrative duties of the old county courts of Lewis
County. T™c first letters of administration were granted
to James Mays, administrator of the estate of Jon-
athan Mays, deceased. He was also appointed guard-
ian of the infant children of Mays. The first levy of the
new county was a poll tax of $1.05 on each tithable:
~ The court also approved a list of claims amounting in all
to $174.41, which were mainly for rent of a temporary
courthouse, stationery and office furniture, extra ser-
vices of county officers and claims of two of the commis-
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sioners appointed to locate the seat of justice of the
county. The complete list of claims is as follows:

To Mrs. Newlon for use of home to hold

court in $20.00
To Jacob Minter for making one writing

desk 8.50
To Clerk of this Court for extra services

(four months) 833
To same for books for use of county........ 18.39
To same for paper for use of county........ 10.83

To Robert W. Collins, Clerk of the Su-

perior Court for books furnished for use

of County 15.37
To same for paper 4.17
To Edwin S- Duncan, Esq., Attorney for

the Commonwealth in the Court for his

services for four courts 16.33
To Sheriff of Lewis County, for extra
services 12.50

To Lewis Maxwell, Commissioner to lo-

cate the seat of Justice for Lewis County 30.00

To John McCoy for same 30.00

$174.31
Meanwhile the circuit court for Lewis County was
being put in operation. In April, 1817, “the Honorable
Daniel Smith, one of the judges of the General court
present to hold a Superior Court in the Eleventh judicial
district of the Commonwealth,” came to the county and
set up the “Superior Court of Law for Lewis County.”
Robert W. Collins was appointed clerk. He took the
several oaths and gave bond in the amount of $10,00Q
John G. Jackson was appointed prosecutor for the Com-
monwealth. Edwin S- Duncan and Oliver Phelps were
given leave to practice in the court. The first grand jury
to be empanelled in the county consisted of William
Hacker, foreman, William Simons, William Bennett,
James Allen, Daniel Harpold, Alexander West, Samuel
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Bonnett, John Bailey, Thomas Batten, David Smith,
John Starcher, John Life, Jacob Bonnett, Mark Smith,
George Fisher, Adam Flesher, Paulser Butcher, Jacob
Bush and Robert Simpson. It returned indictments, all
for assault and battery, against the following named citi-
zens of the county: Zechariah Westfall, Samuel Hall,
John Hall, Levi Nutter, Joshua Russell, Travis Walker,
Adam Alkire, Jacob Bennett, Mark Hershman and Jacob
Romine. A petit jury was summoned upon the indict-
ments. In September, 1817, Judge Smith returned for
the regular term of court which met every six months.
In 1819, Lewis County was made a part of the Fifteenth
judicial district and Judge Lewis Summers, perhaps the
" most distinguished jurist in northwestern Virginia be-
fore the Civil war, came to Weston to hold court.

The county court of Lewis County held a session for
the transaction of judicial business in June, 1817. A
grand jury composed of George Dobson, foreman, John
Brown, Peter Hardman, Samuel Stalnaker, William
Moneypenny, John Cline, Jacob Wolf, Samuel Oliver,
Minter Bailey, Emanuel Alkire, Daniel McCann, George
Stealy, David Wolf, Paulser Butcher, William Peterson,
Jr,. Martin Life and Jacob Abbott, returned one indict-
ment against Presley Hamilton for keeping a tavern and
retailing liquor without a licensee The usual indict-
ments returned to a county court were for assault and
battery, profane swearing, failing to observe the Sab-
bath day, horse-racing and against road overseers for
failing to keep their roads in repair. The overseers
usually laid the blame on their companies. At first in-
dictments were also made against some of the citizens of
the county for failing to work on the roads when called
The overseers generally filed a plea in abatement and
were allowed to “go without day”. In 1819, the court
found Lucy, the female slave of Thomas Batton, guilty
of having murdered her infant, She was sentenced to
be hanged in the courthouse yard at Fleshersville. Her
value was appraised at $500, and ordered to be certified
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to the auditor of public accounts for the reimbursement
of her owner.

In 1819 the following named citizens of the county
were appointed school commissioners by the county
court: Joseph McCoy, John Mitchell, Asa Squires,
David W. Sleeth, Edward Jackson, Lewis Maxwell and
Aaron Gould.

The first term of court at the permanent seat of jus-
tice appears to have been held in 1818 in a house then
being constructed for Lewis Maxwell just across the
street from the public square. It is said that Judge
Smith sat on a chair placed on Maxwell’'s workbench.
The records were carried about on the person of the
clerk or left at his home for the next year or two.

Work on the permanent courthouse was not begun
at once, partly owing to the dissatisfaction of the peo-
ple of Westfield with the site chosen for the county
seat and the threatened appeal to the General Assembly,
partly through the lack of funds.

In 1819, the justices were summoned by the sheriff
for the purpose of taking action regarding the construc-
tion of a permanent courthouse. Two brick kilns which
had been burned by James M. Camp, were tendered to
the court for use in building the new structurer They
were inspected by a commission appointed by the court
and were reported to be “good merchantable brick.”
The court accepted them. Colonel Edward Jackson,
Henry McWhorter and Jonathan Wamsley were ap-
pointed to contract with a superintendent for construct-
ing the building. At the session of the court held in
February, 1820, Jacob Lorentz, Joseph McCoy, R. W.
Collins and John Mitchell were appointed to submit a
plan for the structure. Another committee, consisting of
James Allen, Henry McWhorter and R. W. Collins,
were appointed on behalf of the court to let the contract
which should “be advertised in some publick newspaper
in the Town of Clarksburg as well as at the front door
of the courthouse of this county.” Only the walls,
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doors and windows were to be contracted for at first, and
the court gave notice that only $500 would be paid to
the contractor the first year.

The committee for submitting a plan for the struet-
ure made their report at the next term of court recom-
mending the construction of a courthouse thirty-six feet
long and thirty feet wide. Later an allowance was made
for an addition for the clerk’s office. The contract was
let to James M. Camp, who, besides being a building
contractor and brickmaker, was also the jailer, captain in
the 133rd regiment of the Virginia militia, coal bank
owner, real estate dealer, trustee of the town of Weston,
tavern keeper and justice of the peace. The building
was ready for occupancy some time in 1821 According
to the description given by 'Squire Oliver, who saw the
building as it was in 1844, it was not a model of archi-
tectural beauty. “It would make you laugh,” he says,
“to see such a building. It was constructed of brick, two
stories high with a cupola enormously high, all out of
proportion, and when the wind would blow, which it
often did, it would sway the whole building. It was,
after the style of most of the dwellings, only partly fin-
ished. The jury rooms were unplastered. In fact, it
never was finished.”

The courthouse was used for a great variety of pur-
poses. Some of the religious societies in the making held
their meetings there; new and struggling congregations
listened to their circuit preachers discoursing from the
rostrum ; the trustees of the town of Weston shaped the
policies for development of the town in the jury room;
a few terms of school were taught in the building, the
classes being dismissed during the glorious period when
court was in session; home talent plays were staged and
public meetings were called to meet in the old building
which continued to be the courthouse of the county until
a more imposing structure was erected in 1856-7. The
courthouse yard was “pailed in” in 1832 at a cost of $64.
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The county was without a permanent jail until 1824,
the prisoners being kept in a building adjoining the
home of Jailer James M. Camp, which was erected in
1818 of logs two feet thick. In 1823 a commission was
appointed for the erection of a suitable jail. The next
year, in accordance with the report of the commissioners,
a jail was constructed on the public square. The walls
were solidly built of sandstone, but the flues of the chim-
neys were so large that prisoners frequently climbed up
them and escaped.

In order that prisoners for debt should not be con-
fined too closely and also that they might have an op-
portunity to go about their business and raise money to
pay their debts, the court directed Adam Baird to lay
off prison bounds not to exceed ten acres in extent. The
bounds at first practically followed the limits of the town
of Weston, and also included part of the lands on the
west side of the river. Within the bounds the prisoners
were allowed to go at will; but they could not go outside
the bounds without being in custody. A room was re-
served for them in the second story of the jail where they
slept at night.

Lewis County in 1820 contained a population of
4,347, of whom 125 were colored. The settlements were
still confined mainly to the West Fork and Buckhannon
river valleys with a few on Elk river and on the tribu-
taries of the Little Kanawha. There was little danger
that the settlers in the outlying portions of the county
would be numerous enough to demand separate county
governments for many years.

NOTE—The statement that Joseph Johnson was a part owner in the
Flesher land on which Weston was built is based on his own declaration
made late in life. The original deed conveys the land to Maxwell and
Stringer, and Johnson’s name was not mentioned; nevertheless his great
interest in the campaign and in the building up of the town glvec color
to his statement of financial interest. As the craftiest politician of his
section, his desire to keep the transaction secret is easily explalned.



CHAPTER XV.

THE BEGINNING OF WESTON

The improved farm of Henry Flesher became a
thriving village soon after its selection by the commis-
sioners as the county seat of Lewis County. Shortly
after the new county was formed Henry Flesher seems
to have conveyed about one-third of his farm, embracing
all that part east of the river to Joseph Johnson, Lewis
Maxwell and john G. Stringer. Johnson lived near Bridge-
port, and was afterwards to become famous as the only
man west of the Alleghanies who ever became governor
of the State of Virginia. His interest soon passed to
Maxwell and Stringer who were both young men, and
the former had been a member of the commission which
selected the permanent county seat.

The new proprietors immediately took measures to
develop the old farm as a town-site. Early in 1817,
Colonel Edward Jackson was employed to lay off the
town into lots and mark the streets. Later a day was set
for a great lot sale, and the announcement was posted all
over the new county and in Clarksburg. A great crowd
was attracted, partly by the desire to secure lots in the
new town, partly to partake of the refreshments, partly
to meet their friends. It was an occasion long to be re-'
membered by those who came to the old farm of Henry
Flesher, which was then unoccupied, except for a house
being built for Lewis Maxwell just opposite the lot
designated as the public square. ‘At the end of the day
the promoters of the lot sale had no cause to be disap-
pointed with their sales. Lots were sold to Thomas M.
Batten, James M. Camp, George Conley, Edward H.
Jackson, Paulser Butcher, Adam Flesher, Alex Kester,



THE BEGINNING OF WESTON 177

William Moneypenny, Sarah Batton, Richard Johnson,
John Sprigg, Moses and John West, Charles West and
John Pritchard. The last-named purchaser selected lot
No. 22 on the right side of Main street, which was the
farthest out in the country of any of the lots sold.

The plan of the town as laid off by Edward Jack-
son is practically the same as the plan of Weston today,
and shows the good sense and vision of the surveyor.
His employers were not entirely satisfied with the plan,
however, and ten years later they secured an act of the
legislature which blocked the head of Main street where
the Bland hotel was afterwards built, and extended Water
street to connect with Run street. All the streets that
now exist in the central part of Weston were surveyed
and marked by Colonel Jackson. The lots each contained
practically one-fourth acre, having seventy-two and one-
haif feet frontage and extending back from the street one
hundred and fifty feet.

Building operations began at once on most of the
lots purchased on the day of the sale, and the village
soon contained ten or fifteen log houses. There was only
one frame building in the town at that time. It stood op-
posite the court house and was occupied by Lewis Mar-
well for several years until he built a more imposing
house a little farther down Center street. Parts of the
first house built in Weston are still standing.

In January, 1818 the General Assembly passed an act
establishing the town as Preston, the inhabitants to
have the same rights and privileges which have been
noted in the case of Westfield. The following named cit-
izens of Lewis County were designated as trustees:
Henry McWhorter, Paulser Butcher, William Peterson,
James M. Camp and Robert W. Collins: The town was
called Preston in honor of James P. Preston, then gov-
ernor of Virginia. In the autumn of the same year a
new county named Preston was formed from Monongalia,
and the name became undesirable for the town ; for any-
one not acquainted with the geography of northwestern
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Virginia would probably take it for granted that the
town of Preston was the county seat of Preston County.
It was very usual in those days for the county seat to
bear the same name as the county. The awkward sit-
uation was seen immediately by Colonel John McWhor-
ter and John Bozarth, who then represented Lewis
County in the House of Delegates, and they introduced
a bill at once changing the name of the town from
Preston to Fleshersville. The new name of course was
to commemorate the name of the first settler who had
come to the site of the town before the Declaration of
Independence was signed.

The citizens of the town, particularly the purchas-
ers of the original farm, objected strongly to the new
name. Henry Flesher, upon selling that part of his farm
on the east side of the river, had moved to the other
side, and had built his eabin upon what is now a part of
the hospital lawn. He had consistently refused to have
anything to do with the development of the town. So
strong were the objections of some of the influential
citizens of the town that at the next session of the legis-
lature the delegates from Lewis County again secured a
bill changing the name of the town. This time it bore
the nondescript designation of Weston, which has at
least the advantage that it can be borne by any towu
west of Eastport, Maine, without awakening jealousies
or causing bitter feeling among the first families. The
town has since borne the name without serious opposi-
tion.

The same year the first postoffice in Lewis County
was established at Weston, under William Y- Henry as
postmaster. The location of the office and the duration
of his term are unknown. The mail was brought once a
week from Clarksburg on horseback.

Until the opening of the Clarksburg and Weston
turnpike in the late ’forties the streets of Weston were
under the supervision of the county court, which appoint-
ed overseers to keep them in repair. All the citizens of
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Weston between the ages of sixteen and sixty were
compelled to work their own roads and streets. By an
order of the county court passed in 1819, the road down
the river from Run street to Maxwell’s run was made a
separate precinct and “all the hands of Weston (were)
to work same.” The precinct remained unchanged for
a quarter of a century, and it was a regular spring and
fall occurrence for all the lawyers, merchants and other
citizens of high and low degree to take mattocks, picks

and shovels and try to put the road in passable condi-
tion.

One of the first duties of the governing authorities
of the town was to secure ground for a cemetery and
the public buildings. The trustees of the town obtained
from Stringer and Maxwell an acre of ground lying on
the hillside at the head of Center street “for the pur-
pose of a Publick Burying yard for the Burying of those
who may die in the Said Town and its vicinity and for
the purpose of erecting thereon a publick meeting house
and School house in Such manner as may hereafter be
agreed on by the freeholders and house keepers resi-
dent in the said town.” This tract is known as the Ar-
nold cemetery. For half a century after the establish-
ment of the town it was the burial ground of most of
the dead. The trustees never erected upon the lot the
town hall and the schoolhouse for which purpose it had
been donated by the promoters. The courthouse was
used both as-a meeting place for the trustees and for a
schoolhouse for many years afterwards. The people of
early Weston seem never to have suffered from too
much government at the hands of the trustees.

The early prosperity of Weston was largely due to
its position as the political center of the county. The
location of the courthouse was a prime factor in inducing
citizens from the surounding country to locate in Weston:
The court officials of course found it convenient to live
near the seat of government. Lawyers and others whose
business led them often to the courthouse also located
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in the town. The crowds who came to the courthouse
every court day—and court day came every month—led
to the establishment of hotels for their entertainment.
One of the first court orders after the establishment of
the town gave to Thomas H. Batton the right to keep
an ordinary at his house in the town of Weston. ‘An
ordinary was a place where meals were served, liquors
sold, and lodgings furnished at a certain fixed price.
James M. Camp, jailer, militia captain, etc.,, was given
a similar license. Both establishments prospered. Colonel
Camp, in spite of his various occupations, found time to
be a very hospitable tavern keeper, and it is said that no .
guest ever went away dissatified with the treatment he
had received. People who knew Colonel Camp speak
feelingly of his kindliness and good breeding. He seems
to have been a man of large vision in business matters,
but careless of detail, and the large tracts of land which
he at one time owned slipped from his grasp because he
failed to have his deeds recorded.

The county court fixed the prices to be charged by
the ordinary keepers. Following is the first schedule of
prices in effect:

For dieting of every meal's victuals............ 25
For a night’s lodging. 1214
For Liquors for Rum per 1, pint............ 183/
For Wine per do................. 25
For Whiskey and Brandy
per do. 1214
Oats and Corn per gallon 121,
For Horse to Hay 12 Hours.......cccccccuuceeee 17
For same to pasture 12 hours.........cccc.c....... 1215

It will be noted that the prices are expressed in most
cases in fractions. This is due to the fact that the Eng-
lish sixpense (121%, cents), ninepence (1834 cents), and
shilling (25 cents) were the principal coins in circulation.

The first homes of Henry and Adam Flesher were
heated with wood, but Colonel Camp introduced the
burning of “stone coal” which was dug by slaves from
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the bank on Stillhouse run (now Town run). This bank
continued to be the principal source of fuel for some of
the residents of the town until about 1826 when the road
to it was discontinued.

Aside from the attraction which the town had as the
county seat, Weston possessed many advantages over
Westfield and most of the other sites of the county
which the commissioners might have chosen. As a com-
mercial center the location could hardly have been im-
proved upon at that time; and the county has been so
judiciously pared down in the creation of other counties
that Weston remains still the commercial as well as the
political center of the county: The road along the West
Fork river was the natural route of travel for all the res-
idents of Collins Settlement to reach the state road at
Clarksburg. The old Indian trail through the Polk
creek and Stone Coal valleys was the natural route of
travel from the settlements on the Buckhannon and the
upper Tygart’s valley sections to the west. The site
was already an important center of roads when it was
chosen by the commissioners. It would probably in time
have become a considerable center of trade even if the
courthouse had been located at Westfield, and it might
have become the leading town in the county without
the residences of the court officials and the crowds on
court days.

It was not long after the establishment of the town
that its importance as a business center was realized.
Weeden Hoffman, who had started a small store at
Westfield about 1817 or 1818, moved his stock of goods
to the county seat about 1823, locating about where
Kaplan’s store is now. The first store building was not
a large one and the stock of goods was not very ex-
tensive, but it was nevertheless a great improvement
for the town. People were able to secure their goods
without having to go to Lorentz’ or Westfield. On ac-
count of the small amount of currency in northwestern
Virginia at that time most of the receipts of the mer-
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chant were in produce. Whiskey at ten dollars a barrel,
ginseng, hides, butter, maple sugar, honey, beeswax
and other products of forest and farm were stored in the

wareroom adjoining until the wagons could go to the
east.

Most of the stock in trade came from Baltimore,
and was hauled over the wretched roads in monster cov-
ered wagons. Merchants went east on horseback once or
twice a year to purchase their stocks, which were deliv-
ered in Weston by teamsters who made a regular busi-
ness of hauling goods. The charges for transportation
were about three cents a pound. The trip one way re-
quired eighteen days, though the bill of lading allowed
three weeks. The price of the goods was reduced as the
distance necessary to transport the goods by wagon was
lessened.. The Baltimore and Ohio railroad reached Har-
per’s Ferry in 1839, Cumberland in 1842, Piedmont in
1850, Fetterman (near Grafton) 1852, and Clarksburg in
July, 1856.

The second store established in Weston was that of
R. P. Camden, who commenced business apparently on
the corner now occupied by the National Exchange bank,
about 1827. The business was continued there and else-
where for many years. After 1834 the proprietor of the
store was also the postmaster, and the mails were sorted
in one corner of the building set aside for the purpose.
Other early merchants were Allen Simpson and Mc-
Bride and Smith.

The county seat was also recognized as an excellent
location for the establishment of a mill by several citi-
zens. Wheat and corn could be ground in 1819 at the
Jackson mill below Weston, and corn at the Connelly
mill a short distance out Polk creek. It was thought that
Weston was a better location than either because of the
number of residents in the town and also because of its
being a center of travel. There was considerable ri-
valry among the applicants for permission to erect the mill.
Joseph Johnson, who was one of the proprietors of the
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land on which the town was built, in order to increase
the desirability of residence on his lots, applied, in April,
1817, to have a commission appointed to condemn land
for a mill below the mouth of Stone Coal creek. Before
his application could be acted upon he sold out his inter-
est in the town site to the other two partners, and al-
lowed it to lapse. A little later in the year the court
granted permission to John Burnside to erect a mill dam
across the West Fork river on Johnson’s location The
order was contested by John West, who in the September
term of the Superior Court of Lew, appealed from the
judgment of the county court. The Superior Court de-
clared the judgment of the county court erroneous, but
without prejudice to any future application of Burnside.
A little later in the year, Daniel Stringer obtained per-
mission to build a mill on First street. He and John
Burnside erected the first mill in the town on the site of
the present mill, in 1818. West secured a certiorari to
the action of the county court the same year. After a
prolonged contest in the courts, John Wamsley, clerk of
the county court, was in 1823, declared by the Superior
Court guilty of unlawful gaining in issuing the permit.
The mill continued to stand, and the punishment of the
clerk was apparently the only satisfaction that West re-
ceived. West shortly afterward secured permission
from the court to construct a mill at Bendale, and from
that point of vantage he was able to cut off much of the
up-river trade. His mill was not a paying proposition
and he abandoned it after a time.

The mill at Weston was operated by Burnside for a
few years until his interest was taken over by Stringer,
who sold it to Thomas Bland in 1830. The mill has since
passed through many hands and experienced many vi-
cissitudes of fire and flood and decay. Citizens of Wes-
ton have at times been obliged to have their wheat
ground at the Jackson mill, the McWhorter mill at Jane
Lew, the Holt mill at Bendale and even at the Waldo
mill above Roanoke.
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The new proprietor of the mill added a carding ma-
chine to his equipment. On account of the number of
sheep then being kept in the county, the new depart-
ment was well patronized from the start. The house-
wives of Weston found it a great convenience as com-
pared with the laborious process of carding the wool by
hand.

Many of the owners of farms near town owned stills
in which they worked up their surplus grain and fruit.
Since it was impracticable to transport a bulky com-
modity like farm produce across the mountains or down
the Ohio and the Mississippi to market, and since there
was a considerable demand for the product of the stills
near home, it was the most profitable way in which sur-
plus crops could be utilized, even though whiskey was
worth only $10 a barrel. The Fleshers continued the
manufacture of whiskey at a still on Buck Knob, which
was perhaps the most important one near Weston at
that time.

A gun shop was established very early in the history
of the town, probably by Alexander Kester. A black-
smith shop was in operation in the late 'twenties where
not only were horses shod, but butcher knives,
scythes, hoes, frows, axes and other implements were
made for the people of Weston and the surrounding
country. Every shoe and every nail used in the opera-
tion had to be made by hand in the shop.

The first tannery established in the town was owned
by Daniel Harpole who had previously operated a tan-
nery at McWhorter’s mill with indifferent success. After
operating the plant for several years, he sold it to John
Lorentz about 1825, who added new equipment and op-
erated it for a number of years. The business required 2
capital of about $800 or $1,000 and gave employment
to two boys. When it was operated by Lorentz, the
plant was located at the head of Run street. Two build-
ings, one for the vats the other for preparing the hides,
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made up the establishment, which long remained one of
the most important of the manufacturing plants of Wes-
ton.

In 1830 the town contained about thirty dwellings
representing a population of about two hundred. The
streets were in bad shape from the fact that many of the
farmers insisted upon hauling logs through them in wet
weather. Pigs wandered through the premises of the
inhabitants or wallowed in the mud holes. The cattle
grazed in the woods near town or in some of the land
which had been cleared nearby and left unfenced after
several crops:

The establishment of good hotels early differentiated
Weston from most of the backwoods towns of north-
western Virginia. The record book of the county court
for 1852 contains a notation to the effect that one Min-
ter Bailey had applied for a license to keep an ordinary
in the Weston. Hotel, and “being of good appearance
and likely to keep an orderly house of entertainment,”
he was granted the desired right by the court. Bailey
had lately come across the mountains from Fauquier
County and was a member of the Bailey family which
had settled on Broad run and later on Freeman’s creek.

The hotel thus established has remained one of the
most noteworthy institutions in Weston from the time
of its establishment to the present. It never had a sea-
son of depression, never had a great boom. From the
first it has remained in the hands of the proprietor or
his descendants. For the first twenty years after its es-
tablishment it was located in a two-story frame building
which stood on the southwest corner of Main and Sec-
ond streets, opposite the present site of the hotel.

It may well be doubted whether the house has had
greater popularity among travelers or greater fame
throughout the surrounding country than it enjoyed in
the old frame building. Major Bailey was a born host.
He knew how to dissipate the fears of timid boys away
from their homes for the first time. He would show
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them his surveyor’s compass, or ask them about their
parents, and so gain their confidence, Other guests were
regaled with tales of his experiences. All were made to
feel almost as if they were in their own homes. The at-
mosphere of the hotel is still largely that of the old
times when the citizens of Weston and travelers sat
around the spacious fireplace and discussed the relative

merits of Andrew Jackson and Henry Clay, or expressed
their disgust at the government of Virginia as adminis-
tered by the politicians east of the mountains for the
benefit of their own section. Next to the urbanity of
Major Bailey, the success was due to the abilities of Mrs.
Bailey as a housewife. “Any man could run a hotel with
such a landlady as Mrs. Bailey,” said one of the visitors.
The venison always roasted to just the proper turn, the
delicious wild turkey roasted or fried in its own fat,
but above all the fried chicken, prepared as only Mrs.
Bailey knew how, spread the fame of the establishment
far and wide.

The bar at the Bailey house was the best in the
town in the early ’thirties. It consisted of a small space
in one corner which was enclosed by a railing like a
postoffice window. The purchaser came to the window,
paid for his drink, drank it and gave way for another
customer. It sometimes happened that the guests be-
came too hilarious. Then the barroom would be locked
and the key would suddenly disappear. It was of no use
for the guests to protest. Major Bailey was very sorry,
but the key was nowhere to be found. On one oceasion
the crowd became too noisy to be controlled, and the
proprietor went to the river bank and cut a stout limb
from a sycamore tree. Using it as a club he cleared the
room in a very short time :

The Weston Inn was established at the head of
Main street in 1827 by Lucinda Lazell, but it never at-
tained the popularity of the Weston Hotel and the later
Bailey House under Major Bailey. Within a few years
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it was sold to Thomas Bland, and for a long time there-
after continued to be one of the leading hotels of the
section—second to the Bailey House in Weston—but
better than the hotels in the neighboring towns. It con-
tinued to block Main street at First street until it was
destroyed by fire late in the century.

Following the construction of the Staunton and
Parkersburg turnpike, a wagon shop was established in
Weston about 1842 by W. W. Warder, a young man
just graduated from Rector college at Pruntytown. Some
of the best wagons of the day were made in the shop.
When the lumber, stone and other material was hauled
for the construction of the Weston State hospital, many
of the old wagons made in Warder’s shop were impressed
into service. Many of the farmers who had not previous-
ly been able to own wagons, furnished material in re-
turn for the finished product.

Rapid as was the material development of the town,
the educational development was very slow. There was
no concerted attempt of the citizens to secure good
schools, such as took place in other and smaller com-
munities at the same time. The people were content to
depend upon subseription schools established by such
teachers as could secure a sufficient number of pupils.

There were no theaters in Weston until several
years after the Civil war, but the citizens did not suffer
from lack of theatrical entertainments. In 1838 a Thes-
pian society was organized by some of the younger peo-
ple for the purpose “of studying the masterpieces of the
drama and presenting the best popular selections of the
day.” The use of the courthouse was granted to the so-
ciety by the county court, but after the first two or
three performances, the permission was withdrawn
The society did not suspend performances, but secured
another hall. At intervals until the beginning of the
Civil war, plays were presented at various places, and
the society was even reorganized after the close of the
war for a brief, but very popular existence. Some of
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the plays presented were worth while, but others, like
“East Lynne,” could hardly be justified as worthy of
study. The young men of the town organized a debating
society about 1840, which enjoyed a brief existence.

The religious organization of Weston was far be-
hind that in the country districts round about. While
churches were being organized on Freeman'’s creek, Skin
creek, the Collins settlement and even at Bulltown, the
citizens of the county seat had not a single church of
any denomination. No church building had been erected
there until 1844, twenty-seven years after the first es-
tablishment of Preston. Other towns in northwestern
Virginia were in a like situation. The circuit riders con-
sidered them stony fields, not easily susceptible to culti-
vation. It may be that the county preachers, with their
backwoods manners, were made fun of when they at-
tempted to preach in the towns, and their sermons, de-
livered in danguage more forceful than grammatical,
were probably laughed at. Many religious meetings
were held at the courthouse by different denominations,
but there does not seem to have been any tangible re-
sult until about the year 1830. The Rev. John Talbott,
a preacher of the Methodist Episcopal church, became
a permanent resident of Weston. He gathered all the
Methodists of the town together into a small class which
met at first in the home of Elias Fisher. Later, when the
number of members had outgrown the accommodations,
he secured permission to use the courthouse for regular
preaching services every two weeks. In 1831 the class at
Weston was added to the Lewis circuit, of which Jona-
than Holt was then assistant pastor. Later pastors were
Thomas Williams, B. F. Sedwick, Thomas Baker, Joseph
Ray and David Cross.

The class grew and prospered during the ten years
following its organization. In 1840 the quarterly con-
ference of the Lewis circuit appointed a committee con-
sisting of Elijah Flesher, Daniel Turney and Matthew
Holt to secure funds, draw up plans and supervise the
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construction of a church building in Weston. The result
was that late in 1844 the Methodists were established
in their own church, a small brick structure located on
the site of the present church. Though it was not a
large structure and though it was lacking in the facili-
ties which are found in even the country churches of to-
day, being lighted with lard lamps, it was sufficient for
the needs of the congregation until 1874, when a more
commodious church was erected.

The new church was a community enterpriser All

denominations were given the right to use it for their
meetings, and they no longer had to depend upon the
court room. The Rev. Daniel Helmick of the Methodist
Protestant church would preach at stated intervals.
There were then two families of Episcopalians in the
town, who had to depend upon occasional services of
visiting rectors. The Baptists, Presbyterians and Meth-
odist Protestants did not have a very great following in
1844. The Methodist church received a wonderful im-
petus from its having the first building in the town, but
it was soon much weakened by a division within its
ranks. The general conference of the church in 1844
split over the question of slavery, and the Methodist
Episcopal Church, South was formed with a membership
embracing most of the classes south of the Mason and
Dixon line. Largely through the influence of the Holts
the church at Weston determined to remain in the north-
ern branch of the church, though most of the Methodist
churches in the southern part of the county voted to join
the southern branch. A number of the Weston Meth-
odists withdrew from the church and formed a separate
organization. About 1847 they erected a church build-
ing on Center street on the lot now occupied by Linn
Brannon. The southern church never was strong, and
it finally died out about 1880. The Sunday school of the
Methodist church was in full operation in 1846, when
it was reported that its membership was fifty scholars.
The West Virginia conference of the Methodist Episco-
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pal church, which was held in Weston in 1851, was an
occasion long remembered by the people. Pastors who
followed the Rev. Cross before the Civil war were W.
D. F. Lauck, Caleb Foster, Moses Tichnell, Gideon Mar-
tin, W. C. P. Hamilton, Franklin DeHass, James L.
Clark, J. S. Patterson, S. R. Dawson, Samuel Steele, T.
H. Monroe, A. J. Lyda, J. Hare, H. C. Sandford, J. W.
W. Bolton and A. B. Rohrbough. A parsonage was con-
structed in 1866.

'Squire George H. Oliver came to Weston in the
early part of 1844 when he was a young man. The ap-
pearance of the town and its people made a vivid impres-
sion on his mind, and later he wrote a description of the
town at that time. Most of the buildings of the town
were then on upper Main street and on First and Second
streets nearby. Lower Main street was then out in the
country, and the Moore house, which had been erected
by the Rev. John Talbott some years before, was con-
sidered a country mansion. The new home of John
Brannon on First street, according to popular opinion,
was much too fine a house to be located so far from
town.

Log houses were in the great majority. The best
houses in the town were a story and a half in height,
built of poplar logs hewn to shape, over which weather-
boarding had been nailed. The aristocrats among the
houses had brick chimneys. Few of the buildings had
ever come in contact with a paint brush, and the result
was a dilapidated and woebegone appearance. In the
majority of the houses the interior had not been finished.
Some of them had only a single room furnished in which
the family cooked, ate, slept and received their guests.
Others had two rooms finished, and the remainder post-
poned to some future date. There was only one brick
building, the residence of M. W. Harrison, on the west
side of Main street. On the corner now occupied by the
National Exchange bank, stood an old rambling one-
story frame structure owned by Hoffman and Camden,
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which was then unoccupied. The south side of First
street was vacant from the Bland hotel at the head of
Main street to the corner of Center street; from that
point eastward was a cornfield. One hewn log house
stood on the opposite side of First street. Center avenue
had three houses on each side, not including the court-
house and jail. On the east side of the street the house
farthest down was the two-story brick residence of
Lewis Maxwell on the lot now occupied by W. W. Bran-
non. All the land north of the Maxwell home and east
of Center avenue was included in Maxwell’s meadow.
It was enclosed, of course, in order that the cows which
ran loose in the town could not get in. The stake and
rider fence along Center avenue was at that time one of
the most modern fences in the county. The old-fashion-
ed worm fence could not always be depended upon to
turn the Weston cows, trained as they were through
years of experience in getting their food from forbid-
den pastures. There were three buildings on each side
of Court avenue occupied as residences by the elite of
the town. In all there were about fifty dwellings.

It is hardly correct to call the principal thorough-
fares of the town streets. Main street had never been
graded. It was still under the control of the county and
was worked by the people of the town under the super-
vision of Cabell Tavenner, the leading member of the
Weston bar, who had probably been chosen for the posi-
tion because he was of slender build and could not wield
a pick as successfully as some of the others. There were
neither horses nor plows; every bit of dirt had to be
moved with pick and shovel. There were no sidewalks.
“In some places there were some slabs—two laid side
by side and spiked to cross pieces laid along for the pur-
pose.” At the corner of Main and Bank streets there was
a very low place which became almost impassable in the
fall and winter. Four-horse teams frequently became
mired there, and had to be pulled out: As a temporary
sidewalk across the alley, which had all the advantages
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of a drawbridge, the people built a trestlework with
slabs laid on top of it. In winter it was a not uncommon
occurrence for the citizens of Weston to lose their foot
ing on the icy slabs and fall into the almost unfathom:

ble mud below. A board sidewalk would have been a
novelty.

There were in Weston five stores owned respectively
by Weeden Hoffman, R. P. Camden, Alexander Scott
Withers, McBride and Smith and Addison McLaughlin;:
three saddle and harness shops, owned by Thomas
Fisher, John Morrow and George A. Jackson; three
tailors’ shops owned by David Bare, John Flesher and
James Ferguson; and two clock peddlers selling brass
wheel clocks which were just then superseding wooden-
wheel clocks in the mountains of northwestern Virginia.
Conrad Kester then owned the gunsmith shop and W. W.
Warder the wagon shop. Benjamin Pritchard and Pres-
ton Dawson were the two blacksmiths in the town, and
there was also a shop about 3 mile out the Polk creek
road operated by Elijah Flesher. Pritchard was consid-
ered especially good on edged tools, and most of the
butcher knives used in Weston at that date came from
his shop; Flesher specialized in hoes, frows, and axes;
and Dawson devoted his time principally to making
horseshoes and shoeing horses. Allen Simpson and
George W. Sleeth were the two cobblers, and both were
overworked. They made all the shoes and boots worn
in the town and in the surrounding country with the ex-
ception of ladies’ fine shoes which were brought from
the east and sold by some of the merchants. John Lor-
entz still owned the tannery. Isaac P. McBride and
Jesse Woofter were cabinet makers, and Thomas W.
Morris, John R. Beall, Joseph Minter, and William
Beard were house carpenters and joiners. There was no
meat market in the town, and none was needed, for all
the citizens raised their own hogs. When butchering
time came, most of the people employed Joseph Minter,
whose skill in securing just the right scald, and whose
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knowledge of how to cut up the carcasses were unex:
celled.

There were then two physicians in Weston—Dr.
William J. Bland and Dr. N. B. Barnes. Dr Bland is
the first one who came to Weston. ’Squire Oliver says
of him that “he traveled through this county where there
were no roads, through the woods and over the hills.

The night was never too dark or the weather
too stormy to deter the doctor when there was a ecall
He did not stop to inquire if the party were able to pay
the bill"” but saddled his horse and was away as soon as
the call came. His practice extended over all of Lewis,
Upshur and Gilmer and parts of Harrison and Braxton.
Dr. Barnes was also an able physician, and he also re-
garded his profession as a means of prolonging life
rather than of making momey. FHis health would not
permit him to expose himself to the elements as Dr.
Bland did, and his practice therefore included only Wes-
ton and the country in the immediate vicinity.

The Weston bar in 1844 was a brilliant one. It was

composed of eight lawyers, all of whom made their mark
in the development of northwestern Virginia. The old-
est in point of service was Colonel John McWhorter,
who had been instrumental in the formation of Lewis
County. He was an able lawyer, but given to lapses of
memory. Cabell Tavenner, son-in-law of Alexander
Scott Withers, was the recognized leader of the bar.
He is described as a “slender, rather delicately featured
man who combined logic with fluent speech and grace-
ful delivery.” Matthew Edmiston, later destined to make
his mark in the judiciary, was then a new comer from
Pocahontas County. Another very young lawyer was
Jonathan M. Bennett, whose early education had been
gained in the country schools of the Collins settlement,
who had studied one year in Weston, served as deputy
sheriff, and had been admitted to the bar in 1842. ’Squire
Oliver says that he was better as thinker than as a
speaker. Addison McLaughlin had lately come from
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Nicholas County where he was so popular that he was
elected to the legislature before he was twenty-one years
of age. He later moved to Braxton and championed the
creation of Webster, whose county seat was named Ad-
dison in his honor- Others were Jonathan Holt, Lewis
Maxwell and Dexter Williams. Politically they were
divided. McWhorter, Holt, McLaughlin and Maxwell
were Whigs and Tavenner, Edmiston, Bennett and Wil-
liams were Democrats,

The postoffice in 1844 was conducted by George A.
Jackson. The mail arrived once a week by horseback
from Clarksburg. On Sunday afternoons toward the
hour of four the citizens could be seen wending their
way to the postoffice waerc they collected in » group
and talked over questions of the day until a blast from
the post boy’s horn announced his coming. The mail
was quickly sorted, and the return mail prepared and
handed to the postboy for his return trip usually within
twenty minutes. About twentysfive newspapers were
regularly received by the citizens of the town. The
Whigs divided their allegiance between the Richmond
Whig, the Louisville Courier and the National Intelli-
gencer, published at Washington. The Democrats sub-
scribed for the Richmond Enquirer, then under the able
editorship of Thomas Ritchie. ‘A few subscribed for the
Pittsburgh Christian Advocate. Several copies of the
Philadelphia Dollar Newspaper, and the Saturday Even-
ing Post furnished all the current literature which came
to the county. The Clarksburg Scion of Democracy
was the only newspaper published in northwestern Vir-
ginia which had any circulation in Weston.

The circulating medium in use, aside from the pro-
ducts of farm and forest, were Spanish silver dollars;
French five franc pieces with the head of Napoleon I;
English threepence, sixpence and ninepence; a few dimes,
quarters and half dollars struck by the Philadelphia
mint; and the banknotes of banks at Baltimore, Knox-
ville, Richmond, Philadelphia and Wheeling-
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Two schools were in operation in Weston during the
late fall and winter of 1844-45. Mrs. Mary Wilson and
daughters, Anne and Fronie, had a school for young la-
dies and small boys in their house, and a Mr. Foster, a
Yankee direct from Vermont, taught a school attended
by the larger boys. The latter school had sixteen pupils,
of whom eight were taught the higher branches for $1
per month, and eight were classified as primary stu-
dents at seventytfive cents per month. Some little diffi-
culty was experienced by the pupils in solving the prob-
lems in Pike’s Arithmetic, which counted in pounds,
shillings and pence instead of in dollars and cents.

The Weston housewife in 1844 had practically the
same equipment as the housewife of pioneer days. There
were but two stoves in Weston, one in each of the hotéls.
The baking was done in Dutch ovens buried in embers
at the capacious fireplace. Wild turkeys were dressed
and hung up by the legs above the fire. A platter on the
hearth caught the drippings which were poured over the
fowl from time to time until it was done. The older
inhabitants say that the old-fashioned roasts were bet-
ter than those prepared today with the modern utensils
of the ultra-modere housewife.

The first piano in Weston was brought over the
Staunton and Parkersburg turnpike from Parkersburg in
the summer of 1844. It was purchased by Mrs: Wilson,
whose daughters had attended a school in Canonsburg,
Pennsylvania, where music was one of the accomplish-
ments taught.

Weston in 1844 was without any manufacturing in-
dustries except for the wagon shop, the tan yard and
the combined grist and carding mill, which was still run
by water power. There was not a single steam engine in
the town and only one in the county at that time.



CHAPTER XVI.

PROGRESS UNDER THE NEW REGIME

Aside from the development of Weston and the
country about the town, the creation of Lewis County
apparently made little difference in the establishment of
new settlements, and the extension of the older commu-
nities. From the standpoint of government there was
a decided improvement, for the inconveniences of going
to Clarksburg for the transaction of legal business were
obviated and more attention was paid to the details of
administration in the county.

The founding of Weston had considerable influence
in the development of the surrounding lands, because of
the fact that most of the inhabitants of the town bought
small farms in the vicinity, where they obtained their
firewood, cut lumber and raised their breadstuffs. Some
of them bought farms and then let the land lie idle to
increase in value with the development of the town.
Part of the land on the river above Weston was cleared
very early by the slaves of the owners, and large crops
were cultivated by them. Stillhouse run (now Town
run) was developed in the same way far earlier than it
would have been without the close proximity to the town.
Some of the citizens of Weston busied themselves in lo-
cating lands in the surrounding country which had not
been taken up, or if taken up, had been abandoned. Sev-
eral tracts were located on Murphy’s creek, on Middle
run, on Rush run or on the river above Weston.

The Lewis County surveyor’s books for 1817 show
that most of the new surveys of lands were being made
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on Steer creek, Cedar creek, Hughes river and the lower
course of the Little Kanawha. But tracts of land were
also being surveyed in what is now Lewis County in
numbers and location which were surprising. Five
thousand acres in a single tract on Freeman’s creek:
twelve hundred acres on Cap run; and smaller tracts on
Sand fork of West Fork, Skin creek, Polk creek, Leading
creek, Gee Lick run, Saul’s run and Ward’s run were
surveyed. Smaller tracts continued to be patented from
year to year, sometimes in surprising locations. There
was much confusion, and it was difficult to determine
just what land had been surveyed, especially since the
boundaries of tracts were fixed by the purchasers, and
they usually located only three sides and noted that on
the fourth side the tract “extended for quantity.” The
man who occupied the post of county surveyor had a
good opportunity to find out whether or not land was
claimed by any private owner, and many of the early
incumbents of that office became wealthy by keeping the
secret of the location of vacant lands until their terms
had expired and then securing a patent for them. Other
surveyors had also a rare opportunity. The profession
was recommended for the young man who wanted to get
ahead in the world.

In 1836, land that had never before been patented,
was surveyed on Clover fork, Murphy’s creek, Oil creek,
Skin creek, Gee Lick run and on Laurel Lick not far
from the original settlement of John Hacker, made sixty-
seven years before. Six years later small tracts were
being surveyed on the upper reaches of Hacker’s creek
and on the tributaries of Sand fork of West Fork.

The amount of land which could be had by taking
out warrants for it was so great that for years, land val-
ues were extremely low. One hundred acres on Stone
Coal creek, adjoining lands of Henry Flesher, was sold
in 1817 for $300, and the price was considered high.
The usual price for a farm was from one to three dollars
per acre, depending upon the amount of the land that
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had been cleared. The large unwieldy tracts which had
been surveyed in the last years of the Indian wars were
not settled except by squatters, owing to the fact that
the owners were non-residents, and the tracts did not
fall into the hands of citizens of the county until the
titles were forfeited through non-payment of taxes. The
more enterprising of the new owners subdivided their
lands and sold them in small tracts to settlers.

When the county was established the citizens lived
in islands of settlement in a sea of forest without means
of ingress or egress. The development of communica-
tion between different settlements and the extension of
their boundaries until they touched each other and in-
cluded all the lands in the county was the problem which
faced the leaders of the new county after its creation—
a problem which was not wholly solved until after the
development of the lumbering industry caused the tim-
ber to be cut and made easier the clearing of land.

The population of Lewis County increased but slow-
ly in comparison with the expansion of the settlements
of Indiana and Illinois during the same period, but the
growth was equal to that of most of the counties of
northwestern Virginia. In the first ten years of the ex-
istence of the county the number of inhabitants {in-
creased about forty-five per cent. The same ratio of in-
crease continued until the Civil war, though the statis-
tics of the census seem to indicate a less rapid growth in
later years. This apparent slowing up is readily ex-
plained by the formation of new counties out of the
original territory of Lewis.

The county government was expanded to meet the
needs of the large population. An act passed in 1824
provided that the county court of Lewis County should
appoint two commissioners of the revenue (assessors)
“in lieu of the one appointed heretofore”” On account of
the growth of communities at a distance from the coun-
ty seat and the difficulties of attending the polls at the
courthouse, it was provided in 1827 that separate elec-
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tions should be held at the house of Daniel Farnsworth
on the Buckhannon river, at the home of Benjamin
Coonrod on the Little Kanawha river, and at the home
of Benjamin Riddle at the mouth of Leading creek, in
addition to the one at the courthouse. A new regiment.
of militia, the 133rd, was formed in 1829 out of the 125th
regiment, which had previously been created for Lewis
County.

The consolidation of the old settlements is shown

best perhaps by the example of Hacker’s creek, which in
1840 had about reached maturity as a community. The
first pioneers and their descendants had been reinforced
by newer comers until the population of the valley was
soon almost as great as it is at the present time. The
third postoffice in the county was established at Me-
Whorter’s Mills with Fields McWhorter as postmaster,
in 1829. The number of residents in the vicinity and
the natural importance of the site as a center for the
Hacker’s creek community led Lewis Maxwell, one of
the founders of Weston, to purchase the Jacob Bonnett
farm and divide it into town lots, in 1835. The town
thus laid out was named Jane Lew in honor of Jane
Lewis, mother of Lewis Maxwell. There were several
purchasers of lots, and within a few months a half
dozen or more dwellings were in process of construction.
A store was established in the village in 1837 by S. P.
Jackson, which was operated by Blackwell Jackson un-
til 1844, when he established a store of his own. The
first ordinary was established about 1840 by S. P. Jack-
son. In 1844 he started a tannery, which was soon sold
to Isaac Jackson. To S. P. Jackson far more than to
Lewis Maxwell is due the development of the town.
In 1844 a traveler in Jane Lew saw six or eight dwell-
ings, a frame hotel, a livery stable, a store, a blacksmith
shop, a tannery and a large flag pole nearly one hundred
feet high bearing the names of Polk and Dallas, Demo-
cratic candidates for President and Vice-President re-
spectively.




PROGRESS UNDER THE NEW REGIME 201

The community had a house painter in the person of
John P. Peterson, who lived not far from the mouth of
Life’s run. He later came to Jane Lew and bought the
tannery. Ezekial Boilan and Albert Jewell, a school
teacher from Maine, who lived at the head of Life’s run,
were prominent new citizens in 1845. Nicholas Alkire
was reputed to be the second richest man in the county,
his wealth having grown with the increase of the herds
which he pastured during the summer in the rich coves
of Fink creek.

Westfield had maintained a precarious existence fol-
lowing the failure of the town to secure the courthouse,
but its citizens did not wholly give up the struggle. In
1833 one lot brought $50. The establishment of Jane
Lew in 1835 and the building of Lightburn’s mill farther
down the river led to the abandonment of the site By
the early ’forties it was an improved farm occupied by
Minter J. Bailey. One large log house in which the
Lewis County court is said to have held its first session
—a melancholy memorial of disappointment and blasted
hopes—marked the site until after the close of the Civil
war.

The populous and prosperous Broad run community
continued to expand, as did also the McCann’s run dis-
trict. Benjamin Lightburn’s mill, which was establish-
ed near the mouth of Broad run some time before 1840,
formed the nucleus of the present village of Lightburn.

The settlements on Freeman’s creek expanded dur-
ing this period perhaps faster than at any other time in
their history. The farmers cleared their lands and placed
them in cultivation or in bluegrass pasture, which more
than doubled the capacity of the land to fatten cattle,
and still left a great acreage of pea-vine pasturage. The
Hacker’s creek ranchmen were obliged to depend more
and more on the land farther west in the rich coves of
Fink. About 1840 there was a considerable immigration
of great importance to the later history of the commu-
nity. Several families, including Jesse Coler, Solomon
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White, David Simmons and the Rexroads and Halter-
mans, migrated from Highland County. Some of the
new immigrants were members of the United Brethren
church, and one of their first acts upon coming to the
Freeman’s creek valley was to commence holding their
religious meetings. The first services of the United
Brethren church in Lewis County were held in the home
of David Simmons about 1841 or the year following. A
church was soon organized, and largely through the
generosity of Mr. Simmons, a house of worship was
erected on the Simmons farms above the site of Free-
mansburg. From the parent church a number of others
have sprung, including Valley Chapel, the Polk Creek
church, the congregation at Churchville, and the Broad
street church at Weston.

Daniel Harpole is said to have been the first set-
tler on Murphy’s creek about the beginning of the cen-
tury. He was followed by the progenitor of the Jarvis
family in Lewis County at a period so remote that his
name has been lost. George Fisher settled on the creek
at a somewhat later date. About 1840 the Bankheads,
Spears, and Henrys, who had come from Scotland, set-
tled on Limestone, a tributary of Murphy’s creek. They
were coal miners, and took up the business of supplying
Weston with coal after the abandonment of the bank
owned by James M. Camp. A Baptist church, the third
in the county, was organized on the creek in 1844.

Middle run and Rush run were settled at a later date
than Murphy’s creek, and for a long time they remained
practically in the wilderness. By 1844 each of the val-
leys of the streams had a population of four families.
The Rush run settlements and those above its mouth
on the river, induced the building of a mill by Jonathan
Holt in 1840. It subsequently passed into the hands
of John Detamore, who continued it in operation until
late in the century, when it was destroyed by fire. Dr
N. B: Barnes organized a Sunday school in 1855 in an
old building which stood near the mouth of Middle run.
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In the valley of the West Fork below Roanoke,
new settlements began to be made around the home-
stead of Abner Mitchell. The Heavners settled at first
on the Rhodes place where they lived until the coming
of Rhodes, shortly before the Civil war. Samuel Bond
came from near Lost creek about 1825, and settled not
far from the later site of the Seventh Day Baptist church.
The first services of that denomination were held in the
home of one of the Heavners shortly after the closc
of the Civil war. Before 1820 the pioneer Abner
Mitchell applied for permission to construct a dam
in the river, to furnish motor power for a small mill
which he proposed to establish. The mill was con-
structed, but the venture was not a success owing to the
small number of settlers near him and the later compe-
tition of other mills in the neighborhood.

The town of Roanoke at the mouth of Sand fork and
near the mouth of Canoe run occupies a strategic loca-
tion which was not appreciated for a long time after
the first settlement had been made in the vicinity. John
and William Godfrey, brothers, are credited with having
been the first to occupy the site. They were lumber-
men in addition to being farmers, and with every rise
in the river they floated hundreds of logs to Weston and
points beyond, where they were formed into rafts and
sent down the Monongahela. Michael G. Bush, a for-
mer school teacher, millwright and farmer, moved from
Skin creek to the mouth of Sand Fork about 1835.
About the time that Mitchell’s mill suspended operations
he is thought to have established a mill which had a
brief existence, almost forgotten by the sons of pioneers
in that section. The mill gave the name to the post-
office of Bush’s Mills, which was in existence just below
Roanoke in 1851 with William Rohrbough as postmaster
Isaac Waldo came from Harrison County about 1840 and
established a mill in the bend of the river about one-
half mile above the mouth of Sand fork. It continued in
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operation for many years until it was burned to the
water's edge in the ’seventies.

The progress made in the Collins settlement was
largely in the nature of the extension of clearings. New
farms were settled by the descendants of the first com-
ers, and the area of improvements was gradually ex-
tended to include both forks of the river. A postoffice,
the second in the county, was established under the name
of Collins Settlement with Joseph H. Camden as post-
master in 1821, when there were no roads connecting the
section with Weston. At the forks of the river, William
Bennett established a mill prior to 1820 which became
the nucleus of the present village of Walkersville. A
postoffice was established there under the name of Ben-
nett’s Mills about 1835, and a polling place was estab-
lished at his home in 1838. The Right fork was set-
tled first, as indicated by road orders of the county
court which found it necessary to establish a road only
to the mouth of Crane Camp on the left fork in 1820, but
which a little later caused a road to be viewed up Right
fork to the mouth of Glady. Andrew Wilson settled
near the present site of the village of Ireland, James and
John Anderson built their homes about half way be-
tween Ireland and Bennett’s mill, some of the younger
Bennetts took up land near their fathers, and Isaac
Bouse settled near the present village of Ireland where
he became the first postmaster about 1845. The place
was called Ireland in honor of Andrew Wilson, a son of
Erin, who voted for James K. Polk for president in 1844
at the age of 113. Abram’s run was rather thickly settled
by 1845. Sand fork had more than a dozen families by
the same date. Henry Gilson, Robert Irvine, James
Brady, Henry McCauley and others lived on the stream,
but they left on account of the conflict of land titles
and went farther west:

One of the first settlers of Clover fork and Oil
creek was Alexander Skinner, who lived in the forks of
the creek where Orlando is now located. John Riffle
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was also on lower Qil creek by 1827. He estlablished
the first mill in that section some time prior to 1853,
and he also had the honor in that year to kill the last
panther seen in Lewis County. The Poseys were also
pioneers on lower Qil creek; James Posey lived just
above Orlando. Clover fork was settled about the same
time, and had grown so swiftly through the coloniza-
tions of G. J. Arnold and others that there were suffi-
cient settlers to justify the establishment of a store a
few miles above the mouth of the stream by a man
named Townsend in 1853. A blacksmith shop was also
in operation. Near the head of the stream the first set-
tler was William B. Holbert, who came before 1836.
The Cunninghams and Traylors were there a little later.

Skin creek district as a whole reached maturity
perhaps earlier than any of the other districts of the
county with the exception of Hacker’s creek. Big Skin
creek was a fairly compact territory by 1840. In addi-
tion to the earlier settlers the Petersons had established
themselves at the head of the creek, and there were
several families of Hardmans living between David
Hall’s and the mouth of Charles’ run. George Harris
lived just below the present Jewell farm, and William
Warner had settled on Glady fork. Philip Linger es-
tablished a mill about 1830 on the farm just:adjoining
the land on which Vandalia was afterwards built. A
church building was erected nearby about 1838, which
served for many years both as a place for worship and as
a schoolhouse.

Little Skin creek, about the year 1850 was proba-
bly as thickly settled as it is today. Colonel John Cor-
outhers, who was of Irish descent if not a native of Ire-
land, and whose residence on the creek dates from about
1825, was regarded as the richest man in the county
in 1844. He was a prominent cattle dealer, as well as
a farmer whose methods were superior to those of other
farmers of the vicinity. The Rev. Phemeno Chidester,
W. M. McNemar, David Whetsel and Jacob Hudson
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were other new residents in the valley. A separate
polling place was established there about 1848.

Stone Coal creek, which is now regarded as being
one of the best agricultural sections in the county, had a
population in the 'forties of intelligent and enterprising
farmers. To them is partly due the present fertility of
the soil, for they never cropped their fields until the
land became worn out. The Rev. Henry Hardman,
Peter Smith, Mark Hersman, John Yoke, James Wilson,
Jacob Whetsel, Thomas Hawkins and Levi Maxwell
were some of the more noteworthy residents of the val-
ley. In 1844 there were no villages along the whole
course of the stream. The Lorentz store near the head
of the creek and the various establishments of Weston
furnished sufficient stocks of goods from which the peo-
ple might select. The Curtis mill was supplanted in 1836
by the Shoulders mill. Shortly after the Methodist con-
gregation on the creek voted to cast their lot with the
Methodist Protestant church, Henry D. Hardman, at
his own expense, erected a church for the few members
who decided to remain with the older organization.
There were then three churches on the creek. The com-
munity was then too weak to support all of them, and
the Presbyterian congregation, which had maintained
a precarious existence for some time, ceased to exist by
1840. Following the construction of the Staunton and
Parkersburg turnpike the village of Gaston began to
take form.

In what is now Court House district settlements
were slow in being founded. Jim Ditcher, a freedman.
was the first settler on Goosepen run, or for that matter
on any of the streams which are tributary to Sand fork-
He located there in the early ’thirties. Tom Boilen set-
tled at the mouth of Rock Camp run a little later. Until
the coming of the Irish, these were the only settlements
in the whole region.

Those communities which had not reached a suffi-
cient stage of development to have stores, were served
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after a fashion by peddlers, who with a greater or less
quantity of trinkets on their backs or of store goods in
their wagons, made their way from one settlement to
another. A peddler’s license fee was $25 per year, except
for clock peddlers, who paid $100. William T. Knotts
and William M. Grimes were two of the first peddlers
in the county who sold at retail “goods of foreign growth
and manufacture.” The old peddler was a picturesque
figure as he made his way over the trails in his light
wagon filled with his stock of groceries, notions and
dry goods which he exchanged for the products of the
farm. His wagon always was full, even at the end of
the trip; for the goods which he took in trade were
heavier and more bulky in most cases than those he
sold. The peddler was always welcomed, for his wagon
was the only source from which store goods could be
procured by the families who lived in the valleys remote
from the older communities, and he retailed not only
goods but gossip of the whole region through which he
traveled.

The first show to come to Lewis County was owned
by Miller, Mead and Olmstead, who gave performances
in 1853 in many of the more populous communities. At
intervals thereafter shady individuals gave performances
in the old field schoolhouses for the edification of the
natives. Most of the amusements of the people consist-
ed, as at an earlier date, of corn huskings, grubbing
frolics, quilting bees and hoedowns.

Very few of the farmers owned slaves, because they
could not afford to keep them throughout the year for
the small amount of agricultural produce which resulted
from their labor- The lack of a good market made the
institution unprofitable; the fact that all the farmers
of the county worked their own land made it unpopular.
Only the nabobs at the county seat and the very rich
farmers could afford to keep slaves, and they were used
for a great variety of domestic service as well as for
grubbing in winter and tending crops in summer.
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The influence of religion upon the pioneers often led
to a combination of the wild and uncouth with the pure
and noble. The great revivals of that day when the
unlettered preacher spoke forcefully before an even more
unlettered audience were calculated to instill the fear
of God into the hearts of the people and to frighten
them into the fold. Perhaps it was the only effectual
means of accomplishing the end for which the frontier
church existed.

The influence of the church was always directed to-
ward a higher plane of civilization. Many a community
was “cleaned up” by a vigorous revival meeting and
sometimes the results were fairly permanent. The reg-
ular meetings of congregations were always worth while,
even aside from their spiritual importance.

The Methodists and Baptists were the leading de-
nominations in the county until a later date. Members
of other churches who settled in the county usually
affiliated with one or the other of them. The Lewis
circuit of the Methodist church in 1827 included ten
churches, of which one was located in Harrison county,
one in what is now Barbour, two in Upshur, one in Gil-
mer, one on Salt Lick creek, now in Braxton County,
and four churches in communities now included in Lewis.
Two of the classes were located on Hacker’s creek, one
on Stone Coal and one on Skin creek. There were but
three church buildings on the ecircuit, and Harmony
church on Hacker’s creek was the only one of these now
in Lewis County. Two preachers were assigned to the
circuit. In 1829 occurred the schism in the Methodist
church over the question of the admission of laymen to a
share in the government of the church- The two con-
gregations on Hacker’s creek went over to the Meth-
odist Protestant church, as did most of the members on
Skin creek and Stone Coal.

Among the pioneer preachers of the Methodist
Episcopal church whose influence helped to mould the
character of the community were Forest W. Peterson,
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Asa Shinn, George Brown, John Strange, and at a later
date, Edmund Leehon and James G. Samson. The two
last-named have perhaps never been excelled in this
country as pulpit orators. Among all those of the Meth-
odist Protestant church none ever was more widely
known or more influential than the Rev. Samuel Claw-
son, who first came to Lewis County in 1839. He was
a man of tireless energy, who rode from one section of
ihe county to tihe Jther p-caching the gospel of rcdemp-
tion from hell fire in the few churches of his denomina-
tion, in schoolhouses and in private homes, forming
congregations and building churches. “Put that fire
out,” he said before a service to some members of his
congregation who had gathered about a huge fireplace,
“I’ll soon make it hot enough for you in here.” He did,
according to the testimony of disinterested spectators.
Among the Baptist ministers in the county there was
none more successful than the Rev. Anthony J. Garrett.
Though uneducated, in fact almost illiterate, he was
gifted with fluent speech. He traversed all of north-
western Virginia, living a great part of the time on horse-
back, preaching wherever the opportunity presented it-
self, and always with remarkable results-

The Presbyterian church which had been estab-
lished by the New Englanders soon after their coming
to French creek was not in Lewis County, but it exercis-
ed a great influence over the people of the upper West
Fork valley, particularly those on the Left fork. The
Seventh Day Baptist church near Roanoke was not yet
in existence; its greatest period of usefulness to the
community came at a later date. The same may be said
of the nascent United Brethren churches on Freeman’s
creek. The Christian church, which was established by
Alexander Campbell of Brooke County early in the nine-
teenth century, never obtained a foothold in Lewis
County; but one of its ministers, the Rev. James Shurt-
leff, spent some time preaching in the county.

The chronicles of the stirring times of the Indian
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wars in northwestern Virginia were published in 1831
under the title.of “Chronicles of Border Warfare.” The
author, Alexander Scott Withers, came to Harrison
County in 1827, and engaged in the collection of his-
torical materials for the work. He was greatly assisted
by Judge Edwin S. Duncan, first commonwealth’s at-
torney for Lewis County, and by William Hacker and
William Powers, both residents of the district around
West’s fort. The work was read with avidity by old
and young of the county. It has been recognized by
critics as one of the best chronicles of Indian wars ever
written. The author moved to Weston some time before
1837, taught school, kept a store and became a justice of
the peace.

The exploitation of the natural resources of the
county began about 1840 when the cutting of timber
which lined the banks of the larger streams was begun
for commercial purposes: Part of the lumber was sold
in the home markets, but a vastly greater quantity of
timber, particularly poplar and walnut logs, was floated
down the West Fork and its tributaries to the mouth of
the river where rafts were formed to be taken to Pitts-
burgh. Where clearings were made on the smaller
tributaries the large trees were deadened and burned as
before.

Conditions in agriculture improved somewhat. In
all but the extreme southern and western portions of
the territory at present embraced in the county, the
farmers were raising wheat in sufficient quantities for
home consumption. The establishment of new mills
made this form of agriculture general, and the improve-
ment in the equipment of all the mills made it exceed-
ingly popular. Soda biscuits and salt-rising bread sup-
planted the humble corn pone at some of the meals.
The methods of raising wheat were still very crude. It
was cut with a sickle or cradle, and threshed with a
flail or by spreading it on the threshing floor and run-
ning horses over it. The straw was afterwards thrown
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off with a fork, and the grain separated from the chaff
by means of a crude fanning machine. Flailing wheat
was a hard task, and there were many men who went
from one farm to another flailing grain for a fixed price
per bushel.

In preparing the seedbed the crudest kind of ap-
pliances were in use. Wooden mouldboard plows were
in common use among the more progressive farmers
where the land had been cleared sufficiently long to be
free from roots. Crude iron plows were used on more
freshly cleared lands. The “coulter” was a small bar
of iron or steel which was fitted into the plow stock to
cut roots; the “bulltongue” a very narrow, strong plow
was run next; lastly, a shovel plow was used to tear up
the soil and put it into proper shape. The harrows in
use were usually equipped with wooden teeth:

The principal source of wealth continued to be cat-
tle, though the prices were low. An appraisement bill
of an estate in 1828 shows the following prices:

1 pide cow $7.00
1 red cow ot 8.00
1 brindle pide Heifer 5.00
1 2 year old stear 8.00
1 red heifer with white back 3.00
1 small black bull 1.75

The cattle were driven east to Baltimore or to the
terminus of the Baltimore and Ohio railroad. Helpers
were given twenty-five cents a day. They traveled on
foot. On their return they received one cent a mile with
which to purchase food. In order to eliminate profiteer-
ing, the prices for the keeping of live stock were fixed
by the county court in 1821:

For Horses per day .8 cents
For Slaves per do 20 cents
For cattle per do .6 cents
For sheep and hogs per do..................... 4 cents

A very important event in the history of Lewis
County was the introduction, about 1840, of pure bred



212 A HISTORY OF LEWIS COUNTY

shorthorn Durham cattle. The more progressive farm-
ers began improving their herds. Many farmers, dislik-
ing innovation or ignorant of breeding principles, con-
tinued to keep scrub stock.

Sheep raising could not reach its highest develop-
ment so long as wolves continued to exist in the county.
The county court very early made efforts to rid the
county of them. Wolf bounties were paid to citizens of
Weston in 1820. By an act passed in 1824 the county
court of Lewis County was authorized to place a bounty
of not to exceed $8 for an old wolf and $4 for a young
one, in order to encourage the killing off of the beasts
more quickly. In a few cases the effect was just the
opposite of the intention of the bill. The increased re-
ward led certain worthless individuals to take up wolf
farming. When the den of a she wolf was discovered
it was left unmolested until the young wolves were just
ready to leave it. They were then killed, but the wolf
was left in the hope that she would escape from the
other hunters to return to the same place and rear her
young another year. In 1832 the court paid bounties
on the scalps of nineteen old wolves and fifty-five young
ones. The last wolf on Hacker’s creek was seen about
1854. On account of the large number of wolves in
the county the value of sheep in 1828 was much greater
than at a later date, By 1850 the number of sheep had
increased until it was 13,393.

The administration of the county continued to be
under the supervision of the justices of the peace. The
court consisted of twelve justices whose remuneration
consisted of the office of sheriff, which went to each
justice in turn; but by the time a justice became entitled
ta the office he was too old for its strenuous duties. He
therefore sold it to some younger man. The sheriffs
rode over all the county from east of the Buckhannon
river to the present Wirt County line, collecting taxes,
making arrests, serving subpoenas and levying on the
property of citizens to satisfy judgments. The law re-
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quired that all the property of the debtor was subject to
levy; but the sheriff was prevented by law from lifting
a latch or raising a window. If a man could bring his

property into his house before the sheriff came he could
save it. That the administration of justice was some-
what crude may be inferred from the number of returns
of the sheriffs which read:

“Saw the defendant, but he ran and could not be
arrested.”

In the absence of newspapers one of the principal
sources of information was the militia organization
which was formed under Camp immediately after the
formation of the county. The great musters which were
attended by all the citizens of the county of military
age were occasions for old friends to get together and
pass around the gossip of the neighborhood, for candi:
dates to make themselves known to their prospective
constituents, and for the discussion of political, moral,
economic, social and religious questions of the day-
The militiamen had no guns and were not drilled in the
manual of arms. As a military organization they were
of no value.

Lewis County had a one-man share in the Mexican
war. Under the direction of Lieutenant Thomas J. Jack-
son, then on a furlough after having just graduated from
West Point, a company was formed by Dr. fBland,
who offered their services to the government. As the
term of enlistment was only six months the offer was
refused by the government. Lieutenant Jackson joined
his regiment and acquitted himself with credit in the
most difficult part of the campaign.

By the year 1845 Lewis County was just beginning
to take on the air of a finished settlement. The United
States government extended the postal service to reach
most parts of the county at that time. The United States
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postal guide for 1851 gives the names of the postoffices
and postmasters of Lewis County as follows:

Bennett’s Mills .................... W. M. Bennett, Jr.
Big Skin Creek Daniel Hall
Bush's Mills ooovveeeeooeecereee William Rohrbough
Collins Settlement .................... John G. Amold
Ireland Isaac W Bowse
Jane Lew ...: Isaac Jackson
Leading Creek Henry W. Sleeth
Little Skin Creek ...ccececeeeceeecees W. B. Peterson

Weston James A. Hall



CHAPTER XVII.
EARLY TRANSPORTATION

One of the causes of the agitation which resulted in
the formation of Lewis County was the neglect of the
Harrison County court to furnish means of transporta.
tion for the people of the southern part of the county.
There is no doubt that the people of that section had a
grievance. Almost immediately following the organiza-
tion of the county court that body began the work of
creating a network of roads to bring all the settled por-
tions of the county into easy communication with one
another. Within two years an immense volume of
road orders had been passed. Viewers were appointed
to locate new roads in practically the whole expanse of
the territory of the county. Especially was there an
effort to develop the natural route east and west from
Weston which had not been given much attention by the
county court of Harrison County.

The first road order passed by the Lewis County
justices appointed viewers to mark a way for a road from
near Bulltown to the Elk river above Sutton. Other im-
portant roads opened within the first two years of the
existence of the county were from the ford of the West
Fork river at Weston to Harpold’s on Murphy’s creek;
from Abner Mitchell’'s mill below the present site of
Roanoke to the ford of the river below Henry Camden’s
(now Jacksonville) ; from the head of Rush run to First
street in Weston ; from the forks of the West fork river
to the mouth of Crane’s Nest Camp; up Dry Fork of
Polk creek to intersect the road from the mouth of Free-
man's creek to the mouth of Rush run; from Freeman’s
creek to the Harrison County line at Middle Island
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creek; from the forks of West Fork to the Haymond
salt works. Every road mentioned afterward became
an important highway, and practically every one at its
establishment gave an outlet for a flourishing settle-
ment. Like most of the other roads in northwestern
Virginia at that period, these roads were hardly more
than trails through the woods. None of them was met-
aled. In most cases they led through the primeval for-
est where the action of the sun in drying up the ground
was not often of much effect. There were no culverts,
and as a result the roads were generally muddy. They
were not ditched properly, if at all. Yet they were
roads, common property of the people of the county,
which had been secured at little or no expense, and
which held possibilities of being later important arteries
of commerce.

The roads were not kept in good condition at all.
Sometimes they were not even worked by the people who
had been designated in the order creating the road.
Road overseers were frequently in trouble with the
courts for “failing to keep the road in repair.” At a
single session of the county court held in 1821, indict-
ments were returned against George Fisher, John Wag-
goner, Henry Flesher and John Sleeth, all of whom
were in charge of important roads through rather pop-
ulous communities. Two of the roads which were not
in repair were approaches to Weston, one by the river
from the north, the other from Polk creek.

The hopes of the early residents of Weston for the
rapid growth of the town were not so much in the build-
ing of roads, as in the development of slackwater navi-
gation on the West Fork river. One of the reasons for
the choice of the site as the county seat was the belief
that the mouth of Stone Coal creek was the head of nav-
igation of the Monongahela. In 1817 a company was in
process of formation to canalize the river, which, if it had
succeeded, would have made Weston a great commer-
cial center.
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The launching of the enterprise was not a sudden
spurt, but followed a long period of agitation accompan-
ied by some development- In 1793 the General Assembly
passed its first act for the improvement of the Monon-
gahela and West Fork rivers, making them navigable
for passage by canoes and flatboats. In 1800 it declared
the Monongahela a public highway. As we have seen, it
was much used by the settlers along its course. Almost
from the beginning it was the surest and best highway
by which the produce of the upper valley could be taken
to market.

The prospects for a great increase in the amount of
the agricultural produce in the upper valley of the West
Fork, if adequate means of transportation could be se-
cured, led to the incorporation of the Monongahela Nav-
igation Company in 1818. The prime mover in the en-
terprise was the indefatigable John G. Jackson, who was
the business genius of the early northwest. He associat-
ed himself in the enterprise with the leading men of the
section. The charter conferred upon the company
authority to make the Monongahela and West Fork
rivers navigable for rafts, flatboats and lumber by build-
ing dams throughout the course of the stream and by
diverting the flow of the Buckhannon river into the West
Fork by way of Stone Coal creek. The capital stock of
the company was fixed at $150,000, of which two-fifths
was to be subscribed by the state as soon as the remain-
der was subscribed by private parties.

The company began work of construction at once.
Several dams were constructed, mostly on the lower
course of the West Fork in Harrison County. The com-
pany did not build any dams in Lewis County, nor did it
attempt to divert the waters of the Buckhannon to the
West Fork. It was soon discovered that more water al-
ready coursed down the channel of the West Fork than
the dams could hold back, for during the exceptionally
great floods of 1819, most of the improvements were
washed out or were completely ruined..
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Twenty-one thousand dollars had been sunk in the
enterprise without apparent result, and the stockholders
determined to abandon the project. In 1820 the Board of
Public Works ordered a survey from the courthouse of
Lewis County to the Pennsylvania line to determine the
advisability of taking up the work further. Ten years
later proceedings were begun in the courts to have the
franchises of the Monongahela Navigation Company de-
clared void and to vest them in the Board of Public
Works of the state. The opportunity was never taken
advantage of by the state. Before long the dams of the
company which had withstood the flood were declared
public nuisances and ordered to be removed by the
courts. Thus ended the only serious attempt to improve
the navigation of the West Fork river. The people of
northwestern Virginia were never able again to secure
the aid of the state in a project for making the river
navigable.

If the roseate dreams of John G. Jackson and other
promoters of the enterprise had been fulfilled, Weston,
at the head of navigation of the West Fork river would
have been the metropolis of central West Virginia. If
the project was to fail, it is as well that the work was
abandoned before the added volume of the water from
the Buckhannon river spread over the rich bottoms of
Stone Coal.

The trade with Pittsburgh and other points down
the river grew in volume notwithstanding the failure of
the Monongahela Navigation Company. Flatboats con-
tinued to be built and canoes continued to be floated
down the river filled with the produce of the settlers.
The owners generally returned in canoes, bringing the
necessities of life or cash which they had received for
their produce. The river was also used for the transpor-
tation of poplar and walnut logs which were floated tc
Clarksburg, and there formed into rafts to be floated to
the shipyards above Pittsburgh.

The principal interior routes of transportation con-
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tinued to be the roads which had been constructed
through the forests or along the edges of clearings.
New roads were located every year, and those in exist-
ence were improved. The worst places were corduroyed
with poles. Gradually bridges were being provided to
enable the traveler to cross the streams at all times. In
1820 a small bridge was thrown across Maxwell’s run by
the supervisors of three nearby precincts on the order of
the county court, but it was an insignificant structure, the
work of thirty men for two days. Most of the smaller
bridges of the county were similarly constructed by the
combining of “companies” iof different overseers. A
special act was passed by the Assembly in 1826 which
enabled the county courts of Lewis and Tyler counties
to lay an additional levy of 3314 cents to build bridges,
repair roads and locate new roads. The act bore imme-
diate fruit in Lewis County. The same year the first
bridge of any considerable size in the county was con-
structed across Stone Coal creek near its mouth by Jas-
per Butcher. It was a rather sorry structure which re-
quired considerable repairs in 1832 and was replaced by
another bridge after ten years’ service.

The next bridge to be built by the county was one
across the West Fork river at Weston. In July, 1829, the
county court appointed Levi Maxwell and John Lorentz
commissioners to build a frame bridge across the West
Fork river at the western extremity of Second street, to
be placed on stone pillars “if in their Opinion it will be
best.” The bridge was completed the next year “on
stone pillars.” It remained in use until replaced by the
state bridge in 1847-48. 1In 1832 the court ordered the
erection of a large and expensive bridge across the
Buckhannon river at the mouth of Jaw-bone run, which
stood for many years. The same year bridges were built
across Hacker’s creek just below McWhorter’s Mills,
and across Freeman'’s creek about a mile above its mouth.
The latter continued to do service until the present cen-
tury, though it was often in poor repair. The efforts
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of the court for the next few years were confined to
meeting the assessments for the oonstruction of the
Staunton and Parkersburg turnpike. In 1839, the build-
ing of bridges was resumed when Abner Mitchell was
designated to construct a wooden bridge to span Canoe
run near its mouth. From that time forward many of
the most important crossings of the county were
bridged with more or less permanent structures, some
of which have continued in use until almost the present
day.

A last attempt to clear the West Fork and the Lit-
tle Kanawha rivers and render them navigable was made
by the court in 1836. A resolution was passed ordering
the sheriff to summon the justices to meet at the October
term to determine the advisability of letting a contract
to clear the rivers of stones, trees and rubbish. A copy
of the resolutions was ordered forwarded to the courts
of Monongalia, Harrison and Wood counties, but no
answers were received, and there is no record of any
further action having been taken by the court of Lewis.

Prosperity was to come to Weston from the im-
provement of the old Indian trail through the Polk
creek and Stone Coal valleys, which by 1847 was a part
of a main highway extending half way across the state.
As early as 1823 the General Assembly directed the

Board of Public Works to inquire into the expediency
of a survey by the principal engineer of the state to fix
the location of a road from Staunton to the mouth of the
Little Kanawha river. The board reported promptly,
affirming the desirability of such a survey. In March,
1824, the General Assembly passed an act providing for
the opening of the road “to promote the improvement of
that part of the State,” and “to reduce the amount of
the mileage of the public officers going to and returning
from the State Capital.” The sum of $1,600 was appro-
priated each year out of the revenues derived by the
state from Pendleton, Pocahontas, Randolph, Lewis and
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Wood counties to open the road, provided, that the
counties named would raise an equal amount.

The share apportioned to Lewis County was $400,
but the county court seems not to have taken any action
toward laying a levy for the construction of the road.
Private citizens resolved not to allow the opportunity to
pass for want of sufficient funds from Lewis County.
They organized a campaign and raised the amount by
subscription by the latter part of 1825.

Most of the funds raised at this time were expended
in making improvements in roads already in existence.
The Randolph County court in 1814 had provided that
a packh'orse road should be laid out from Buckhannon to
Beverly ; Harrison County had established a ferry across
the Buckhannon river and provided for laying out a
road from Buckhannon to Henry Flesher’'s (Weston);
Lewis County had established a road from the ford of
the West Fork at Weston to the ford of Polk creek
above Henry Flesher’s, and later (1821) from Lewis
Stallman’s on Leading creek to the Wood county line
on Hughes river. The Staunton and Parkersburg turn-
pike followed practically the route of these old trails,
which may be said to have been the beginning of the
through route from Richmond to the Ohio river at Par-
kersburg.

The location of the turnpike was not finally fixed
for several years. By the end of 1826 it had been sur-
veyed only to the mouth of Riffle’s run in Randolph
County. In order to hasten the work, the General As-
sembly directed that the county courts of Lewis, Ran-
dolph and Wood counties should each appoint one com-
missioner to lay off the remainder of the road by way
of Beverly and Weston to Parkersburg. In 1828 the
principal engineer was directed to examine the location
of the road from Weston to Parkersburg with power
to change the location already fixed by the commission-
ers. The work of surveying the route was finished the
same year.
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An act of the general Assembly, passed in 1830, pro-
vided for the raising of $50,000 by a lottery, the pro
ceeds of which were to be divided among the counties
of Pendleton, Pocahontas, Randolph, Lewis and Wood
according to a stated proportion. The act also directed
the county court of each of the above-mentioned coun-
ties to appoint a superintendent of construction. Two
years later the amount appropriated for the construction
of the road by the General Assembly was further in-
creased, provided the county courts of the four counties
through which the road passed should raise an equal
amount.

The work of construction of the road to Weston was
" vigorously pushed: With the completion by the Lewis
County court of the bridges across the Buckhannon and
the West Fork rivers, the turnpike was a fairly good
dirt road from Staunton to a point beyond Weston by
1835. The effects of the construction of the turnpike
were already being seen in that year in the great num-
ber of new settlers who bought lands on Stone Coal and
Polk creeks, and in the increased patronage of the Wes-
ton Inn and the Weston Hotel. The crowds were made
up mostly of emigrants who came as far as Weston and
then went either to the Northwestern turnpike at Clarks-
burg or followed the trails which led westward from
Weston. By 1836 the business of keeping emigrants had
become so profitable that Martin Smith, of Stone Coal
creek and William J- Rice, of DeKalb, on the Little Ka-
nawha river, applied for licenses to keep houses of pub-
lic entertainment.

The work of completing the road west of Weston
was delayed by the slowness of Wood County in rais-
ing the amount apportioned by acts of the General As-
sembly. In 1837 it was reported that the road was un-
completed through Wood and the western part of Lewis.
The principal engineer of the Board of Public Works
made an examination of the country the following year
with a view to eliminating the difficulties with the Wood
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County court, which seemed satisfied with the Northwest-
ern turnpike then connecting Parkersburg with the east.
In his report he recommended several alternative routes
west of Weston which would have made it join the
Northwestern turnpike east of the boundaries of indif-
ferent Wood County. The change in the location was
not carried out, as the General Assembly had determined
to construct the road by the most direct route without
regard to the aid received from the county courts. A
long step forward was taken in 1838 when the legisla-
ture authorized the Board of Public Works to borrow
$150,000 for the construction of the road from Staunton
westward.

Work was begun in earnest in 1838. Large forces of
men were engaged at both ends of the line but little pro-
gress was made in the eastern section for some time.
The Board of Public Works experienced considerable
difficulty in securing laborers due to the higher wages
paid in the east and to the competition of such works as
the Valley turnpike and the James River canal. The
difficulties were gradually overcome and the construc-
tion of the road hastened somewhat by the large grants
of money from the state legislature. No longer com-
pelled to rely upon support from the backwoods coun-
ties through which the road passed, the promoters had
reason to expect that it would soon be completed ac-
cording to the best principles of highway construction
then known.

In 1841 parts of the road were formally placed in
operation. The Board of Public Works was given
authority to establish toll gates and levy tolls on users
of the turnpike, subject to certain restrictions as to max-
imum tolls.

An act of the General Assembly appointed a com-
missioner to sell out short stretches of the road along
the Hughes river in the extreme western section of
Lewis County:- Beverly was made a point on the road
in 1842, by the machinations of the delegate from Ran-
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dolph County, although the route was thereby made
more roundabout and the construction more difficult.
An act of the legislature in 1845 appropriated $30,000
for the completion of the road between Beverly and
Weston. By an act passed in 1847, bridges were pro-
vided for over the Tygart’s Valley river at Huttonsville,
over Hughes river, over Stone Coal creek and over the
West Fork river at Weston to replace the dilapidated
structure which had been completed in 1830. The next
year funds were provided for additional bridges, among
which, in Lewis County the more important ones were
across Polk creek, and across Alum fork near its mouth.

The new bridges were solid, substantial structures
without the faults of those hurriedly erected at an earlier
date by the county courts. Many of them have contin-
ued in use until the present time. The Stone Coal, Polk
creek, and West Fork river bridges were built by Lem-
uel Chenoweth, of Philippi, who had received the con-
tract under rather interesting circumstances. He took
a model of the bridges he proposed to erect to Rich-
mond and entered it in competition with the plans and
models submitted by bridge builders from all parts of
the country. Few persons paid any attention to his
rude unpainted model until he placed the ends on two
chairs and then stood in the middle of the bridge. He
dared his competitors to do the same, but none of them
ventured to try it. The finished structures have proved
themselves as strong as the model, as shown by the fact
that the bridges across Stone Coal and Polk creeks are
still in use after seventy years of constant service, and
they are apparently good for another seventy years.

In order to make the turnpike fit for a considerable
winter travel, an act was passed in 1849 appropriating
$60,000 for macadamizing parts of it. The next year
the General Assembly authorized the Board of Public
Works to borrow $150,000 on the credit of the state to
complete the road through the wild lands, and to mac-
adamize the sections of the road where there was great-
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est need for repairs. It was provided by the same act
that the maximum grade might be four and one-half per
cent “at difficult points where it was unavoidable,” be-
cause a great deal of trouble had been experienced in
securing a suitable location in crossing Rich mountain
and other high hills. Some of the bridges having been
destroyed by floods in 1852 an appropriation was imme-
diately passed to provide for rebuilding them- The
amount named in the act was $100,000, which was to be
used for planking and macadamizing in addition to the
replacement of bridges. Heavy rains following the melt-
ing of snow which had laid on the ground through most
of the winter of 1852, caused a great deal of damage to
the road, apart from the washing away of bridges. Ac-
cording to the report of Superintendent John Brannon,
of Weston, the road was in very bad condition, owing
to the number of serious washouts. The tolls were re-
ported to be wholly inadequate for the proper upkeep of
the road. The legislature made no new appropriations
of importance except to repair damages resulting from
floods and hard usage in some sections. In 1860 the
turnpike was divided into two sections with a superin-
tendent in charge of each, their jurisdictions being di-
vided by Cheat mountain.

The road was an ambitious attempt of the state of
Virginia to establish a route for commerce between the
eastern and western parts of the state. It was the only
turnpike of importancc entirely owned by the state,
and for which the state took all responsibility, north of
the Kanawha valley. Its total cost within the present
limits of West Virginia was $264,043.07. Of this amount
$146,403.47 had been borrowed on the credit of the state,
and formed part of the Virginia debt in 1863. That the
investment of Virginia in constructing the turnpike was
not a profitable one is shown by the fact that only $17,
080.71 was collected as tolls upon travelers. It was not
expected that it would be a financial success for many
years, otherwise the Board of Public Works would not
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have had the burden of constructing it- Private cap-
ital could easily have been secured for the task. The
state took charge of the construction largely to tap the
resources of a hitherto undeveloped section, and to make
it commercially dependent upon the business men of the
.cgion around Richmond.

The results of the building of the road were far-
reaching. While it was in course of construction work
was provided for many citizens of Lewis County, for
which they received payment in cash. It had been
facetiously said that the mileage of members of the
legislature and the income from digging ginseng had
furnished the only sources of ready money in the back-
woods counties. Henceforth Lewis County was out of
the backwoods. Its citizens had to depend no longer
for their income from agricultural produce sold in dis-
tant markets, but had markets at home. The labor re-
quired to finish the road was even greater than the local
supply, and many Irish immigrants, who had just ar-
rived in America, were attracted to the work. The great
amount of unoccupied lands along the route and the
easy terms of purchase offered by the proprietors, led
many of them to settle permanently in Lewis County.
Their wages were used for the purchase of the necessi-
ties of life or were devoted to making payments on land,
and the prosperity of the county was thereby increased.
The construction camps were a ready market for agri-
cultural products. For the first time in the history of
the county the people had an important local market.
After the completion of the road the market still existed.
The steady stream of emigrants gave great prosperity to
the keepers of hotels. Ordinaries sprang up at the foot
of Buckhannon mountain, at the present site of Camden,
at Steinbeck’s (below Alum Bridge) and at the import-
ant road junction at Linn. Minter Bailey erected on the
northwest corner of Second and Main streets a three-
story brick hotel building which was perhaps the largest
in central West Virginia at the time of the formation of
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the state. A regular line of stagecoaches was establish-
ed to run between Weston and Staunton. The hauling
of manufactured goods over the mountains from Balti-
more was largely given up on account of the fact that
they could be shipped to Parkersburg and then hauled
to Weston much more cheaply. The establishment of
the road thus for a short time changed the course of
commerce in the county.

The Staunton and Parkersburg turnpike was one of
the principal causes of one of the greatest eras of busi-
ness prosperity ever experienced in the county. Lateral
roads were constructed almost immediately following
the completion of the road, which connected the county
seat with points north and south of the turnpike. The
most important of these were the Weston and Charles-
ton, the Clarksburg and Weston, the Weston and Gauley
Bridge, the Weston and Lewisport, the Weston and
Fairmont, the Buckhannon and Little Kanawha, and the
Weston and West Union turnpikes.

The first of these roads to be established was the
Weston and Charleston turnpike, which was authorized
by the General Assembly in 1836. The road was to be
constructed by a joint stock company in accordance with
the policy of the state at that time. The capital stock
was $10,000, three-fifths of which was to be appropriated
by the legislature and the remainder to be raised by levy,
donations and subscriptions in the counties of Lewis
and Kanawha. Braxton county had no part in the con-
struction of the road, which did not pass through the
territory of that county. In 1837 Lewis County raised
$1,000, of which $300 was raised by levy and the remain-
der from a subscription among the people: Kanawha
County furnished its quota by 1842, when a commis-
sioner was appointed to supervise the location and con-
struction of the road.

The route as finally determined upon followed the
Staunton and Parkersburg turnpike to the present site
of Linn, where it crossed to Stewart creek by way of
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State Road run. It passed through the present villages
of Glenville, Lettergap, Normantown, Stumptown and
Millstone, and reached the Elk river at Clendenin. The
act of the legislature apparently did not contemplate a
real connecting link betwen the northern and southern
parts of the state. The appropriation was entirely in-
adequate for the construction of other than a dirt road.
It was well graded, however, and furnished a far better
means of communication than any that had previously
existed in that section.

The immediate effects of the Weston and Charles-
ton turnpike upon the development of the extreme west-

ern part of Lewis County was out of all proportion to
the cost of the road. It has continued to exercise greatr
influence over the development of Gilmer, Calhoun and
Roane counties. By 1842 the town of Hartford was es-
tablished at the point where the road reached the Little
Kanawha river. When Gilmer County was formed, this
town became the county seat. The whole district drain-
ed by the West Fork of the Little Kanawha river and
by Steer creek was opened up to settlement. So great
was the rush to these lands, and so brilliant the future
apparent for that region that the citizens began a move-
ment for the formation of Gilmer and Roane counties
shortly after the opening of the road. It was the prin-
cipal route from the West Fork to the Great Kanawha
river until the construction of the Weston and Gauley
Bridge turnpike nearly twenty years later-

The other roads constructed following the comple-
tion of the Staunton and Parkersburg turnpike will be
.reated in another chapter. They exercised a tremen-

dous influence over the history of the county, but not
perhaps as great an influence as they would have had but
for the advent of the Baltimore and Ohio railroad into
northwestern Virginia at this time. The new and more
powerful agency of transportation had come to take the
place of the slow moving wagon on the dirt road even
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before the completion of the Staunton and Parkersburg
turnpike.

While Virginia was attempting to construct a canal
from the James river to the Kanawha valley which
would capture the trade of the entire west for Rich-
mond and Norfolk, a group of Baltimore capitalists was
engaged in constructing the Baltimore and Ohio rail-
road to the west. The locomotive reached Harper’s
Ferry in 1833 and Cumberland in 1842. The effect was
immediately felt in the quiet dales of the West Fork.
Merchants who had previously hauled all their goods
from Baltimore now hauled them from the nearest rail-
road stop. They were thus enabled to sell them cheaper,
and the citizens of the county were enabled to buy
greater quantities of manufactured goods. It was no
longer necessary to drive cattle all the way to Baltimore
to market. They could be shipped part of the way, and
they brought more per head at home because part of
the expense of marketing them at home had been elim-
inated.

The railroad was pushed farther westward until it
was opened as far as Fetterman in 1852. In 1856-7 the
Northwestern Virginia railroad was completed from
Grafton to Parkersburg. The final completion of this
last link enabled the business men of Lewis County to
have their goods hauled all the way by rail with the ex-
ception of the distance from Clarksburg.



CHAPTER XVIII.
THE IRISH AND GERMAN IMMIGRATION

The last of the five districts of the county to be set-
tled was Court House. By 1840 every other considerable
territory in the county had a number of families, and
the beginnings of institutions could be discerned- Sand
fork and its tributaries, Butcher’s fork, Cove creek, Indian
fork, and other smaller streams, together with a consid-
erable territory on Leading creek remained unsettled
except for Tom Boilen, who had settled at the mouth of
Rock Camp run, and Jim Ditcher, colored, who lived on
Goosepen. Everywhere else was dense wilderness. The
primeval forest covered the slopes of the hills and dales.
The creatures of the wild, then rapidly being extermin-
ated before the advance of the white man found their
last refuge in Lewis County on its western borders.
Sand Fork in the thirties was a paradise for hunters.
Deer, bears and all the other animals of the western
Virginia forests remained in the valley and furnished
good hunting though they had been made wary by the
number of hunters who invaded their haunts.

The greater portion of this land had, of course,
-been patented even while the Indian wars were in pro-
gress, and some surveys had been made by the intrepid
Henry Jackson and others. The Pickering survey of
100,000 acres on the headwaters of the West Fork and
Little Kanawha rivers, which included part of the Sand
fork lands, was made in 1785. The Ford grant made in
1797 for 27,000 acres, extended southwest from a cor-
ner near the head of Rush run. Many smaller tracts
had been patented and surveyed by speculators. In al-
most every case the large surveys had been made with
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the view of inducing immigrants to make settlements;
but the abundance of more desirable lands, both in west-
ern Virginia and beyond the Ohio, and the small num-
ber of immigrants who stopped in this section, caused
the investments to be unprofitable. In the first quartes
of the nineteenth century, most of the surveys had either
been sold or had been reported delinquent.

Tracts of 100,000 acres were sometimes mortgaged
for small sums and the mortgage left unpaid until it was
foreclosed. Large estates changed hands for a few cents
per acre. Colonel James M. Camp bought up many of
the tracts on Sand fork in early years, and stored the
deeds for them in his trunk without having them record-
ed. Unfortunately for him and for his heirs the con-
fusion of land titles in that region was so great that
other claims to the same land, almost equally good, were
admitted to record by the courts. Several younger cit-
izens of the county, believing that the Sand fork sec-
tion had a future, bought up small tracts as they came
on the market.

The process was hastened by a change in the policy
of the state with respect to delinquent lands. The laws
of Virginia respecting these lands had always been ver)
reasonable. Under them the owners always had a long
period of grace for the payment of taxes. By acts passed
in 1831 and 1835, however, the titles of lands published
as delinquent and not redeemed were declared forfeited.
Under an act passed in 1837, a commissioner of delin-
quent and forfeited lands was to be appointed in every
county of the northwest. His duties were to survey the
tracts declared delinquent, to make adjustments for the
payment of taxes if possible, and if not to sell the lands
for what they would bring.

One of the first holders of the office in Lewis
County was Minter Bailey, proprietor of the Weston
Hotel, who had achieved some local fame as a surveyor
and land speculator. Among other land dealers in the
county, none were more prominent than |Gideon D.
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Camden and Richard P- Camden. Just what the rela-
tions were between Bailey and the two Camdens before
his appointment as commissioner of forfeited lands is
not clear. By 1841 a partnership between them is evi-
. dent. In that year Bailey, as commissioner, “after ad-
vertising in one of the Clarksburg papers, and at the
front door of the courthouse”, sold a large tract to G.
D. Camden for about ten cents per acre. He reconveyed
one-third of it to R. P. Camden and one-third to Minter
Bailey at the same price per acre he had paid for it.
The greater part of the Reed and Ford surveys and part
of the Pickering survey also came into the possession
of the firm within a few years.

In addition to the land sold for taxes there were to
be found on Sand fork isolated small tracts which had
never been patented, or if patented had never been sur-
veyed. Many of them were taken up by one of the part-
ners and added to the common stock of Camden, Bailey
and Camden. A tract of 2,172 acres lying in Gilmer and
Lewis counties, but mostly in Lewis, was patented by R.
P. Camden in 1846, and smaller tracts were afterwards
purchased through the land office. The largest tract—one
which had been overlooked, and the existence of which
had probably been discovered by Minter Bailey when he
was county surveyor—was taken out in 1856, a great
quadrangle extending from Leading creek across Cove
lick, Left fork of Sand fork, Butcher’s fork and Indian
fork, and containing 20,000 acres. It was unbroken ex-
cept where one homeseeker had located a farm which in-
cluded forty-seven acres on the eastern boundary.

It should be explained that there is no evidence of
unfairness or of sharp practices in the possession of the
Sand fork lands by Camden, Bailey and Camden. The
old deeds show that the sales of forfeited lands at the
courthouse were always well advertised according to
law. Minter Bailey did only what most other county
surveyors and commissioners of forfeited \lands have
done both before and after his time. As commissioner,
he knew the legal status and the quality of all the for-
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feited lands, and as county surveyor he had unusual op
portunities to know the location of a great deal of un-
patented land. The other two members of the partner-
ship were far sighted business men. Gideon D. Camden
was a capitalist of Clarksburg, who probably financed
the operations. R. P. Camden was a business man of
Weston who seems to have devoted a great deal of his
time to the business, and probably did most of the de-
tailed work. It was a well-balanced partnership.

Other great landholders in the Sand fork water-
shed were James Bennett, Jonathan M. Bennett, George
J. Arnold and William E. Arnold. Their lands were lo-
cated in various parts of the region. They did not exer-
cise as great influence in the settlement of the country
as Camden, Bailey and Camden. The lands in the Sand
fork watershed were seen to be desirable on account of
the fact that the Staunton and Parkersburg turnpike
was nearing completion. It was confidently expected
that settlers who came west over the road in search of
homes would be attracted to the lands, now that means
of transportation were assured.

They were not disappointed in their hopes of form-
ing a colony. Many of the laborers engaged in the con-
struction of the Staunton and Parkersburg turnpike
were frecent immigrants from Ireland and Germany.
They had been engaged in construction work on many
of the public works then building in all parts of the
United States. The effects of the panic of 1837 in de-
creasing the amount of construction work everywhere
continued to be felt for many years thereafter. The
Staunton and Parkersburg turnpike, being under con-
struction by the state, did not feel the effects of the panic
as did enterprises of private concerns. When it was prac-
tically completed the laborers seemed to be out of em-
ployment, for all the other construction projects had all
the laborers they could use. They were glad of any op-
portunity to make a living until conditions should im-
prove. The advantages of settling on the lands owned
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by Camden, Bailey and Camden were early brought to
their attention. In order to provide farms within range
of their means the large tracts were divided into smaller
tracts of from fifty to one hundred acres. Few of the
Irish laborers had sufficient funds to purchase their lands
outright, but the matter was waived by the owners
who arranged that they should pay for them as soon
as they were able. Meanwhile the Irish were to build
their homes on the land, clear as much as they wished
and raise their crops.

The first Irish to take advantage of the opportunity
were John Hayden, Thomas White, John and Michael
McLaughlin, Michael and Patrick Copely, Patrick Hare,
James and Thomas Mullady, Thomas and Anthony Hart
and William Murphy. Minter Bailey needed a varied
supply of provisions for the Bailey House, including
venison, chickens, potatoes, corn, wheat and pork. The
need was partly met by the residents on the lands of the
firm, who received credit on their accounts; but by far
the greater amount was paid in cash.

The clearing of the land was done by the men dur-
ing the winter when the demand for labor was not very
great. As soon as spring came, the Irish put out their
crops and then went in search of work to do either on
the farms of other citizens or on public works. The cul-
tivation of the crops was left in the hands of the wives
and children. Sometimes the men went away from home
in the spring and did not return to their farms until the
beginning of the following winter—but they always re-
turned. Soon by the united efforts of husbands and
wives they accumulated sufficient ready money to buy
their way to landed independence.

One of the first deeds recorded from Camden, Bailey
and Camden in the county clerk’s office in Lewis County
transfers title to land on Sand fork to Thomas and James
Malady, 1845. From that time on a great number of
these deeds were recorded every year. The price paid
for the land was from $2.75 to $3.00 per acre.
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The proprietors could afford to allow the Irish and
Germans to settle on their lands without requiring the
payment of rental of any kind because of the fact that
every small tract improved enhanced the value of all
the lands in the vicinity. Every acre grubbed and put
under cultivation or seeded to grass meant an increase in
the value, not only of that parcel of ground, but of all
other lands in the vicinity. The proprietors would have
lost nothing if an occasional settler had become discour-
aged and left his farm without making any payment at
all.

As a matter of fact few of the thrifty immigrants
were ever long in arrears in making payment for their
land. ’Squire Oliver says that not a single Irishman
abandoned his farm or allowed it to slip from his grasp.
They had stopped working on construction jobs in order
to settle on Sand fork and they meant to stay there no
matter what happened.

By 1848 the Irish colony on Sand fork was so large
its permanence so evident and its prospects for a further
great development so bright that steps were taken by
their leaders to secure a church of their faith. The next
year Camden, Bailey and Camden conveyed to Bishop
Francis V. Whelan of the diocese of Wheeling, thirty
acres of land on Loveberry run and Rock run for the
purpose of building a church and laying out a cemetery.
This tract was afterwards utilized as the site of the first
Catholie church on Sand fork.

Other owners of lands on Sand fork also became in-
terested in the possibility of developing them by settling
a colony of Irish and Germans upon them. George J.
Arnold and William E. Arnold, owners of an extensive
block of land, busied themselves in competition with
Camden, Bailey and Camden, and succeeded in forming
what is known as the “Murray Settlement” on the upper
tributaries of Indian fork. It grew and prospered with
only less rapidity than the Sand fork settlement.

The potato famine in Ireland, 1846, drove a large
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proportion of the population to the United States. Many
of them found employment in the construction of the
Baltimore and iOhio railroad which was then being
pushed westward from Cumberland to Wheeling. Prac-
tically all the excavation for the roadbed was done by
the new immigrants. Some of those who had been in
America for some time held positions as foremen. Some
of these immigrants were also attracted, before the com-
pletion of the railroad, to the route of the Staunton and
Parkersburg turnpike which was then being macadam-
ized. From either of these improvements it was only a
step to the magnificent domain of Camden, Bailey and
Camden, and many of the laborers settled among the
earlier comers. It is related that R. P. Camden went to
the camps along the Baltimore and Ohio railroad and
explained the advantages of the land on Sand fork, and
that the Amolds also made special efforts to bring the
Irish to the lands- It is also reported that Bishop Whe-
lan, who had gone among the immigrants establishing
missions from the time they came to western Virginia,
also recommended that they buy land on Sand fork and
settle there. After the movement had begun, the best
advertisement for the lands was the sight of the farms
which had been established on Sand fork. The comple-
tion of the railroad left many of the laborers out of work
temporarily, and more of them sought jobs along the
turnpike or purchased lands from Camden, Bailey and
Camden_and others along Sand fork and its tributaries.

Michael Collins, James Dempsey, Thomas Kenstry
Thomas Mulvaney, Peter Doonan, Edward Doonan,
Michael Carroll, Thomas Timms, Thomas Lynch, Pat-
rick Hoar and others were all on Sand fork or its trib-
utaries by the end of 1852. Among the Germans who
came about the same time were Lorentz Schuhtretler,
John Finster, Bernard Krouse, Johannes Martin, An-
thony Stark, George Scherer and Joseph Stark, all at-
tracted to the western part of Lewis County by the pros-
pect of securing cheap lands. The center of the first
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German immigration seems to have been on tributaries
of Leading creek, though they were also scattered
among the hollows of Sand fork.

Not all the Irish in Lewis County settled on Sand
fork. According to a census of the town of Weston by
a boy in 1845, there were then living in the town “one
Irishman and five children.” There were doubtless oth-
ers in the vicinity. Bishop Whelan in that year estab-
lished a Catholic mission at Weston, and held services
in the Bailey House for the benefit of all members of
the Catholic faith in Lewis County. Most of the Irish
citizens of Weston made their living at first by working
at odd jobs or helping contractors at various work.
Later they established themselves in business.

The first comers to Sand fork and Leading creek
were frugal and enterprising. Though their lands were
so rough and so little desired for settlement. that they
had been left in the wilderness for over sixty years after
the more desirable lands in the valley of the West Fork
were occupied, yet the immigrants, by careful clearing,
close cultivation and constant care have developed them
into excellent farms of bluegrass pastures. The exam-
ple of the Irish had a good influence over other farmers
in the community who copied their methods of raising
potatoes with profit. There was little inclination on the
part of the citizens of the county to associate with the
immigrants for several years, and the feeling was recip-
rocated to some extent. Yet the Irish and Germans, by
attending strictly to business, got along well. They be-
came good citizens, all of them. The records of the
courts for 1857-8 are filled with notations of applications
for citizenship or for first papers. Martin Kinney, John
Finster, later the millwright of Sleepcamp run, Simon
Finster, {John McCally, John Mellett, John Collinan,
John Bergin, Elick Burk, Thomas Conroy, John Tully,
Lawrence Dunagan, Patrick Downey, Patrick Hoar and
Michael McLaughlin are names of some of the appli-
cants. The new settlers had traveled over all the United
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States in laboring on public works, and they were per-
haps more national than the citizens of the county who
had lived all their lives here. They hated slavery; they
knew nothing and cared nothing for state’s rights; they
knew only that their prosperity and independence were
‘'due to America. During the war they were staunch
Union men, regarding their oaths to their new country
before their allegiance to their state. A great portion of
Company “B”, 15th Virginia Infantry, was made up of
Irish and Germans who served under an Irish captain.

After the war the development of the Sand fork
watershed continued. Many roads were caused to be
viewed by the county court and many schoolhouses were
erected in a district which twenty-five years before had
been a wilderness. There were many other signs of in-
creased prosperity.

In 1866 occurred the death of Minter Bailey, and
the firm of Camden, Bailey and Camden was broken up.
Their lands were divided: The third portion assigned to
the estate of Minter Bailey was cut up into small tracts
to be sold at auction by a commissioner. The terms of
sale were as liberal as any arrangement that had so far
been made, purchasers being given an extended time in
which to make payments. Sixty-three tracts were sold
in 1870 alone, and the sales continued for some time
thereafter, it being the policy of the commissioner to
sell to actual settlers as far as possible. Many of the
farmers took advantage of the opportunity to add to
their farms, especially since the large number of sales
caused the price of the lands to be reduced from their
pre-war figures. The Camdens continued to sell small
tracts from their holdings at intervals almost to the pres-
ent time. They are still charged on the Lewis County
assessor’s books with many hundred acres of land.



CHAPTER XIX.
LOSSES OF TERRITORY

It was unavoidable that when the outlying portions
of Lewis County were settled they would break the
slender bonds which held them within the county and
form new local political divisions. The establishment
of the seat of justice at Weston, less than ten miles from
the Harrison County line, rendered it very inconvenient
for the citizen who lived on Steer creek or on the Elk
river to attend court. There were few settlements or
none at all in these valleys in 1817, and the county,seat
was then located where it would best serve the majority
of the people. By 1840 it was no longer convenient for
half the people of the county.

The first sign of approaching dismemberment is in-
dicated in the formation of Nicholas County from Green-
brier in 1818. It included settlements which had been
made on the Gauley and its tributaries and some on
the lower Elk river. There were many other settlers in
the valley of the Elk who had been attracted there by the
prospects of good hunting and also by the fertile soil and
the broad valleys of some of the streams. Even before
the close of the Indian wars there was a respectable set-
tlement in the vicinity of Sutton. These settlers were in
close proximity to the principal settlement which had
been made by that time on the Little Kanawha river and
its tributariess Salt Lick creek was the most compact of
these settlements. In 1773 more homesteads were lo-
cated on the creek than on Hacker’s creek. The estab-
lishment of Haymond’s salt works in 1808 had attracted
many settlers who made a living from the produce of
their farms and even sold supplies to other settlers who



240 A HISTORY OF LEWIS COUNTY

had come to buy salt. The upper valley of the Little
Kanawha around the present site of Burnsville had
also attracted immigrants far more than the lands on the
small eastern tributaries of that river. Here was a con-
siderable community cut off from the county seat by
the unbroken wilderness of Oil creek, Leading creek,
Sand fork and other streams. The people were dissatis-
fied almost from the first with their position on the edge
of the two counties, and at a distance from the county
seat of either. In 1836 the settlements on the Elk and
the upper course of the Little Kanawha were detached
from Lewis, Nicholas and Kanawha counties and form-
ed into the new county of Braxton. It extended in a
broad seémicircle between Lewis and Nicholas from
Webster Springs to the present site of Clay Court House.
From its peculiar shape, it was called for years “the jug
handle county.”

A part of the northeastern corner of Lewis County
was next detached to form a part of Barbour. The com-
munity on the lower Tygart’s Valley river had grown
rapidly with the advance of settlement in northwestern
Virginia. It was one of the first regions settled, and by
1843 there were five or six thousand people living within
the present limits of the county. The natural center of
the community was at Philippi